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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other companies
listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded
on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in
the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any
part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors of Grand T G Gold Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(the “GEM Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information with
regard to the Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group’).
The directors of the Company (the ‘Directors’), having made all
reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge
and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and
there are no other matters the omission of which would make any
statement herein or this report misleading.

This report will remain on the “Latest Listed Company Information”
page of the website of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk for
at least seven aays from the date of its publication and on the website
of the Company at htto.//www.grandtg.conv.

The English text of this report shall prevail over the Chinese text in
case of inconsistencies.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

ERE®RE

The Company started to implement its strategic growth and
development plan in the fiscal year of 2023 and 2024. In August
2023, the Company and its operating subsidiary Tongguan Taizhou
Mining Limited acquired a complete gold refinery production line with
a full gold refinery machines and ancillary and supporting facilities.
The Company now has gold and silver ingots and several other
mineral concentrates as its end products. The gold refinery has been
in production since November 2023 and has been a contributor to
the significant growth in Company’s revenue and profits, meeting the
objective for refinery performance in this early stage operation. We
are confident that over time as we gain more experience with and
better integration of the refinery production line, its revenue and profit

generation potential will further be materialized.

In this fiscal year, the Company has been and will continue
carrying out a series technical renovation for lifting mining and ore
transportation capacity, expanding and upgrading process plants,
and initiating a new approach to tailing management and reuse. The
technical renovation is a key part for the growth through increased

gold mining and processing capacity and improved efficiency.

In March 2024, the Company entered into a capital raising agreement
of HK$43.8 million by way of issuing 310,638,298 or approximately
5.19% new shares, which were fully subscribed by King Tower
Global Absolute Return Fund SPC (King Tower Fund), run by highly
experienced and veteran fund managers who share the Company’s
vision and support its growth plan. The Company is very pleased to
have King Tower Fund as a strategic partner. We not only treasure
King Tower Fund’s investment but also believe together we will create
a synergy to better achieve our strategic goal. On behalf of the Board
of Directors and our shareholders, | wish to express our sincere
gratitude to King Tower Fund and its investors for their trust and

confidence in the Company.
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The Company recently engaged SRK Consulting China Ltd. (SRK),
an Australian headquartered international mining consulting firm, to
conduct a technical due diligence review (TDDR) of Taizhou gold mine,
to update the mine’s reserves and resources as well as conducting a
technical-economic analysis (TEA). | am pleased to report according
to preliminary results provided by SRK, Taizhou mine gold resources
surged to 37.37 tons and reserves to 25.71 tons, representing
significant increases from the existing levels which were also based on
a previous SRK review. This is a result of years’ exploration effort and
a new mining permit of expanded mining area. The updated resources
and reserves data will ensure long term mining with current and future
enlarged mining capacity. The full Competent Person Report (CPR) by
SRK is scheduled to complete by August 2024.

The Company has long set its strategic growth plan and goals, laid
the foundation for plan implementation and understood the challenges
ahead with measures in place to address them. Now the Company
is ready to embrace a new stage of development. The management
remain fully committed to making its utmost effort to achieving the
Company’s corporate strategic goal, with the support from our

shareholders, investors, business partners and other stakeholders.

On behalf of the Board
Li Dahong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2024

A BT RABE A 4R SR K BN Y B PR RS E s A
BJSRK Consuling China Ltd. (SRK) > A M S HEETT
BiTERATET (BIRBREED)) » BE
WNRERER  WHETEMEE DT - AARS
FRINERE > IRIRSRKIZ AN F &R AMNIEZE
SEERRIEEI7.O7H (FERILE5. 7101 &
BAEKTEAERZEEM MREKFETFERZAIN
SRK&T o Ith 23 2 SRR ES ) BAS IR AR & 35U
KRS A B MAE R o BREEIRA AR RS IBARIIR
MBAET) K ENE R E BB R RREARE
SRKIVTEE S B A TREFE AN S ZMNEN
BZAI5EM

FABFEHREERBIEERFABRER %
BExst2BEEL TR BUPLEL W EKEYE
FEFE 2 SR E - AR B IR B 2 R AN 3 /R P
BRoERR REE EHBHREMFNENS
BT BEBNMAENLUREBRAATMNEES
BEE1R-

REERY
EZ
FRE

HH “EMFAB+HtER



Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2023/2024
AREBSIZERARAT « ZT2= /“ENEER

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREFRKRON

BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in gold exploration, mining and
mineral processing with gold concentrate as its product.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Year”), the Group’s revenue
was approximately HK$722.7 million, representing an increase of
approximately 371.8% from approximately HK$153.2 million as
compared with that of the last year.

The increase in revenue was due to the acquisition of a production line
of gold refinery which extends Group’s gold industry chain from mining
and mineral processing to gold concentrates refinery and production
and sale of gold ingots and other minerals.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

During the Year, the Group’s gross profit was approximately HK$83.8
million, representing an increase of approximately 32.4% from
approximately HK$63.3 million as compared with that of the last
year. The increase in gross profit was primarily due to the increase in
revenue and average gold prices. During the Year, the Group’s overall
gross profit margin was approximately 11.6% (2023: 41.3%).

The decrease in gross profit margin was due to the Company
has to purchase additional gold concentrates from other mines to
fulfil the large refinery scale which beyond the Company’s current
mining capacity and gold refinery by industrial norms typically has
large cashflows and revenues but relatively low gross profit margins
because the cost of raw materials is also based on gold price. The
Company acquired the gold concentrates refinery to form a complete
gold production chain which is to enhance the Company’s revenue
scales and profit potential, to recover other mineral resources such
as silver, copper and lead not feasible with mining only, and to be in
better position to reach the end user market for future growth and
business diversification.

Selling and distribution expenses

During the Year, the Group’s selling and distribution expenses
were approximately HK$1.9 million, representing a increase of
approximately 11.2% from approximately HK$1.7 million as compared
with that of the last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERESREO

Administrative expenses
During the Year, the Group’s administrative expenses were
approximately HK$24.5 million, representing an decrease of
approximately 13.5% from approximately HK$28.3 million as
compared to the last year.

Profit for the year
Profit for the Year of the Group amounted to approximately HK$76.0
million (2023: approximately HK$43.7 million).

For the Year, the Group recorded a net profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company of approximately HK$55.3 million, as
compared to profit of approximately HK$26.1 million recorded last
year. The net profit for the Year as compared to the previous year
was mainly due to (i) an increase in revenue; and (i) the gain on other

income.

Earnings per share
Earnings per share was approximately HK cents 0.92 for the Year
(2023: approximately HK cents 0.48).

Dividend
The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
Year (2023: nil).

Liquidity, financial resources and funding

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately HK$47.5 million (2023: approximately
HK$24.6 million) and net current assets amounted to approximately
HK$174.6 million (2023: net current liabilities approximately HK$5.0
million) whereas inventories of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$149.4 million (2023: approximately HK$16.7 million).

As at 31 March 2024, the current ratio is approximately 1.87 (2023:
approximately 0.96).

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s gearing ratio was approximately
27.3% (2023: approximately 35.8%), calculated based on total

borrowings over total assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREFRKRON

Borrowings
Borrowings information of the Group is set out in note 27 to the

consolidated financial statements.

Capital structure

As at 31 March 2024, the Company’s issued share capital was
HK$5,987,129 which were divided into 5,987,128,640 Shares of
HK$0.001 each.

Capital commitment
As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any significant capital

commitments (2023: nil).

Charge on the Group’s assets
As at 31 March 2024, the trade receivables of approximately HK$29.1
million (2023: approximately HK$41.1 million) were pledged to secure

the Group’s borrowings (note 27).

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group obtained bank
overdraft facilities from a bank to the extent of HK$20.0 million
secured by the fixed deposits of HK$20.0 million, none of the banking

facilities were utilised by the Group.

Treasury policies

The Group’s monetary assets and transactions are principally
denominated in HK$ or Renminbi (‘RMB”). Foreign exchange risk
arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and

liabilities.

The Group adopted a conservative treasury policy with most of the
bank deposits being kept in HK$ or RMB, or in the local currencies of
the operating subsidiaries to minimise exposure to foreign exchange
risk. The Group monitors and maintains a sufficient level of cash and
cash equivalents to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuation in cash flows. Management reviews and monitors

the Group’s working capital requirements regularly.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERESREO

Segment information
The Group’s segmental information is set out in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Exposure to exchange risks

Since the Group’s borrowings and its source of income are primarily
denominated in the respective group companies functional currency
which are mainly in Hong Kong dollars or Renminbi, the exposure to

foreign exchange rate fluctuations is minimal.

Significant investment, material acquisition and disposal of
subsidiaries and affiliated companies, and future plans for
material investments or capital assets

On 3 August 2023, a non wholly owned subsidiary as purchaser, the
Company as the holding company and an independent third party
as vendor entered into the Agreement in relation to the acquisition
of a full set of gold refinery machines and ancillary and supporting
facilities which will form a gold refinery production line with a capacity
up to 300 tons of gold concentrates per day at a total consideration
of RMB160,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$175,000,000)
funded by internal resources of the Company including the issue and
allotment of convertible bond, loan note and cash.

The acquisition of a Production Line of Gold Refinery (the
“Acquisition”) is part of the capital investment for the completion of a
full mineral concentrates refinery lines of the Group, which shall extend
Group’s gold industry chain from mining and mineral processing to
gold refinery. At its full operation capacity, the actual refinery capacity
of the Production Line is up to 300 tons of gold concentrates per day.
Under the normal operation conditions, the Production Line at its full
capacity can produce up to 4.5 tons of metal gold per year, as well as
a certain amount of other co-existing mineral products including metal
silver and copper and lead in the form of mineral concentrates. The
Acquisition will bring positive impacts on the Group’s performance
including new products, enlarged production capacity and increased
revenues.

As at 31 March 2024,the Acquisition shared 11.57% of the Group’s
total assets and shared 16.76% of the Group’s total liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREFRKRON

Details of which are set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 3 August 2023.

Save as disclosed, the Group did not have any significant investment,
material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries and affiliated
companies throughout the year.

In addition, the Company is now focusing on developing and
strengthening its existing business and is exploring investment
opportunities in order to broaden the income stream of the Group,
enrich its reserves and resources, enhance the profitability of the
Group and eventually bring a fruitful return to the shareholders of the
Group.

Contingent liabilities
The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at
31 March 2024 and 2023.

Employees and remuneration policies

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 173 employees (2023: 51)
situated mainly in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and
Hong Kong. The Group’s emoluments policies are formulated based
on industry practices and performance of individual employees. For
the Year, the total staff costs (including directors’ emoluments and
share options) amounted to approximately HK$18.4 million (2023:
approximately HK$13.7 million).

A directors’ remuneration policy has been adopted. It aims to set out
the Company’s policy in respect of remuneration paid to executive
Directors and non-executive Directors. The Directors’ remuneration
policy sets out the remuneration structure that allows the Company to
attract, motivate and retain qualified Directors who can manage and
lead the Company in achieving its strategic objective and contribute
to the Company’s performance and sustainable growth, and to
provide Directors with a balanced and competitive remuneration. The
remuneration policy is, therefore, aiming at being competitive but not
excessive. To achieve this, remuneration package is determined with
reference to a matrix of factors, including the individual performance,
qualification and experience of Directors concerned and prevailing
industry practice. It will be reviewed and, if necessary, updated from
time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness.
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Relationships with employees, customers and suppliers
Employees

The Directors are of the view that its employees are the keys to the
sustainable development of the Group. The Directors believe that
the Group maintains good working relations with its employees and
endeavors to maintain and improve the quality of its products.

Customers and Suppliers

The Group aims to provide comprehensive solutions that meet
customers’ needs and establish a comprehensive vertical supply
chain management system through resource integration and supplier
screening and management.

The objectives of the Group are to deepen the collaborative
relationship with the strategic suppliers and to create competitive
advantages in the value chain, thereby aiming to enhance the impact
on the society and environment and to ensure that their suppliers
uphold similar stance in sustainability. The Group maintains long-term
relationship with its suppliers for ensuring stable supply.

PROSPECT

With the new gold refinery production line’s operation, a series of on-
going technical renovation, the renewed larger-area mining permit,
and the completion of a new round of capital raising, the Company
is in full gear for implementing its strategic growth plan. The future
prospects may be reflected through the following planned actions:

e  Continue exploration in the expanded permitted area to further
enlarge our reserves and resources from the current levels, and
thus the asset scale and mine’s lifespan;

° Increase production capacity and improve its efficiency through
continued technical renovation in mining, processing and refinery
production line to substantially increase the matching mining and
processing capacity which will also better match up the refinery
scale;

e I|dentify, screen and complete acquisitions of mining and related
assets of carefully selected targets;
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° Initiate an innovative approach to tailing treatment which aims
to turn the waste into a reusable material, helping sustainable
operation and minimizing adverse impacts to the environment as

well as to create new revenue source;

° Expand and diversify the Company business scope, by entering
into new business sectors as and when appropriate including
extension of the industrial chain further downstream to eventually
the end users of precious metals, trade and logistics for gold
concentrates and ingots, ecological rehabilitation for abandoned

mines, and expansion our business overseas.

With our business and capital market partners, the Company is
confident for our promising future prospects and we will ultimately
achieve the strategic goal of generating the returns our investors and

shareholders expect.

MINERAL EXPLORATION, MINE DEVELOPMENT
AND ORE MINING ACTIVITIES

Mineral Exploration and Mine Development

During the Year, Taizhou Mining mainly completed certain mining
development projects, including the excavation of approximately
30,096 meters of various tunnels, excavation of approximately 2,407
meters of slope supporting, excavation of approximately 3,611 meters
of ore chute as well as excavation of approximately 9,028 meters for

track laying and ditches.

During the Year, the Group’s total expenditure for the mine
development and mineral exploration amounted to approximately

HK$170.8 million and approximately HK$12.3 million respectively.
Ore Mining

During the Year, the aggregate expenditure on the ore mining

operation of the Group was approximately HK$21.3 million.
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RESOURCES AND RESERVES BiRk#E

Based on the preliminary findings by SRK Consulting China Ltd, FZSRK Consutting China LidfR#5JORCEER] (T E——
from a recently completed technical due diligence review (TDDR) and FHR) WA AASER TR AT S E (SR
pursuant to JORC code 2012. BERE ) BT

1. As of 31 March 2024, using a gold cut-off grade of 1.2 gram per 1. BE_ZE_NE=-B=+—H H#H12n=

tonne, the indicated resource and inferred resource of the Group &/ WERRUE AEBMPEHERE
were: SRS

Contained
Inventory Grade metal
=5 il FratB
(gram per (kilogram,
(kilotonne) tonne, gold) gold)
(Fug) (EW =2E) (F &%)
Measured resources FHRERS 4,160 6.10 25,350
Indicated resource THERE 1,310 6.04 7,935
Measured + Indicated Resources ~ FBE+IEHIE R E 5,470 6.09 33,285
Inferred resource HEE RS 680 6.03 4,089
Total #Est 6,150 6.08 37,374

2. As at 31 March 2024, under a cut-off grade of 1.7 gram per 2. BEZNE=B=+—H BREI7TR"E

tonne, the estimated proved and probable reserves of the Group &/ MHERRME AEBGEEE
were: RS EE 7

Contained

Inventory Grade metal

#8 an i Fraxi

(gram per (kilogram,
(kilotonne) tonne, gold) gold)

(FHp) (BN ZE) (F=> =®)
Proved Ore Reserves HEELtHS 3,985 5.40 21,473
Probable Ore Reserves RIS IR O = 803 5.20 4,235
Total st 4,788 OYS 25,708

SRK’s full Conpeteant Person Report (CPR) based on the TDDR is SRKFEER B ALTHRE ERFIISHETE
expected to complete in August 2024. ) R S HE N\
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Li Dahong (“Dr. Li”)

Dr. Li, aged 66, joined the Company as an executive Director on
24 February 2016 and is also the chairman and the authorized
representative of the Company. Dr. Li also serves as a director of SSC
Mandarin Mining Investment Limited and T G Mining Asia Limited,
all being subsidiaries of the Company. He has over 25 years of
experience in investment banking, mergers and acquisitions and other
financial activities. Dr. Li was graduated from Tsinghua University in
civil and environmental engineering and received a degree in Doctor of

Philosophy in Civil Engineering from the University of Toronto, Canada.

Ms. Ma Xiaona (“Ms. Ma”)

Ms. Ma, aged 49, was appointed as a non-executive Director of the
Company on 24 March 2016 and is a member of the remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Company. Ms. Ma was
re-designated as an executive Director and the compliance officer of
the Company on 13 September 2017, and was also appointed as a
director of SSC Mandarin Mining Investment Limited and T G Mining
Asia Limited, wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Ma
graduated from East China University of Science and Technology in
Shanghai with a Bachelor's degree in International Trade. She has
more than 20 years of experience in project financing, joint ventures
and mergers and acquisitions in China and Hong Kong, involving in
industries such as gold mining, other resources mining, traditional

manufacturing, and high-tech industry.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Guo Wei (“Mr. Guo”)

Mr. Guo, aged 69, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 28 April 2016. He is also the chairman
of the nomination committee and remuneration committee and a
member of the audit committee of the Company. Mr. Guo graduated
from Beijing Institute of Economic Research, majoring in Chinese
Language and Literature (undergraduate) in 1999. Since 2004, he
has been served as the chairman of the board of AT 2R EH R
‘A8) (Zhejiang Ruifeng Investment Company Limited*). He worked in
the# T4 BB ENZ2 R 51 P (Survey and Design Institute of Post and
Telecommunications in Zhejiang Province®) from 1977 to 1987. He
worked in the Zhejiang Provincial Government Office in Guangzhou
and AKEEEEAT (Grand Southeast Group Corporation®) from
1988 to 1994. He worked as the general manager of #7) fa F B R
KBJE (Hangzhou Nanwang International Hotel*) and the chairman
of the board of #ilFEKREAT(Hangzhou Wuyun Investment
Company*) from 1995 to 2004. Mr. Guo has been engaged in
management for more than 30 years, including 20 years as the
head of enterprises, during which he gains extensive management

experience and strong coordination ability.
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Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum (“Mr. Lam”)

Mr. Lam, aged 68, joined the Company as an independent
non- executive Director on 8 December 2017. He is also the chairman
of the audit committee of the Company, a member of the nomination
committee and remuneration committee of the Company. He is
a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England &
Wales, Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Hong Kong Securities
Institute, Society of Chinese Accountants & Auditors, Australia e
New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants, Taxation Institute
of Hong Kong and Certified Tax Adviser. Mr. Lam holds a Bachelor
Degree in Arts (Economics) from the University of Manchester, the
United Kingdom. Mr. Lam was an independent non-executive director
of Macrolink Capital Holdings Limited (formerly known as Junefield
Department Store Group Limited) (Stock Exchange Stock Code: 758)
from 24 September 2004 to 19 March 2024. He was an independent
non-executive director of OCI International Holdings Limited (Stock
Exchange Stock Code: 329) from 28 April 2010 to 7 May 2018.
Mr. Lam currently is a partner of Grand Thornton Hong Kong Limited.
Mr. Lam had been head of department in Southwest Securities
International Securities Limited (Stock Exchange Stock Code: 812).
He was the former director and Chief Executive Officer and is the
shareholder of Jonten Hopkins CPA Limited (the merger of former
Aoba CPA Limited* (FEZstEMEFEFT) and Albert Lam & Co. CPA).
Mr. Lam was also the Managing Partner and Founder of Albert Lam &
Co. CPA.
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Mr. Cheung Wai Hung (“Mr. Cheung”)

Mr. Cheung, aged 43, joined the Company as an independent
non- executive Director on 27 August 2018. He is also a member of
the audit committee of the Company. He is a chartered tax adviser of
the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, a certified public accountant of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Cheung
graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University with an
honours degree in bachelor of arts in accountancy. He worked in
Jonten Hopkins CPA Limited from July 2004 to March 2014 and
his last position was audit manager. He is currently appointed as
the chief financial officer of Wai Chi Holdings Company Limited
(Stock Exchange Stock Code: 1305). Mr. Cheng was appointed as
an independent non-executive director of Ye Xing Group Holdings
Limited (Stock Exchange Stock Code: 1941) on 17 February 2020.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ma Qianzhou (“Mr. Ma”)

Mr. Ma, aged 66, has more than 30 years of senior management
experience in gold mining, exploration, ore processing, refining and
merger and acquisitions of mining companies in China. Mr. Ma is
currently the Chairman of Gold Association of Tongguan County,
Shaanxi Province, the PRC. Mr. Ma is the general manager and
director of Taizhou Mining. He had served as director of China Gold
Association and executive director of Gold Association of Shaanxi
Province. He had held senior management positions as the director of
the Small and Medium Entrepreneurs Association, Shaanxi Province,
PRC, and the President of the Small and Medium Entrepreneurs

Association of Weinan City, Shaanxi Province, the PRC.

Ms. Eva Lee (“Ms. Lee”)

Ms. Lee was appointed as the company secretary of the Company
(the “Company Secretary”) on 20 February 2020. She is admitted
as a solicitor in Hong Kong and focusing on capital markets and
corporate finance work. Ms. Lee graduated from the London School

of Economic and Political Science with Masters of Laws (Distinction).

* For identification purpose only
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The Directors are pleased to present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries

for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of
the principal activities of the Company'’s principal subsidiaries are set

out in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the Year and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development are provided
in the Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and
Analysis of this report. Possible risks and uncertainties that the Group
may be facing are set out in the Report of the Directors on page 19 of
this report and the Corporate Governance Report on page 81 of this

report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Fluctuation in the price of gold

The Directors consider that the price of gold in the PRC is highly
influenced by the price of gold in the international market (which
is denominated in the USD) and the exchange rate of the USD to
RMB. The Directors consider that there are many factors influencing
the price of gold in the international market, including global
economic situation, fiscal, monetary and trade policies of world major
economies especially that of the US government and US Federal
Reserve which have a direct effect to US dollars, inflation experienced
in many countries, fluctuation in major stock markets, geo-political
instability in the international arena, all of which are beyond the control
of the Group. The fluctuation in gold price would affect significantly
the operation revenue, cash flow and profitability of the Group. To
mitigate and control the risk, the Group would continue to make its
constant effort in controlling cash cost for production and overall
cost for the Group operation, monitoring closely the commodity
market and aligning its production planning, growth strategy and
capital expenditure with projected market development to the extent

possible.
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Investment risks

Investments in mineral exploration and mining have its inherent risks.
Significant capital expenditures are usually required for business
and regulatory reasons in new exploration and sustained mine
development while the results particularly those for exploration may
not always be as expected or achieve the desired levels of reliability
for newly found mineral reserves and resources in the timely fashion.
The Group would mitigate and control such risks by conducting
proper risk assessment, using third party professionals and experts
and adopting the best practices in the industry, in investment
evaluation and decision-making process, including carefully planned
drilling and other exploration activities, mine development and

acquisition of quality mining assets.

The Group is to mitigate and control the investment risk also by
diversifying its business scope. The Group strategic growth plan
includes provisions to work with state owned enterprises to enter into
sector for abandoned mine ecological rehabilitation and environmental
friendly mining, which is a priority of the Central Government. The
Group is discussing with partners on opportunities for innovative
approach to the consumer market for gold and silver end users.
The Group also has international business partners with potential
opportunities for trade and/or logistics of gold concentrates, ingots
and other commodities, as well as opportunities for international

acquisitions and investments in different jurisdictions.

Our diversification effort would aim to minimize the risk of investment
inherent to our mining operation to the extent possible. The new
business ventures with our partners would also create new revenue
and profit generating sources, contributing to the Group’s growth plan

and achieving the strategic goal.

20

RERRE

HiEEHRRRENREAEBEARER HHY
IREMRRFEELURZEENEFREERRE
BEAELEEANEARS  MMERIVRERE
RERNER BT CHEMHRINER R g
—HEMFIFTE NG ERIFTAERIKF o 2
ERPRETERARRBEDRBEBEENRER
A EREZAEXALKRERTERAERN
RERER (QREFREHERRAEMEREE K
ERERNBEEREER - MR ERIERE
AR o

FEBTNREBZ T CHEF BB R SR
BRR - AEENBEIE R QREEERE
BIFEABERLEREERIRFEREEL B
P RBTHERIRE - AEBIERGIEBHE
i 2 S B IR AR I AR P IR (R RIRT T 15 70 229

T AERTHEAEREBBN BREHE =
TERHEMBERNE R R, YR EEHE > Y
RETREEEERETERRBERIRENHE

ﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬂ%ﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁ%
ZEEANKRERR BRMNSIEBHRREN
#%FEF?%@L#%W T R BRI AR > B B

NERAEENE R REBREEER



Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2023/2024
AREBSIZERARAT « ZT2= /“ENEER

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEGHRS

Government regulations

The mining activities of the Group are subject to various government
policies, standards, permitting and regulations, all of which could
affect the Group’s operation. From time to time, there are government
initiatives for the mining industry such as mining right consolidation
which aims at creating larger mining areas from fragmented ones.
Furthermore, the process for review and extension of the existing
mining and exploration right permits, and review and approval of
any new mining and production facilities have become lengthy and
costly and with uncertainty. Even projects approved years ago and
are already under construction can be subject to review and approval
under a new set regulations and standards. The Group would mitigate
and control the risks by working closely with the government agencies
to negotiate the best deals in the consolidation programme and
to expand its mining permitting areas to protect and maximize the
Group’s interests. At the same time, the Group monitors and follows
the policy development closely and works on the best effort basis

ahead of the anticipated changes to be prepared and to comply.
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Environmental protection

The nationwide campaign for building green mines has been part of
the PRC national strategy for environmental protection. Virtually all
major mining regions in the country including the county where the
Group operates are included in this campaign. This involves mining
permitting only at certain elevations, clear of any protective or natural
reserve areas and strict enforcement of environmental discharge
standards, minimizing adverse impacts of mining and processing
activities to their surrounding natural and social environments and
to geology stability, mitigating any adverse impacts from historical
mining activities, rehabilitation of closed mine sites and surroundings.
The Xiao Qinling mountains where the Group’s mine operates, have
received the attention for protection from the highest level of the
country’s leadership. A series of new provincial and local notices,
guidelines and circulars have been issued, some of which targeted
specifically to the mining sector. There could be very specific
requirements such as relocating accommodation of mining workers
away from mining sites and site reforestation. It is expected that the
regulations will be increasingly stringent. Furthermore, dedicated
environmental inspections for mining become a routine practice by
the environmental authorities. It has occurred in the past including
the reporting period and will likely occur in the future, that during
the inspection mines in Tongguan County may be required to shut
down even Group’s mine was not a direct enforcement target. A
series of requirements for improvement in environmental protection
in the region the mines were raised as a result of the inspection.
Enforcement of these environmental policies and standards may
cause an increase in operating costs and temporary interruption of
the Group’s normal production activities. The Group has a policy
to protect the natural and social environments and to be in full
compliance with all applicable policies and standards. The Group
has and will continue to take pre-active measures, reserve sufficient
financial and material resources, enhance management training and

improve planning and procedures to ensure compliance.
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Financial risks

The Group requires sufficient funding for its working capital, debt
repayment, further development and planned acquisitions. In April
2024, the Company completed a subscription of new shares and the
net proceeds from the capital raising to finance partially the on-going
technical renovation and supplement the Company’s working capital.
Sufficient funding and cashflow are critical to the Group’s operation,
development and growth, as well as to meeting the Group’s financial
obligations. The Group will continue its effort to better manage its
finance through both internal operation by expanding its revenue
base and enhance its profitability and through fund raising as and
if needed. Proper management of Group’s cash flow and achieving
the corporate revenue and profit goals through continued growth are
fundamental to the Group’s financial health and to control the financial

risks.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the Year and up to the date of this report, the Group has
complied with all the relevant laws and regulations in the Cayman
Islands, Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China in all material

respects for the business operations of the Group.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group’s environmental policies are to protect the natural
and social environment where the Group operates, to ensure full
compliance with all applicable regulatory requirements and standards,
and to be sustainable in the Group’s operations. The Group strives
to minimize potential adverse environmental impacts from its mining,
ore processing, tailing disposal and other production and operation
activities. This objective for protecting the environment during the
Group’s operations will be achieved by adopting effective and
proactive, where appropriate, measures, including but not limited
to, upfront impact assessment for any and all new projects, careful
planning and execution of production activities with considerations for
environmental protection, control and gradually reducing green house
gas emissions in line with the national carbon peak by 2030 and
carbon neutral strategies by 2060, collection and treatment of waste
from all streams and sources, recycling and reuse of treated waste
where possible, minimization of environmental discharge, rehabilitating
areas affected by the Group’s mining activities and endorsing
community participation and feedback, etc.

Further discussions on the Group’s environmental policy and our
relationships with various stakeholders are covered by a separate
environmental, social and governance report which will be available
on the Group’s website and the website of the Stock Exchange on or
before 31 July 2024.

During the Year, the Group had not been the subject of any

environmental claims, lawsuits, penalties or disciplinary actions.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page
108.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information of the Group is set out in note 6 to the

consolidated financial statements.
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DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
Year (2023: Nil).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company, is set out on page
232. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the Year
are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” and
“Convertible Bonds” of this report and note 29 and note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreement was
entered into by the Company during the Year.

Convertible Bonds

The Company issued the convertible bonds in the principal amount
of HK$130,000,000.00 on 16 August 2023 (the “Convertible Bonds”).
Details of the Convertible Bonds are contained in the announcements
of the Company dated 3 August 2023, 10 August 2023 and 16 August
2023. As of 31 March 2024, no Convertible Bonds have been converted
into shares of the Company.

Assuming that there is no change in share capital of the Company
since 31 March 2024 and the conversion rights attaching to the
Convertible Bonds are exercised in full at the initial Conversion Price
of HK$0.115 per Conversion Share, a maximum of 1,130,434,783
new Shares will be issued upon conversion of the Convertible Bonds
(subject to adjustments), which represent (i) 18.88% of the existing
issued share capital of the Company as at 31 March 2024 (i.e.
5,987,128,640 Shares); and (i) approximately 15.88% of the issued
share capital of the Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue
of the Conversion Shares (i.e. 7,117,563,422 Shares).
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Dilution effect of the conversion of Convertible Bonds RQARRESZHETE

Set out below is the dilution effect on equity interest of the substantial TREFINERITEZ AT RBRESETHRR
Shareholders upon the fully conversion of the outstanding Convertible B FTERECREZE S Eo

Bonds.

Upon full conversion of
Convertible Bonds
as at 31 March 2024

As at 31 March 2024 RIEZWME=A=+—H
RZZZNE=B=+—H JRKRESERYRIRE
Approximately % Approximately %
Number  of issued Shares Number  of issued Shares
Substantial Shareholders of Shares LERITRHN of Shares LERITRG
FERR ERES 4= ZEABE R R &E ZEABE R
Ma. Qianzhou (Note 1)
Eaol (k1) 4,029,354,804 67.30 4,029,354,894 63.98
Zhao Yuebing (Note 1)
IRk (BEE1) 179,613,860 3.00 179,613,860 2.85
Notes: V=3
(1) Ma Qianzhou and Zhao Yuebing are spouse. (1) SR RERAR IR

During the year ended 31 March 2024, none of the Convertible HE—F_NMEZAZ+—HIEFE BHRETHR

25 S B T « O HA o B S T 24 o
Bonds were redeemed, converted or purchased and cancelled. ASEME] SR IIB E KAt
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Dilution impact on earnings per Share

As calculated based on profit attributable to owners of the Company
of approximately HK$55.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2024,
basic and diluted earnings per Share amounted to HK0.92 cents

and HKO.75 cents, respectively.

The Company can redeem the Convertible Bonds or part thereof

at any time on or before the maturity date.

Based on the implied internal rate of returns of the Convertible
Bonds, the Share prices at the future dates at which it would
be equally financially advantageous for the securities holders to

convert were as follows:

HER *IJZiiﬁ, B
BREE_ZNF=A=1+—HILFEXATE
EAFETS,M%I #955,300,00078 T8 SRR NDE

S BAHSE T 73 B 250.9278 11 K20. 7578l o

FATB RN EIRAE 32 AIBERS BB PRI (A2 (X
Hﬁlg '\) o

RIEARRES Z R AEREIHRE » AR5

BARRR BRSBTS ERRFANBIEER
HAVRREI T -

31 March 2024

—TomeE

=HA=+—8H

Date (HK$ per Share)
H &R (BR&ET)
Share prices pR1E 0.173

Note: Based on the closing price on 28 March 2024, the last trading day of
March 2024.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s

articles of association and laws of the Cayman Islands.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2024 had been reviewed by the audit
committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) before they were
duly approved by the Board under the recommendation of the Audit

Committee.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or their respective close associates (as defined
in GEM Listing Rules) had an interest in a business which competes or

may compete with the business of the Group during the Year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES
Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or

redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in

equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 March 2024, there were no Company’s reserves available for

distribution to shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted
for approximately 100% of the total sales for the Year and sales to
the largest customer accounted for approximately 66.0%. Purchases
from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately
100% of the total purchases for the Year and purchases from the

largest supplier accounted for approximately 91.5%.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) or any shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
total number of issued Shares) had any beneficial interest in the

Group’s five largest customers or suppliers during the Year.
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DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Dr. Li Dahong

Ms. Ma Xiaona

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Guo Wei

Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung, has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from 27 September
2021.

Each of Dr. Li Dahong and Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum, have entered
into a service contract with the Company for a term of three years

commencing from 28 September 2023.

Each of Ms. Ma Xiaona and Mr. Guo Wei, have entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from 22 September 2022.

The term of service of a Director is subject to the provisions on
retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the articles of

association of the Company.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
annual general meeting has an unexpired service agreement with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT
The biographical details of Directors and senior management are set

out on page 15.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contract for the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company had been

entered into or existed during the Year.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) for those Hong Kong employees who are eligible to participate
in the MPF Scheme, which contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and the employees of
the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Mainland China are required
to participate in a central pension scheme (the “Central Pension
Scheme”, together with the MPF Scheme, the “Defined Contribution
Schemes”) operated by the local municipal government, which
these subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage,
which was pre-determined by the local municipal government, of
the sum of basic salary and allowance of employees to the Central
Pension Scheme. The contributions by the Group for the Defined
Contribution Schemes are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the relevant rules of the

respective schemes.

The Group’s contributions to the Defined Contribution Schemes vest
fully and immediately with the employees. Accordingly, () for each of
the two years ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024, there was
no forfeiture of contributions under the Defined Contribution Schemes;
and (i) there were no forfeited contributions available for the Group to
reduce its existing level of contributions to the Defined Contribution
Schemes as at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024.
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For each of the two years ended 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2024,
the Group did not have any defined benefit plan.

Particulars of employee retirement benefit schemes of the Group are

set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the Year and up to the date of this report, the Company has
in force the permitted indemnity provisions which are provided for
in the articles of association of the Company and in the directors
and officers liability insurance maintained for the Group in respect
of potential liability and costs associated with legal proceedings that
may be brought against the Directors and the directors of the Group

respectively.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 13 to the

consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No Director nor entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance to which the Company or any of its

subsidiaries was a party during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors RIS NE=FA=+—H EFEREARFTEE
TBRABRAARHETAEREE (EREES
EBI 1T 5 RHRE RG] (RS R ARG IRE])
EXVER) Z e fh ~ RN S ERE R BB SCA
RIS MR E RSB I5&AFEE 2 Bt
HIRIEGEM R R 5554816 Z E5.671RFTEZ B
BpTiRE (BESTRE) BRTHEARE]
TP 2 R Rk BT

EFREETHASRRG 1HRAR
DRfEERZEE KT

and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”) which were
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the
SFO, or which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings set
out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Required

Standard of Dealings”) were as follows:

Number of Number of
ordinary underlying

shares of ordinary Approximate

the Company shares of the percentage of

Name of Directors Nature of interest interested Company shareholding

EREEREE AT HER L ESEST:

EEfs EEE NEEREE HER#ME Aot

Dr. Li Dahong Beneficial owner S 23,948,516 0.40%
FRREL BR#EAA (Note 1)
(Htat1)

Ms. Ma Xiaona Beneficial owner - 20,954,950 0.35%
5): =1 (o Bm#EA A (Note 1)
(Htat1)
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Number of Number of
ordinary underlying

shares of ordinary Approximate

the Company shares of the percentage of

Name of Directors Nature of interest interested Company shareholding

ERBEREED AT R L ESEST:

EEfs EENE HEREME HERE#ME BSL

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung Beneficial owner = 2,993,564 0.05%
SREESRE Bm#EA A (Note 1)
(HtaE1)

Mr. Guo Wei Beneficial owner - 2,993,564 0.05%
EilS:-t Bm#EA A (Note 1)
(Htat1)

Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum Beneficial owner = 2,993,564 0.05%
MBS Bm#EA A (Note 1)
(HtaE1)

- 53,884,158 0.90%

Note: ByaE -

1. Such interest was in the form of Options which granted on 31 August
2023.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year were rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company granted
to any Director or their respective spouse or minor children, or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of
its holding companies, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any

other body corporate.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

So far as is known to any Director or chief executives of the Company,
as at the date of this annual report, the following persons (other than
the Directors and chief executives of the Company whose interests
are set out in the section “Directors’ and chief executives’ interests
and short positions in Shares, underlying shares and debentures”
above) had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying
shares which were recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO:

Long Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares of the Company

FERRRINRAD RARRARR D 2 HEm B

o

R

MEEFRARBETETHAEMR RAFE
BREBH UT AL EFERTRAFDEBTHAR
BROh MEZ S EHN EXTEEREBITHA
BRI BRI K EHEsE 2 e kA —&)
REMEERRN T AR ARBESRAE
15BISEIR R FEZ ErcMZ B maka

REXB KRG RBRAKRGBZEE

Number and class of securities
785 B E KR
Approximate %
Underlying of the issued

Name Capacity Shares Shares Shares
HEZITRG
TPy 15 Bz 1n RS 2B DL
Ma Qianzhou (“Mr. Ma”) Beneficial owner 4,029,354,894 - 67.30%
Bl (TREED BnEAA
Interest of spouse 179,613,860 - 3.00%
BofBiEm (Note 1)
(Hizt1)
Zhao Yuebing Beneficial owner 179,613,860 - 3.00%
IR K BnEAA
Interest of spouse 4,029,354,894 - 67.30%
BofBiEm (Note 1)
(Hizt1)
Note: Bzt -

1. Mr. Ma is the spouse of Ms. Zhao Yuebing. Mr. Ma and Ms. Zhao
Yuebing is accordingly deemed to be interested in the Shares beneficially
owned by each other under the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as the date of this annual report, the
Company had not been notified of any other person (other than the
Directors or chief executives of the Company) who had an interest or
short position in the Shares or underlying shares which were required
to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At an extraordinary general meeting of the shareholders of the
Company held on 27 September 2021, the Company adopted a
share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”). The Share
Option Scheme shall remain in force for a period of ten years
commencing on that date, subject to early termination by the

Company in general meeting.

To enable the Company to motivate more persons to make
contribution to the Group and recruit additional talents to serve the
Group in attaining the long term objectives of the Company, the
Share Option Scheme has been adopted with a broader categories
of eligible participants, including full time and part time employee,
consultant, adviser, agent, contractor, customer, supplier and
shareholder of the Group (the “Participants”). Under the terms of the
Share Option Scheme, the directors of the Company may determine
the grant of any options to the Participants to subscribe for ordinary

shares in the capital of the Company.

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company, including
both exercised and outstanding options, to each Participant in any
twelve month period must not exceed 1% of the then total issued
share capital of the Company (the “Individual Limit”). Any further
grant of options in excess of the Individual Limit must be subject to
shareholders’ approval in general meeting of the Company with such
Participant and his associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)

abstaining from voting.
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An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time from the date of grant of the option
to the date of expiry of the option as determined and notified by the
directors of the Company to each grantee but may not be exercised
after the expiry of ten years from the date of grant. The subscription
price of the shares in respect of any particular option granted under
the Share Option Scheme shall be such price as the board of
directors of the Company, in its absolute discretion, shall determine
and notify the Participant, save that such price must be at least the
higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date grant; (i)
the average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (jii) the nominal value of

the Company’s shares.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of shares
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme was 89,806,930,

representing 1.43% of the issued Shares of the Company.

As at 1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024, the total number of Options
available for grant under the Share Option Scheme were 60,430,930
and 559,644 shares which represents 1.01% and 0.01% of the

issued shares.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, 59,871,286 shares were
granted on 31 August 2023, that may be issued represented
approximately 1.0% of the weighted average number of ordinary

shares in issue during the reporting period.
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The movements in share options granted under the Scheme during HEZZ - NFE=-HB=-+—HIEFERNERET

the years ended 31 March 2024 are shown below: B TRE Z ERENEEFIWT
Number of share options
BREYHE
At Granted Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled At Exercise price
Name of category 1 April during during during during 31 March Date of Validity period  of share options
of participants 2023 the year the year the year the year 2024 granted (Note 4) HKS per share  Note
S R-B-mE R BREGER

SHEEERRE mA-B RERRE REATE REAXYR REREE =ZB=+-B BEFAH (H:H4) Br/% WE
Director
B3
Li Dahong 23,948,516 - - - 23948516 - 29922 29-9-22-28-9-32 0.252 1
EY VN 23,948,516 - - - 23948516 31-8-23 31-8-23-30-8-33 0.117 2
Ma Xiaona 20,954,950 - - - 20,954,950 - 29922 29-9-22-28-9-32 0.252 1
ERE 20,954,950 - - - 20954950 31-8-23 31-8-23-30-8-33 0.117 2
Guo Wei 2,993,564 - - - 2,993,564 - 29922 29-9-22-28-9-32 0.252 1
B 2,993,564 - - - 2,993,564  31-8-23  31-8-23-30-8-33 0.117 2
Lam Albert Man Sum 2,993,564 - - - 2,993,564 - 29922 29-9-22-28-9-32 0.252 1
MEF 2,993,564 - - - 2,993,564  31-8-23  31-8-23-30-8-33 0.117 2
Cheung Wai Hung 2,993,564 - - - 2,993,564 - 29922 29-9-22-28-9-32 0.252 1
RER 2,993,564 - - - 2,993,564 31-8-23  31-8-23-30-8-33 0.117 2
Sub-total
st 53,884,158 53,884,158 - - 53,884,158 53,884,158
Employees in aggregate 9,792,000 = = = 9,792,000 24-5-22  24-5-22-23-5-32 0.088 3
BIRH

5,987,128 - - - 5,987,128 - 29922 29-9-22-28-9-32 0.252 1

5,987,128 - - - 5987,128  31-8-23  31-8-23-30-8-23 0.117 2
Sub-total
et 15,779,128 5,987,128 = = 5987,128 15,779,128
Consultant
B
Bilion Winning
Holdings Ltd.

BREBERAT 19,584,000 = - - - 19,584,000 24-5-22  24-5-22-23-5-32 0.088 3
Total
et 80,247,286 59,871,286 - - 59,871,286 89,247,286
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Notes: BT :

For all Options granted on 29 September 2022, the first 30% of
the total Options can be exercised 3 years after the date of grant,
and second 30% of the total Options will become exercisable in
subsequent year. For the remaining Options, 40% can be exercised
5 years after the date of grant, exercise price was HK$0.252. The
closing price of the Shares immediately before 29 September 2022,
the date that those Options were granted, was HK$0.25.

For all Options granted on 31 August 2023, the first 30% of the total
Options can be exercised 3 years after the date of grant, and second
30% of the total Options will become exercisable in subsequent year.
For the remaining Options, 40% can be exercised 5 years after the date
of grant, exercise price was HK$0.117. The closing price of the Shares
immediately before 31 August 2023, the date that those Options were
granted, was HK$0.116.

For all Options granted on 24 May 2022, the Options can be exercised
3 years after the date of grant, exercise price was HK$0.088. The closing
price of the Shares immediately before 24 May 2022, the date that those
Options were granted, was HK$0.088.

The vesting period of Options are three years after Date of Grant. The

Options are valid from the date of acceptance of the Options to ten years
from Date of Grant.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the usual
course of business are set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Loans from Mr. Ma and Ms. Zhao Yuebing, directors of Taizhou Mining
and thus connected persons of the Group, to Taizhou Mining and
to the Company were fully exempt connected transactions pursuant
to Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules as those were conducted
on normal commercial terms or better and were not secured by the
assets of the Group.

The Directors consider that those material related party transactions
disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements did not
fall under the definition of “connected transactions” or “continuing
connected transactions” (as the case may be) in Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules which are required to comply with any of the
reporting, announcement or independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements under the GEM Listing Rules. The Directors confirmed
that the Company has complied with the requirements in accordance
with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and prevailing market rate. Other employee benefits
included provident fund scheme, share option scheme as well as
discretionary bonuses. The determination of emoluments of the
directors of the Company had taken into consideration of their
respective experience, responsibilities in the Company and the
prevailing market conditions.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total number of issued Shares was held by the public as at the date of
this report.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The actual net proceeds raised from the Rights Issue was
approximately HK$152.8 million. Up to 31 March 2024, the Group

has utilised the net proceeds as follows:

Planned amount

FRiSFIERAE
B HAE 2 BTSN IE R84 49152,800,00058
T BE_E_ME=BA=+—H ' AEEEHHA

Ffr

according to Revised use of

the Prospectus net proceeds

ERtREREN FiigmIaRE

SRIEREENT -
Actual use of Unutilised Expected
net proceeds net proceeds timeline

up to the date up to the date for the
of this report of this report intended use
EES EES
FREBL FREBLH
FIERIARE ABEME BERRZ

HE REsTRE BRAR MEFE BHRER
(Note1) (Note2)
(1) (Hiz2)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER
Redemptions of Convertible bonds ~ BB[E| AT # i3 E % 30,100 30,100 30,100 - Utilised as intended
HRREA
Repayment loans from Ms. Zhao EEREHELTNER 55,500 55,500 55,500 - Utilised as intended
BREEA
Repayment of bank loan BERTER - 14,000 14,000 - Utiised as intended
BRREA
Repayment of other indebtedness EREMER 38,500 11,499 11,499 =
General working capital —REEES 28,700 41,701 41,701 ~ Utlised as intended
BRAEA
152,800 152,800 152,800 -

Notes: Bt -

1. Details of Rights Issue are set out in the prospectus dated 21 April 1. ARHERZHBESINRARFAEEAZZSZFMN
2022 (the “Prospectus”) and the announcements dated 2 November BZ+—HzHER=RR (MERER) - UkBEH
2021, 10 April 2022 and 17 May 2022 of the Company. A_E_—F+—B-_HA-ZZE”"__FWWA+H

kRZZZ_FRBA+tRZAE.

2. Details of change in use of proceeds are set out in the announcement 2. HEFAERIBERARNGFBENASRAS _=F

dated 9 November 2023.
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EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Subscription Agreement

On 22 March 2024, the Company and King Tower Global Absolute
Return Fund SPC (the “Subscriber”) entered into the Subscription
Agreement pursuant to which the Subscriber has conditionally agreed
to subscribe for, and the Company has conditionally agreed to allot
and issue a total of 310,638,298 new Shares at the Subscription Price
of HK$0.141 per Subscription Share.

The Subscription Shares represent approximately 5.19% of the
existing issued share capital of the Company and approximately
4.93% of the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by the
issue of the Subscription Shares. The aggregate nominal value of the
Subscription Shares is HK$0.31 million.

310,638,298 shares has been allotted on 24 April 2024 pursuant to
the subscription agreement dated 22 March 2024, details of which
are set out in the announcement of the company dated 22 March
2024.

Save as disclosed in this report, no material events happened

subsequent to the Year and up to the date of this report.

41

HREHAREIR
DI E

AR TNFE =BT+ H AABKKing Tower
Global Absolute Retum Fund SPC (5288 AJ) 5]1758
B B SBABRGMERRE Al
B AR ESAC % K 3175 +£310,638,208/%
f&15 » SREB B A S RREBRERN0.141 8 T

TERMDEENAATIRE EETIRAL5.19%
KA N BB TRBIRMDIBARBZ BEITRAL
4.93% ° 5B AR 17 2 #2H B A310,00078 7T ©

310,638,298 A7 BN ZF ZMEMAS —+ 1WA
BEARATE_NF=A"+_ EIB’JD?}%mEﬁ
Efc% AR RENARARNRRA T T NE
=R+ HMREe

BREmEFMINEEIN REAFEREEFRRER
HANE S B AR (R I EE R o



Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2023/2024

REESERARAR « —F-=

—ECUFEFR

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFEGHRS

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year were audited by
McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited (“McMillan Woods”).

McMillan Woods was appointed as auditor to the Group on 5 March
2024 to fill the casual vacancy occasioned by the resignation of McM
(HK) CPA Limited with effect from 5 March 2024. The reason for the
change of auditor was that the increasing global demand of gold and
the escalating gold price, the Company is conscientious in exploring
the opportunities to expand its business in overseas markets to
enhance its business and financial performance for the benefit the
Company and its shareholders. The Company is at the stage of
assessment such possibilities and there are no concrete plans for
the Group to expand to overseas market outside China. With such a
background, the Company would be minded to engage an audit firm

with an international network to handle the audit work of the Group.

McMillan Woods term of office as auditor of the Company will expire

at end of the forthcoming annual general meeting of the company.
The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the

previous two years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 were audited by
McM (HK) CPA Limited.

On behalf of the Board
Li Dahong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2024
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OBJECTIVES

The board of directors (the “Board”) of Grand T G Gold Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) is pleased to present the environmental,
social and governance report which is prepared in accordance with
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG
Guide”) set out in Appendix C2 to the GEM Listing Rules. The Board
has reviewed and approved the report and is pleased to present the
measures and activities in the environmental, social and governance
(‘ESG”) aspect of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2024.

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Board’s oversight of ESG issues

The Board has a primary role in overseeing the Group’s ESG issues.
In 2024, the Board, the management and the ESG Working Team
evaluated the impacts of ESG-related risks on the operation and
formulated ESG-related policies in dealing with relevant risks. The
oversight of the Board is to ensures that the management and the
ESG Working Team have all the right tools and resources to oversee
the ESG issues.

To demonstrate the Group’s commitment on transparency and
accountability, the management and the ESG Working Team will
review and evaluate the Group’s performance in respect of ESG

issues and report to the Board regularly.

The Board is primarily responsible for reviewing and supervising
the ESG process and risk management of the Group. In 2024, the
ESG governance and ESG-related issues were reviewed at regular

meetings.
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The Board’s ESG management approach and strategy for
material ESG-related issues

In order to deeply understand the opinions and expectations of
different stakeholders on the ESG issues, materiality assessment
of the Group is conducted annually. The Group ensures various
platforms and channels of communication are used to reach,
listen and respond to our key stakeholders. Through general
communication with stakeholders, the Group is able to understand
the expectations and concerns from its stakeholders. The feedback
obtained allows the Group to make more informed decisions, and
to better assess and manage the resulting impacts of the business

decisions.

The Group has evaluated the materiality of ESG aspects through
the following steps: (i) identification of ESG issues by the Group; (i)
prioritisation of key ESG aspects with stakeholder engagement; and
(iii) validation and determination of material ESG issues based on the

results of communication with stakeholders.

These steps can help the Group understand the degree of concern
stakeholders show to each ESG issue, and enable the Board to make
a more comprehensive plan for the future direction of sustainable

development.

The Board’s review progress against ESG-related goals and
targets

The Group will closely review the performance of the goals and
targets and the progress of implementation from time to time. If the
progress falls short of expectation or the business operation changes,
rectification may be needed and communication about the goals and
targets with key stakeholders such as employees, customers and
suppliers may be conducted.

Setting strategic goals for the future that enables the Group to
develop a realistic roadmap and focus on the development direction
in achieving the visions. The ESG Working Team will carefully examine
the attainability of the targets which should be weighed against the

Group’s principles and goals.

44

EEgHEARESGHMEENESGEERS AR
SR

RMRAM T EAEF D EBRESCGEENE R R
8 AEBESEETEELE - EERFRER
BRTANEBRERZE REBMREETE
BiE -BERRAFHEETEEES ~EERF
TRAFNENRERFAE -FIESHRERR
EAEBESFL ERERRR I BTG
NEEZEHFRRREENTE-

FEFECEBUT I RHTEESCHENERE ()
AEBBAFIESCGEE S(ERFNESET  HFRE%E
ESGEIRETIRR ; K(MRIEEFHA BB BEE
e R EEBAESGEH

ETRFTWANE T HAEEFNEHRESG
EEMEREE > WEEE G A A RRAAFE
RS OFHEREEATRSE

EEgHESGIER BN R BRI EER

AEE G T EFRsTAERE B B R B IRRIRNK
BIER - HEERERNNEHEERE A7
SERFH BN TREFBRHNHE WWEES TR
HEm) sENERRETER

AERORERKREES BN EAEEENGE
PIBRTHRGE THEETENARAESNERS
[ ESGTFEX Epi A EBESH BRIIF L
) (FHIE RS ZEM BB R



Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2023/2024
AREBSIZERARAT « ZT2= /“ENEER

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

IR - 1 ERER

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The report is centred on 4 principles:

Materiality: Stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment are
conducted regularly to identify material ESG issues, and to ensure that

these issues are addressed in the report.

Quantitative: Data presented in this report has been collected
prudently. Please refer to the environmental and social performance
data for standards and methodologies used for calculation of key

performance indicators.

Balance: Both positive and negative impacts of the business have

been presented in a transparent manner.

Consistency: Unless otherwise stated, the disclosures, data collection
and calculation methods have remained consistent throughout the

years to facilitate comparability over time.

REPORTING SCOPE

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in gold exploration, mining and
mineral processing. To reduce environmental impact and create
value for communities, the Group seeks every opportunity to
incorporate sustainability standards and practices into all aspects of

its businesses.

Tongguan Taizhou Mining Company Limited* (ZREB A MNIZXBIES
1EAE]) (collectively referred to as “Taizhou Mining”) is the Group’s
focus in the ESG Report for 2024. It is principally engaged in gold
exploration, mining and mineral processing with gold concentrate as
its product. In 2024, Taizhou Mining mainly completed certain mining
development projects, including the excavation of approximately
30,096 meters of various tunnels, excavation of approximately 2,407
meters of slope supporting, excavation of approximately 3,611 meters
of ore chute as well as excavation of approximately 9,028 meters for

track laying and ditches.
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In addition, the Group treats social responsibility as its basic
responsibility. In order to contribute to the society which the
Group relies on, the Group actively participates in activities to help

underprivileged communities.

The disclosures in this report are focused on the policies and
performance of the aforesaid businesses in terms of 4 environmental

protection aspects and 8 social responsibility aspects in 2024.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Stakeholder engagement is the core element of the Group’s
sustainable development. Focusing on the establishment of a regular
communication mechanism for the stakeholders, the Group has set
up online and offline communication channels to demonstrate to the
stakeholders its strategic plans for and performance of sustainable
development and to consult their opinions and needs in a timely

manner, so as to fulfil their expectations.

The Group’s stakeholders include the shareholders, staff, government
and regulatory authorities, customers, suppliers and communities,
shareholders/institutional and individual investors, etc. The Group will
engage in discussions with the stakeholders about relevant issues
through various channels. The relevant communication channels and

stakeholders’ expectations and requirements for the Group are as

5 ZEERBAHEEETEHEEARE  RTHE
HLUR RIS IFHER AERRG2 REE
SSEAHEFHEE)

RTETNEE AR E MU DI EBHMEIRE R
E IS KBEH S EEHE  BERRRIRFIRE

FERNSHR

A E 2 AR AEE A EHEIENZOH
5o rEMTERFNERTEREBMRE 2
UTRERETHEBEE REEFHEWND
AEEAHENERBSRBRINER 595
HHBREER LR EEE

FAEBHNFNECRRR EBE BN KEER
BZR HEEREE  REHEREARE
EBE - AEEEURENREBTREEARFD
BETEE HRNERRERFNENAEE
BUHASZEAERANT ¢

follows:

Stakeholders Expectations Communications and feedbacks

& HAZ Bk RE

Shareholders Financial results Growth in profitability and ensuring in business

sustainability

] I pCE S E = B A B S R BB R R TS AT AE 1
Information transparency Regular disclosure of information
BERE EHERKE

Sound control over risks

T E B E B
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Optimisation of risk management and internal
control
BLRMEE RN ZEE
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Stakeholders Expectations Communications and feedbacks
& A Bk RE

Staff Platform for career development Providing platform for career development
=] SEA=pany 1 RUBXERETS

Government and regulatory
authorities
BN B E i

Customers

=R

Suppliers

e

Communities

&

Salary and benefits
e Rar

Safe working environment

Z2HNTIRIRIE

Compliance with rules and regulations

P E G KR 61
Tax payment in accordance with laws
BITRBEE

Maintaining high quality products
BEXNEEEEMD

Security of customer information
EREREZ2

Protection of customers’ rights and
interests

& PN K m fRIE

Cooperation with integrity

FIEETE

Business ethics and creditworthiness
EmEBEERESE

Environmental protection
IRIEfRE

Job opportunities
MERS

47

Competitive salaries and employee benefits
BHF NN RESRT

Provision of employee training and
improvement in safety awareness
RHESEINIRNRZEEH

Operational compliance

BHREE
Full payment of tax when due
Yy IR REAN TR

Ensuring the stability of product delivery
HRERINRENSE

Protection of customer privacy
BERILERE

Marketing compliance

GHREH

Establishment of a responsible supply chain

BEaBERMtERE

Performance of contracts according to the law

REBITEN

Use of environmentally friendly and energy-
saving equipment

ERIRREN AR

Provision of job opportunities

R B ERB L
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Stakeholders Expectations

g HAE

wE

Communications and feedbacks

BERRER

Shareholders/institutional and ~ Annual general meetings and notices
individual investors

RREEREARES RERBFERERIEN
Regular corporate publications (including
financial statements)
EENAETIY (BEMHBRE)
Increase in transparency of corporate
development

BMINEEERERE

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In 2024, the Group conducted a comprehensive materiality
assessment, which involved group discussions, interviews and
questionnaire surveys with internal and external stakeholders to
identify the environmental, social and operational issues which have
the most significant impacts on the Company’s business and the

relevant issues which are of concern to the stakeholders.

With reference to the scope of disclosure as required under the ESG
Reporting Guide, as well as taking into consideration its business
features, the Group has identified and determined 24 issues covering
greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emission, energy consumption, employee
welfare, occupational health and safety, training and development,
supply chain management, customer privacy, anti-corruption, and
community investment and other aspects with respect to business

operation.

48

Platforms for communications with
shareholders
RHERKEREENTA

Results announcements

BegE N

Issue of circulars and announcements in due

course

PR3 B R A S

SR

RoBEE AEEETT 2ANES T
fi o S RN RIMBIHOEBIRVET I B
RRETESEE LA A AR EBHEYE
BAEANEE HEREENEE UREHD
EVEIEREE-

2F(RIE LB RERBREIES) REMERS
B EEAEEEFR ) ML EE 7241855
B AMREREFRGEHNEERRE (TRER
A2l BRI SERHAE  BE RN  BERREER R
Bl R HEEEE - ERR - RE5 Rt
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10

Materiality of ESG Issues
RIE - HERERENNEEY

13

20(6

14

22
2012

7124 314

18121 19

16

i 1

Relevant extent/materiality to stakeholders
D ENERREE EE4
(&)}

Environmental aspect

3

4 5 6

7

Relevant extent/materiality to the business

HEBWERREE EEN

Social aspect

Operational aspect

RIGEE HEHE EiEHE
1. GHG emission 9.  Occupational health an and safety 17. Supply chain management
RE R AR HERERZE HrER SR
2. Energy consumption and resource 10. Child labour 18. Supplier evaluation and selection
management BT HE R =
EEREERERERE 11. Forced and compulsory labor 19. Customer service satisfaction
3. Water management 58 48 A1 58 1| 25 EERBEREE
IKEREE 12. Training and development 20. Customer privacy
4. Waste management el kB R B AT
EEEYEIE 13. Compensation and employee 21. Opinion and complaint management
5.  Use of packaging material benefit BREEFEIR
BEEY)EE R ol & TaF 22. Product safety and quality
6. Impact on the environment 14. Diversify and equal opportunities management
HIRENTE Ltk TEHS EmZrkEEEE
7.  Climate change 15. Talent attraction and retention 23. Protection of intellectual property
RIEZ1E 5| KR8 AA rights
8. Community contribution 16. Anti-corruption fREEF B ERE
ANER={y R&5 24, Marketing and labelling
EiH AT

49
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ENVIRONMENTAL

To fulfil its sustainability commitment and comply with the

requirements under the laws and regulations in respect of

environmental protection, the Group has been striving to reduce

the impact of its operating activities on the environment.

Al:

Emissions

The Group strives to minimise the environmental impact
of its mining activities, production activities and products.
Taizhou Mining is located in Tongguan County of Shaanxi
Province, the gold mineralisation and production region in
China. The business of the Group is governed under the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic
of China (REARHEMBEIRFER#EX). Violation of
relevant environmental regulations may result in temporary

suspension of production.

The Group adheres to the principles of active participation
and environmental responsibility. The Group not only
performs its market duties, but also vigorously supports
green activities and actively implements effective policies
which are aimed at reducing emissions. The Group
will consider purchasing more environmentally friendly
machinery in case that the existing machinery is no longer

available.

During 2024, the Group has no emissions of hazardous
substances. No adverse comment or irregularity has been

reported from internal and external control sources.

The Group has also adopted a set of CO2 emission
reduction management policy in order to save energy
resources, reduce energy waste and improve energy
efficiency. All the member companies of the Group strive to
form energy saving habits. The emission reduction policy
has stipulated certain guidelines, aiming to create better

and cleaner environment for society.
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Since the local legislation and standards for environmental
protection are constantly updated, the Group shall assess
whether these legislations and standards are relevant to
the businesses of the Group and the Group’s compliance
status. During 2024, the Group has complied with
environmental laws and regulations which were applicable
to the Group’s businesses. The Group will continue looking

for ways to reduce CO:2 emission and land pollution.

During 2024, pollution factors such as nitrogen oxide
(“NOx”), sulfur oxide (“SOx") and suspended particulate
matters (‘PM”, also known as “Particles”) were mainly

generated from vehicles of the Company.

During the reporting period, air pollutant emissions were as

follows:

HE

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
IR - 1 ERER

FR 5 IR IRE I R AR ZE R S8 R > A<
EEFMEZE LHI RIS ER T EAARE
B2 EBARURAERNSRIER
S ZENEE AEEBESTBERAR
REBEBZIRIBEFER AR - AEEH
RHEES SRR — /iR L H#5
Fez Fike

A— T

A TETEE > REEY (TNOw) i
SUEY) (TSOx 1) KRt iFHiu+ (TPM > 7R7%
EERIY)) S5 RAEAHDEEREAF
Eage

PRSI ERSIYIHIT

Types of emission (Note 1) Unit 2024 2023
HEaEsE (it 1) B i —TCNEE —B=HFE
Nitrogen oxide (NOx) gramme 7,357 10,469
AREHINOY 3
Sulfur oxide (SOx) gramme 138 182
REAEMISOY 7
Suspended particulate matters (PM) gramme 522 751
BERLT(PM) 7

Note:

1. The emission factors used to calculate the NOx, SOx and PM
are sourced from: the Hong Kong Environmental Protection
Department’s EMFAC-HK Vehicle Emission Calculation model
and the United States Environmental Protection Agency’s
Vehicle Emission Modeling Software — MOBILE 6.1; and the
assumptions of 80% relative humidity, a temperature of 25
degrees Celsius, an average speed of 30km/h, and include
running exhaust emissions only.
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BRI E R

Reduction target of air emissions

Air emissions Reduction target Baseline year Status
BEREED AHEE R BREF AR A&
Nitrogen oxide (NOx) emission intensity Reduce 3% by 2024 2019 In progress
KEECYNOHERZ E R ZEMFEATRL3% E—NFE  ETH
Sulphur oxide (SOx) emission intensity Reduce 3% by 2024 2019 In progress
MEIEMISOY BN E R ZZZFERTR/3% “E-NFE  EfAY
Particulate matters (PM) emission intensity Reduce 3% by 2024 2019 In progress
IR FPMBERZ E R ZMFEERTR/3% “E-NFE  EAY

The Group has focused on digging new mine tunnels in
recent years. These projects require the use of a large
number of vehicles and expansion equipment, resulting in
the Group being temporarily unable to achieve the emission
reduction target set for 2019. Looking forward, the Group
expects that the emissions-to-capacity ratio will improve
upon completion of expansion or development projects.
Based on this, the Group has formulated a new exhaust
gas emission reduction target and plans to reduce the
emission reduction intensity by 3% by 2029 compared with
2024.

The main sources of the Group’s GHG emissions are direct
emission from the mobile combustion sources (“Scope
1”), indirect emission from acquired electricity emissions

(“Scope 2") and other indirect emissions (“Scope 3”).
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In 2024, GHG emissions were as follows: ATE T MERE BEREERT

GHG emissions Unit 2024 2023

B = RAEHEK B —E_NFEE _—_T=FE

GHG emissions (Scope 1) (Note 1) kg of carbon dioxide equivalent 28,029 35,819
(‘kgCO2€e”)

BERIBEHIR (SEEN) FaZ1) RS EREE

GHG emissions (Scope 2) kgCO:2e 7,092,990 7,024,291

BEREHIR BEE2) RS IEREE

GHG emissions (Scope 3) kgCO:ze 9,016 9,346

BERASHIN FES3) NS IEREE

Total GHG emissions kgCO2e 7,130,035 7,069,456

BERBINEE NFZSIEREE

Total production tonne 66,663 116,686

TERS i

GHG intensity kgCOz¢e/per ton 107 61

BERBEE AT IEREE, W

Note: Kist -

1. The emissions related to electricity consumption were 1. BAOEEERIRERUZZS—IEF

calculated on the basis of the emission factor of Northwest
China Power Grid for 2019. Such figures have been
calculated in accordance with the Reporting Guidance on

Environmental KPIs.

FEEILE BRI R A ERE
2o ZEHF TR TRIGRISENIE
RERISSIFE -

Scope 1:  represents diesel and gasoline consumed by SE1 . FEIEAEMEENSE RN
motor vehicles. e

Scope 2:  represents electricity purchased from electricity gE: FEEETEEBENHEDRE
suppliers. BWE e

Scope 3:  represents scrap papers, water consumed and SEGS: FEIRHENELR AKX

indirect emissions of employees traveling by air.
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Reduction target of GHG emissions

B E R BB R

Environmental KPI Reduction targ Baseline year Status
IRIGRARERIER AHEE R BEF AR &

GHG emission intensity (Scope 1) Reduce 3% by 2024 2019 In progress
BERBBIREE (EE1) R _MFEERTR/3% “E-NFE OETH
GHG emission intensity (Scope 2) Reduce 3% by 2024 2019 In progress
BERBBINEE (E2) S ZEMFEERTRL3% “BE-nFE ETF
GHG emission intensity (Scope 3) Reduce 3% by 2024 2019 In progress
BEREBINEE EES3) R ZZZMFERTREL3% “E-nFE EOY

The Group has focused on digging new mine tunnels in
recent years. These projects require the use of a large
number of vehicles and expansion equipment, resulting in
the Group being temporarily unable to achieve the emission
reduction target set for 2019. Looking forward, the Group
expects that the emissions-to-capacity ratio will improve
upon completion of expansion or development projects.
Based on this, the Group has formulated new greenhouse
gas emission reduction targets and plans to reduce the
emission reduction intensity by 3% by 2029 compared with
2024.
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Development activities do put certain pressure on the
environment. However, improving production efficiency
and achieving emission reduction targets are crucial to
the sustainable development of the Group. In the future,
the Group will continue to pay attention to environmental
protection and strive to reduce carbon emissions while

increasing production capacity.

R EERENIRIFEN T —ERE
710 8T RS EEME KRBT AHE
BRHNAEBRNXEEREFER K
o AEBB BRI RE TE
BERRFHRIRIRs - B RSR A IRERI o

Environmental performance Unit 2024 2023
IRIERI B ZETNEE ZEI=FE
Extra trees planted Tree 8,200 8,000
ZRSMEIE AR AR R

Carbon dioxide reduced kgCO:2e 188,600 184,000
[0 = = g RS IEREE

In the year 2024, Taizhou Mining actively plants trees in office region

RIBTMEE > KMNEEBHRER QSRR EER AR
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Waste micro dust management

The Group blasts, stacks and loads and unloads ore during
the production process which will produce micro dust.
Therefore, the Group uses wet drilling method, ventilation
machines and rock-surface cleaning regularly to control the
micro dust emissions and avoid the adverse effect on the

environment.

The micro dust may also be generated from the ore
crushing and ore screening system. In order to control
emissions of micro dust, the Group uses an automatic
feeding system and wet ore brokering method to reduce
the emissions of micro dust. The crushing and screening
equipment is located in a fully enclosed workshop and ore
storage yard is covered with a dense mesh as micro dust

suppression methods.

Wastewater management

Wastewater (containing mainly suspended solid from
ore processing) may be produced during the production
process and thus the Group has built a wastewater
treatment facility at the tailing pond to collect wastewater
through dedicated pipelines of wastewater produced at
the two ore processing plants. Following sedimentation
at the wastewater treatment facility, the wastewater can
reach the relevant discharge standards. However, to reduce
substantially water consumption and thus improve resource
conservation, the Group recycles and reuses all its treated
wastewater back to its processing plants without any direct
discharge to the environment, either from the processing
plants or tailing pond under the normal operating

conditions.
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The Group also has one wastewater collection sump at
each of its two operating processing plants for accidental
discharges in case of any accident at the plants which
may result in release of wastewater. According to the
environmental protection requirements promulgated by local
government, the Group has built a sedimentation tank with
capacity of 100 m3 at the pithead of wastewater collection
sump. The proper collection, treatment and recycling and
reuse of wastewater in the Group help protect natural
receiving water bodies and ecological environment in the

surrounding areas.

The Group has invested much production cost for
wastewater control and recycling to meet the Integrated
Wastewater Discharge Standards (5 7k4R & HEMUIZEE) |
The wastewater only contains a small amount of harmful
substances and it is in line with Integrated Wastewater

Discharge Standards.

HE=4 77

SEER. BREBXNEENERERQENT
dEan:. RAARRBXBURKR
ATARA; AR

HE

ERWMY 916105227799 2610530000

FEBTNEWEEITHAVERR SR
B—ERE KIS > DU S S i R 3 4
ISR MEREEKREES RIS
MEEK - A E B ERREMBFIRFRE
Ko FERE KU ER M E 2 —EE10032 75 K
DU o BT A WS ~ BRI R EIUR
FAREK AR RERBMER B A
AN B R EREIRIR ©

AEETERKIERI RIBIRB RS ERA
REEEMEUNE (SKEEHIR
#) BKNEEZVEREYE RE
BIRATT G OSKERSHEREE) °

Taizhou Mining has obtained a pollution discharge permit
KMIEE B EISBES TRl S
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Non-hazardous waste management

The mine has been in continuous production for many
years. Waste mining rocks are generated during the
production process. The waste mining rock of the Group
was used for road paving and underground filing of mines
after being crushed. The remaining waste was stockpiled in
special waste rock plants. Some of the mineral processing
tailings were transported for underground filing of mines
after being classified and disposed. The waste rock yard set
up retaining walls as required to intercept drainage facilities

to prevent soil erosion and mudslides.

The Group has not generated hazardous waste during its
production process. The non-hazardous waste is mainly
waste mining rock. The Group also transports domestic

waste to designated garbage collection station.

In 2024, the quantity of hazardous and non-hazardous

wastes generated were as follows:

Hazardous and non-hazardous

— = —

MU 4R

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE - B REBKRS

BSHELEESF - LEBRETIES
BRUBRE O - A BRI IRIRRE A SR IR
PRI SRR B B Ko SRHE S T IEiR » FIBRER
BYPEGEERNEOHES  RIEER
IS D RERIER B DR EIH TR
B TItiE - RO RIRRE B IR
A DA EREE K ER I ARG LE 7K R
KESfRaMe

FEBTLEEBRETRAEELESER
) MBEZEEMEIER/REEG £
SRR TR AT E VIR IS
o

ATECMFE FERRYNESE
BYELENT !

wastes generated Unit 2024 2023
FRELEEESERVRESERY B —E_NFEE _—T=FE
Total quantity of hazardous wastes (Note 7) tonne N/A N/A
BEEEEYMEE (Wa21) MA B B
Intensity of hazardous wastes (Note 7) tonne/per tonne of product N/A N/A
BEEEEMERE WaZ1) Mg, &5 A B8 (] E S B A
Total quantity of non-hazardous wastes tonne 18,509 18,277
BERERYRE MA

Intensity of non-hazardous wastes tonne/per tonne of product 0.28 0.16
BEBERYEE Mg, &5 A B8 (] E S

Note: Kzt -

1. Hazardous wastes generated from gold mining and
exploration business are relatively small. As such, the Group
does not quantify the relevant figures.
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BEYHIBEE R

Reduction target of waste

Environmental KPI Reduction targ

Baseline year  Status

IRIBRARAEBUERE HEE B R HESF AR RS
Intensity of hazardous waste N/A N/A N/A
BEBEENEE NER NEA NEA
Intensity of non-hazardous waste Reduce 3% by 2024 2019 In progress

BEEERVEE P M FERTR3%

The Group has focused on digging new mine tunnels in
recent years. These projects have produced a certain
amount of construction waste, resulting in the Group being
temporarily unable to achieve the waste reduction target
set for 2019. Looking forward, the Group expects that
the waste-to-capacity ratio will improve upon completion
of expansion or development projects. Based on this, the
Group has formulated a new waste reduction target and
plans to reduce the waste reduction density by 3% by 2029
compared with 2024.

Noise management

The Group makes noise primarily when operating air
pumps, blowers, ball mills, crushers, belts and vibratory
screens during production. The Group controls noise by
applying noise-abatement equipment, basic vibration
reduction methods, vibration-absorptive and soundproofing
rooms and rubber lining. The positions of these noise
generation equipment are also in compliance with the
applicable standards for buffer distances to sensitive
receptors, such as residences and villages, and thus

minimising the impacts.

The Group also makes noise in the process of blasting. The
Group considered noise pollution issues when choosing
the mining area, so the Group chose the mining area which
is far away from the residential areas. The Group strictly
follows Emission Standard for the Noise at the Boundaries
of Industrial Enterprises (T 2 1> 2 i SR IR B 1Z %),

S/
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IRIE - HERER

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

In 2024, the Group was not aware of air and GHG
emissions, discharges into water source and land, or
generated wastes which have a significant impact on the
environment. The Group was not aware of any material
violation of laws and regulations. The Group strictly
complied with laws and regulations relating to emissions,
such as the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s
Republic of China (F#ZE A REMEIRIZREE), t

Law on the Prevention and Control of Water Pollution of
the People’s Republic of China (F#E A RHEFMEKTH
[57a7%) and the Law on the Prevention and Control of
Solid Waste Pollution of the People’s Republic of China
(PE AR HMEE RBEEYIRIEGA7E). Furthermore, no
significant fine or nonmonetary sanction for non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations was imposed on the
Group in 2024.

Use of resources

Electricity, water and fossil fuel consumption

The Group utilises resources effectively and initiatively takes
its responsibilities to achieve sustainable development.
The Group encourages its employees to develop
environmentally responsible habits, control and reduce

consumption, minimise waste and recycle useful materials.

The use of electricity, water and fossil fuel may have effect
on the environment. When the Group conducts gold mining
business or operates its offices, it exerts an impact on the
environment through the consumption of electricity, water
and fossil fuel. Nevertheless, the Group has always tried its
best to reduce its energy consumption.

The Group used 474 tonnes (2023: 439 tonnes) explosive

for mining gold mineral, and the production volume was
66,663 tonnes in 2024 (2023: 116,866 tonnes).
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In October 2020, the Group reconstructed the high voltage
lines in its mining area and replaced equipment and lines,
in order to improve production capacity of the mining area
and reduce its line loss. The relevant projects have been
completed and put into use in 2021. In 2024, the relevant
projects have saved the Group’s electricity consumption
by approximately 238,500 kWh despite the substantial

increase in production throughput of the mining area.

The Group has no problem in accessing to appropriate
water source. The existing supply of water source can
satisfy the Group’s needs in the aspects of volume and
quality of water and guarantee of water supply facilities. In
Year 2024, the Group has implemented measures on water
conservation and consumption reduction and recycling of

industrial waste water.

The Group not only strictly observes the Energy
Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of China (F7
EANRHMBEELFEIRE), but also encourages its
employees to develop resource saving and recycling
habits in daily practices. To protect natural resources and
increase operation efficiency, the Group closely monitors
the use of resources with a view to ensuring full utilisation of
resources and preventing wastage. Each department of the
Group regularly reports on its use of resources and takes

corrective actions for issues arisen in a timely manner.
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The following consumption data was recorded in 2024 for R MFE SRR £

gold mining business: FUEFEEIRT ¢

Environmental performance Unit 2024 2023

IRIBRIE B T NEE —EI=FE

Electricity consumption kWh 7,950,000 7,873,000

JHFE T ELBF

Fuel consumption (Note 1) kWh 746,913 787,136

REEEAE (1) TRE

Total energy consumption kWh 8,696,913 8,660,136
ERABFEE TRE

Energy consumption intensity kWh/per tonne of product 130 74

BERHERE TRE,SHER

Water consumption m? 10,783 10,533

FEKE RVAYS/

Water consumption intensity m?3/per tonne of product 0.16 0.09

BKBE MR EBURE S

Total packaging material used kg N/A N/A

BREYEE Ny B ~ER

Intensity of packaging material used kg/tonne N/A N/A

BEMEE NI ~NEA NER

Note: Kzt -

1. The conversion factors used to calculate the units to kWh

1.

ARGt ETREEMRNERARRE

are sourced from the Energy Statistics Manual issued by the EIPR A RBTI R BEIRAR ST ) o
International Energy Agency.
Reduction target of resources consumption BREAIEAEE
Environmental KPI Reduction targ Baseline year Status
IRIBRARAEBUEE EiK B HAESF AR RS
Energy consumption intensity Reduce 3% by 2024 2019 In progress
RERHERE S B NFEERTIRIE3% “E-NEFE  ETH
Water consumption intensity Reduce 3% by 2024 2019 Achieved
FEARE RZZEZMEEFTRLD3% —NFE BEMX
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A3:

The Group has focused on digging new mine tunnels in
recent years. These projects require a large amount of
energy, which has resulted in the Group being temporarily
unable to achieve the consumption reduction target set
for 2019. Despite this, the Group has made efforts to
reduce water consumption and has achieved the water
consumption reduction target set in 2019. Looking forward,
the Group expects that the emissions-to-capacity ratio will
improve upon completion of expansion or development
projects. Based on this, the Group has formulated a
new resource consumption reduction target and plans to
reduce the consumption reduction intensity by 3% by 2029

compared with 2024.

Environment and natural resources

Measures to reduce environmental impact

As gold mining operators, the Group inevitably needs to
extract natural resources from Taizhou Mining, thereby
causing change to the ecological environment to a certain
extent. The ecological impacts were mainly as a result
of land occupation. As Group’s mining and exploration
activities are conducted in tunnels, impact on the land and
forestation is limited to relatively small areas immediately
surrounding the tunnel exits. The extent of the Group in
extraction operation at Taizhou Mining is performed in line
with market demand and the Group has not engaged in
any unnecessary exploitation and production activities. The
Company complies with the policies under national laws
and regulations, and the Group adopts standard production
methods and technology. The Company has taken
measures, such as water and soil conservation, mining
area plantation, etc., to reduce the impact on the natural

environment.
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A4:

Efficiency and environmental protection are significant
concerns and difficult long-term tasks for the Group and the
society as a whole. The Group strictly monitors and reviews
relevant data from time to time, so as to minimise the
negative effect on the environment and, at the same time,

maximise its business development and operation.

Climate change

Awareness over climate change continues to grow and
climate change is one of the most discussed topics among
companies. The Group is no exception in increasing its
awareness over the potential impact of climate change
on the Group’s business and operation. The Group
regularly reviews global and local government policies,
regulatory updates and market trends to identify potential
climate- related risks that may affect the Group’s business

operations.

In accordance to the reporting framework developed by the
Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures, there
are two major categories of climate-related risks, being the
physical risks and transition risks. The Group will develop a
response plan immediately such as changing the business
strategy and modifying the development plan in order to

reduce the negative impacts of such climate-related risks.

The Group will continuously incorporate sustainable
practices in its business operations and prepare and
maintain sufficient resources for managing identified
climate-related risks and studying the potential remediation

measures.
In 2024, there was no climate-related risk, including

physical risks and transition risks, that had a significant

impact on the Group.
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B. SOCIAL

B1:

Employment

Labour practices

The Group has formulated good workplace practices for
all the employees, regardless of their age, gender, race,
colour, sexual orientation, disability or marital status, to
prevent discrimination and promote equal opportunities and
therefore increase job satisfaction among the employees.
The Group endeavours to provide a good working
environment for its employees because it regards every

single employee member as a valuable asset of the Group.

The Group guarantees the rights and interests of
employees relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, antidiscrimination and other benefits and welfares.
The Group clearly explains in detail the rights enjoyed by its

employees with regard to their employment.

The Group carries out an annual review of employment
policy to ensure the balance between employee
remuneration and business growth, so that it can benefit

the development of the Group.

Anti-discrimination and equal opportunity

The Group strives to diversify employees in terms of
gender and age, so as to realise balance in culture
and communication among employees. The Group
is committed to providing a working environment free
from discrimination and with equal opportunities for all
its employees, regardless of age, gender, race, colour,
sexual orientation, disability or marital status. The Group
encourages labour diversity and welcomes labour from all
areas, thus putting the principle of fairness into practice.
The Group has not reported incidents of non-compliance

with employment-related regulations in 2024.
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The Group has strictly implemented recruitment procedures REEESHITHRIBIER  BAINLS]
to select and attract outstanding talents for the Group EHNIIEE A EERERRAESH
through external recruitment and internal training. In 2024, AA R ZETIMEE » AEFEZMER
the proportions of employees (excluding independent non- FHAE N BEEN RMIREE S 52
executive directors) of the Group by gender, age band, BEMHEK FEEBILIENTES) W
nature of employment and geographical region are as B

follows:

Social Performance Unit 2024 2023
HERER B i —TCNEE —B=HFE
By gender

BERE 5

Male Person 148 (86%) 42 (82%)
e A

Female Person 25 (14%) 9 (18%)
gegi A

Total Person 173 (100%) 51 (100%)
“eE A
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Social Performance Unit 2024 2023
HERR B fil “ECWEE CBI=HE
By age group

RERERE S

Age below 30 Person 7 (4%) 5(12%)
30RR AT A

Aged 30 to 50 Person 98 (57%) 13 (23%)
30E505% A

Aged 50 above Person 68 (39%) 33 (65%)
505% U A

Total Person 173 (100%) 51 (100%)
45t A

By employment type

REFESNE S

Full-time Person 173 (100%) 51 (100%)
g3 A

Total Person 173 (100%) 51 (100%)
45t A

By geographical region

IR & i A

Hong Kong Person 8 (5%) 7 (14%)
BN A

China Person 165 (95%) 44 (86%)
& A

Total Person 173 (100%) 51 (100%)
45t A
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In 2024, the employee turnover rates of the Group were as RIZEZWEE AEENEE MK
follows: TF -

2024 2023
TEINFE ZTTZ=HE

By gender (Note 1) ¥RE D att)
Male S 6% 17%
Female pegiis 13% 33%

By age group (Note 1) Yo BRI (A1)

Age below 30 305U T 14% -
Aged 30 to 50 30E505% = =
Aged 50 above 50k LA E 16% 30%
By geographical region (Note 1) EMEE 5 (Wat1)

Hong Kong 58 - -
China & 7% 23%
Note: Mzt -

1. The turnover rate is calculated by dividing the number of 1. WKL EARNNR BRM B E

ERBEEEEABGUNZMBEE
R EARNEE AT E

departed employees in a specified category during the
relevant financial year by the number of employees in such
specified category at the end of the financial year.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

In 2024, the Group was not aware of any material
noncompliance with the relevant laws and regulations
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare
that have significant impact. The Group strictly complied
with local laws and regulations relating to employment,
such as the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China
and the Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Regulations on Enterprise Wage Payment of
Shaanxi Province. In addition, there was no significant fine
or sanction as a result of non-compliance with relevant laws

and regulations during 2024.
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B2: Health and safety B2 . BEEREE

Workplace health and safety

It is critical for the Group to protect its employees’
occupational health and safety. The Group respects
occupational safety and health and other applicable
regulations for a safe and comfortable working environment

that protects employees from occupational hazards.

The Group always treats employees’ health and safety
as its priority for production. Every worker is required to
follow safety instructions and attend safety training on using
equipment or plant. Safety monitoring mechanism has been
established and employees have been assigned to monitor

the compliance with safety rules at each production stage.

The Group has equipped its factory and head office with all
the required safety equipment and facilities, and has passed

all the governmental safety inspections.

TIESRFEAZ S
RERENHERENZEHNTER
BAREE AEEBEBETHEREH
RERHEMBERER BEERHEZE
REFEN TR LIS R REESE
AREMES-

FEEBKRRRERERZEDEEN
BREEREER -SUTIANRETLRIS
™ UERRARZREERRENREZ
Hil- AEBERUZEEEHFIT I
BEERRIEKMESEEZERANE
STiBe

FER T AR EREEFHIBLER
ERBRRM LEEBFABRNZE

A
a5 %un o
| AR AR

Method of Risk Assessment for

Procedures on Accident Prevention, Safety Risk
Classification and the Screening, Identification and
Control of Accident Hazards in Mines
PRIELLRESTEN « Z2 BIR DR R EH RS
TRIERER

Operation Conditions in Mines

RUEL BV ER R B R Ei A
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The Group uses explosives for mining gold and strictly
follows rules and regulations on using explosives which
are consistent with the standards in the PRC. There are
dedicated, exclusive and isolated bunkers designed in
accordance with the required standards and approved
by safety authority and the local public security authority
which controls the supplies. Detonators and explosives
are stored in two separate bunkers with a safe distance
to each other. The yard to these bunkers is secured with
high walls, metal gate, and 24-hour video cameras. Both
bunkers are well secured with two locks, with keys kept by
two separate staff (one management personnel and one
safety personnel). Only when both individuals (key keepers)
are present at the same time, all the locks can be unlocked
to access detonators and/or explosives. The storage
facilities are regularly inspected by the management and the
safety and public security authorities to ensure compliance
at all time. After the use of explosives, the Group will use
detection equipment to measure the residue in the air.
Employees cannot be arranged to enter into the gold mine

until the air meets the standards.

Safety facility outside warehouse storing detonators
IFEEBIMNZ 2R
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During the reporting period, the numbers of lost days due PEREHARE > ONEER TEERTIF
to work-related injury in Taizhou Mining were as follows: HEWT :
2024 2023 2022

“ENEE —T=HE —T-HE
Number of work-related fatalities [ T3E T-HIN &t = = =
Number of work-related injuries T8 A% - - -
Lost days due to work-related ATEEBEEIIEEHH - = =

injuries
Lost day rate BRBHLEE - - -
In the past three years, no employees of the Group were RiEE=F AEETERES S RAT
involved in work-related fatalities. FETERe
Compliance with relevant laws and regulations BFERZELIH
The Group follows the laws and regulations on ensuring REBBETHRALESBMERRZ2H
workplace health and safety, which mainly include: AR BRARAREESE .

Production Safety Law of the People’s Republic of (FhEE N\RHMBEZ 2 EEL)

China

e Mine Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China o (PEARHEMEELZEE)

e Emergency Response Law of the People’s Republic of o (PEARHEMEIEEEMHELEE)
China

e Law of the People’s Republic of China on the o (PEARHNEBEZERNAEE)

Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases

e  Special Equipment Safety Law of the People’s o  (hEARHENBEIFERBLERIE)
Republic of China

e  Safety Requirements on Explosive Hazardous Area o  (BIFEIBFTZ2IETE)
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B3:

No significant fine or sanction for non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations was imposed on the Group
during 2024. Moreover, the Group has maintained accident
insurance for its employees. The Group has taken all
reasonable measures to improve the working environment
and to create a safe and comfortable workplace for
employees. The management has improved the safety
standard of workplace, and has provided mandatory

training for all its employees.

Development and training

Employee development and training

Continuous staff training plays a fundamental role in
business growth. The Group encourages employees to
engage in continuous development and to improve their
skills through training. The Group understands that training
is the most sustainable way for long-term development,

which is beneficial for both the Group and its employees.

The Group provides training for its directors regarding the
Group’s development and essential skills and regulatory
compliance training, enabling them to have a better
understanding of development potential of the Group and

direction to enhance their management skills.

The Group provides various internal trainings for developing
the workforce, including orientation and on-board
trainings for new employees to enable them to adapt to
the operation of the Group efficiently and strengthen their
skills and knowledge required for work. It is important for
employees to perform tasks safely, follow safety working
procedures and operate machines and equipment

cautiously.
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In 2024, the employee training rates of the Group were as RIZZNFE A EENESRIILE
follows: T
2024 2023
“ETNEE ZEZ=FE
Percentage of employees trained ZIMEEE AL (HaE1) 98% 84%
(Note 1)
Percentage of employees trained BN ZIEEE R
by gender (Note 2) (Hizt2)
Male B4 86% 86%
Female pegc 14% 14%
Percentage of employees trained BRERENSISHNZIES
by employment category (Note 2) Bott aE2)
Senior management SREERERE 3% 26%
Middle management iR EIRE 19% 23%
General staff —R1EE 78% 51%
Notes: Kzt -
1. Calculated by dividing the number of employees trained by 1. BZIIEEABBGUNRZMBEER
the total number of employees at the end of the financial FNEISECYN S
year.
2. Calculated by dividing the number of employees trained in 2. BZHEHNZIEEASRUZIES
such category by the total number of employees trained. BANBGTE -

s
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In 2024, the average training hours of the Group’s RIZZMFE A EENEE 219

employees were as follows: IR

2024 2023
TEINFE ZTTZ=HE

Average training hours completed per S EERM ST

employee (Note 1) (H1ax1) 4.8 7.0
Average training hours completed BN ERESTRZI

per employee by gender (Note 2) EBREE (K aE2)
Male B4 4.9 7.2
Female pegiis 3.9 6.0
Average training hours completed BRERBENSSHNERES

per employee by employment TR Z TR (I7:22)

category (Note 2)
Senior management EREERE 4.4 3.8
Middle management RREEE 7.9 7.4
General staff —mREE 4.0 8.5
Notes: Kzt -
1. Calculated by dividing the total training hours by the total 1. BEIIERFEGRURZMEEERNE

number of employees at the end of the financial year.

2. Calculated by dividing the total training hours in a category by
the total number of employees in such category.

The Group evaluates the training programs from time to
time and reviews the effectiveness of training. The Group
makes effort to improve employees’ knowledge and skills

for discharging duties at work.

Moreover, the Group encourages mutual communication
between management and employees. The Group respects
and cares about employees’ opinions and suggestions.
Meanwhile, the Group releases the latest corporate news to

all employees in a timely manner.
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Child labour and forced labour

Any individual below legal working age and without any
identification documents is unqualified for employment.
It is the Group’s policy to disqualify the person from
employment if he/she is found to be hired against the

requirements of the Labour Contract Law.

The Group makes good use of its Human Resource
Department to ensure compliance with laws and
regulations. The Human Resource Department takes the
responsibilities to review and confirm employment practices
to avoid child labour and forced labour. In case that any
unlawful labour was identified, the Group would immediately
terminate the employment relationship with the relevant

employee and hold the person-in-charge accountable.
Compliance with relevant laws and regulations
The Group followed the laws and regulations on prohibiting

child labour and forced labour, which mainly include:

e Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong Special

Administrative Region

e Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China

e Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of
China

o Law of the People’s Republic of China on Protection of

Minors

e  Regulations on Prohibiting Use of Child Labour (State
Council Order No. 364)

In 2024, there was no violation of laws and regulations on

employment age or any labour dispute arose within the
Group.
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B5: Supply chain management

Supplier management

The Group aims to provide comprehensive solutions that
meet customers’ needs and establish a comprehensive
vertical supply chain management system through resource

integration and supplier screening and management.

The objectives of the Group are to deepen the collaborative
relationship with its strategic suppliers and to create
competitive advantages in the value chain, and thus to
enhance the impact on the society and environment and to
ensure that its suppliers uphold similar stance in sustainable
development. The Group maintains long-term relationship

with its suppliers to ensure stable supply.

In 2024, the Group purchases explosive substances
from local reputable suppliers according to government
regulations. The Group does not foresee its source of
supplies would have effect on the operation of local

factories.

As at the end of 2024, the number of major suppliers by

geographical region was as follows:
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B6: Product responsibility B6 : EmEE

Product safety and quality

The Group has formulated customary practices to ensure
that its customers are well aware of the quality and gold
content of mineral concentrates being purchased. A sample
test would be conducted by an independent lab on each
shipment of mineral concentrates under the supervision of
representatives of the Group and its customer. The Group
strives to provide its customers with quality products to
establish good credibility and reputation. The Group has
complied with relevant requirements in the Product Quality

Law of the People’s Republic of China.

Product return policy

In 2024, there were no product sold or shipped subject to
recalls for safety and health reasons in the Group and there
were no cases of complaints received against the quality of

the Group’s products.

Customer feedback and handling

The Group welcomes comments and suggestions from the
customers. The Group provides a variety of communication
channels, for instance, social media and emails. Regular
communication channels and feedback systems are in
place to gather information on satisfaction and suggestions

for improvement from the customers.

The Group consolidated and comprehensively analysed
the customers’ feedback and monitor the level of customer
satisfaction in its business. Follow-up actions, including
internal evaluation and modification of training programs for
employees, formulation of improvement plan and refining
the existing management procedures will be taken to
address the identified issues. Feedback will be provided to

the customers in a timely manner.
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B7:

Data privacy

The Group keeps business information and customers’
data confidential in order to protect consumer data and
privacy. The Group will destroy relevant information in
due time. The Group has set up strict code of conduct
requirements for their employees. In addition, the
employees are required to maintain all reasonable methods
to safeguard the information of the Group and the
customers as stated in the Staff Handbook and working

practices.

Protection of intellectual property rights

The Group is committed to complying with relevant laws
and regulations in relation to intellectual property rights by
valuing and protecting its intellectual properties through
renewals of patent and trademark. The Group enters
into standard employment contracts with its employees
which contain provisions on intellectual property rights and

confidentiality.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The directors believe that the Group has complied with
relevant laws and regulations related to the products of the
Group, such as the Product Quality Law of the People’s
Republic of China (FEARHEMEIZmEEX). In 2024,
the Group did not have any product returned due to
safety or health problems or any complaint received from
customers or any significant fine resulted from violation of

regulations.

Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption and money laundering

The Group’s operation strictly complies with local and
national legislations, such as the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance of Hong Kong and relevant legislation on

anticorruption of Mainland China.
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The Group is well aware of the importance of honesty,
integrity and fairness to its operation and has formulated
its anti-corruption policy. The Group has reminded its
employees at all levels many times of anti-corruption, giving
and taking of interests in meetings and documents such as
staff handbooks. Staff are required to declare any conflicts

of interests when performing their duties.

Through the establishment of relevant rules and regulations,
the Group encourages all the employees to discharge their
duties with integrity and in compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations. Transactions in monetary sums are
processed through cash and bank transactions which
require authorised signatures with appropriate levels. The
Group did not involve in money laundry and there was
no enquiry or concern from the government or banking

department.

The Group has provided anti-corruption education and
training for its directors and staff in 2024 to raise their
awareness and concern towards ethical and corruption

issues.

In 2024, the Group did not record any bribery or corruption

charge.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

In 2024, neither the Group nor any of its employees was
found involved in any legal proceedings relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud or money laundering, or has recorded any
bribery or corruption charge. The Group strictly complied
with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance, the Anti-unfair
Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China and

other local laws and regulations relating to anti-corruption.
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B8: Community investment

Community involvement

Giving back to society is a component of the Group’s
sustainable development strategy. The Group fully
supports community welfare and particularly focuses on
underprivileged community to enhance its efficiency of
community involvement. In 2024, the Group encourages
employees to actively participate in public welfare activities
and voluntary work, as well as participate in regional
environmental protection work. The Group has participated
in ecological environment restoration activities and actively
planted various seedlings in nearby mountainous areas to

improve the regional environment.

The Group values the importance of and the need for
community investment, and actively explores the activities
and manner for the Group to engage in community. The
Group maintains daily contact with community officials
and leaders to ensure the effectiveness and feasibility of
its involvement in the community. One remarkable move
is that most employees working in the mining area were
hired by the Group from the nearby villages, which was
highly recognised and appreciated by the local community.
The Group is committed to developing more community
investment opportunities in its development plans and
incorporating them into development plans to give back to

the local community.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company strives to attain and maintain the highest standard
of corporate governance as it believes that effective corporate
governance practices are fundamental to enhancing shareholder value

and safeguarding shareholder interests.

The principles of corporate governance adopted by the Group
emphasize a quality board, sound internal control, and transparency

and accountability to all its shareholders.

The Company has adopted the code provisions (the “Code
Provision(s)”) set out in the Corporate Governance Code and
Corporate Governance Report (the “Code”) set out in Appendix C1 to
the GEM Listing Rules and the Company had complied with all Code
Provisions as set out in the Code in the Year, except for the following

deviation:

Code Provision A.2.1

Code Provision A.2.1 of the Code stipulates that the roles of the
chairman and the chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. During the Year, the role of the
chairman of the Company is performed by Dr. Li, while the office of
the chief executive is vacated following the retirement of Mr. Feng Jun
on 11 September 2017. The Board will keep reviewing the current
structure of the Board from time to time and should candidate with
suitable knowledge, skill and experience be identified, the Company
will make appointment to fill the post of the chief executive as

appropriate.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
services contract with the Company pursuant to which each of them
is appointed for service with the Company for a term of three years.
Their terms of appointment shall be subject to the rotational retirement

provision of the articles of association of the Company.

81

EXRERER
RARRNNERRMEFBBIEENLREH
BN ERBAE MR EL RS R R

ERFRERRETBEAEE

AEBRRMNEEEAFRIEINEENES
g RENAIES AHESRRENGEHEER
BEM-

A B BRAGEM L TR BIMIERCIFR & B2 E0A
STAIREEE AR E (PRI BT RIS (TSP RUR
X)) RFABRAFEE D BT TR 25T
AERST > MELUTRBERRIN

TFRUFESCHEA2.11F
STRURYSTRIMRSCSRA 2 MR IR E £ E RATEIR R 2
AERAEFED RIMEHBE - ALTEE-NEE
B> ZIK’ATZIF“%@EE%J@:HFEE TATE AR &L
BAUNSEREE_T—TtFNB+—RHERER
”’”E?°%%ﬁ?ﬂﬁ%%?ﬁ%%%ﬁ%$ﬁﬁ’ﬁﬁﬁﬂ%§’
Mis REEEEENH RSB A AR
Bl BRPE T RELURRI TEHE S 2 B =R ©

IFPITES
SBUFPTESHERAATT LR AL
it & BESEARARRS=1F  HETHR
SIRIAABEH SRR R SR



Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2023/2024
AEBZIZERARAT « ZT°2= "“ZNFEER

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEERERS

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding the
securities transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than
the Required Standard of Dealings. Having made specific enquiries of
all Directors, all Directors confirmed that they had complied with the
Required Standard of Dealings and the code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors adopted by the Company during
the Year.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Eva Lee, a practising solicitor in Hong Kong, was appointed as
the Company Secretary on 20 February 2020 and responsible for
advising the Board on corporate governance matters and ensuring
that the Board policy and procedures, and the applicable laws,
rules and regulations are followed. All Directors have access to the
advice and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that the
Board procedures and all applicable laws are followed. Moreover,
the Company Secretary is responsible for facilitating communications

among Directors as well as with senior management.

During the Year, the Company Secretary had undertaken more than
15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 5.15
of the GEM Listing Rules.

BOARD OF DIRECTOR

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Group, overseeing the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions
and performance, evaluating the performance of the Group and
supervising the management. In addition, the Board reserves the
authority to make final decisions for all major matters of the Company,
including approving and monitoring of budgets, dividend payout,
material transaction, preparation and release of financial information,
appointment of Directors. The Board is also responsible for
performing the corporate governance duties set out in Code Provision
D.3.1 of the Code.

82

EFETESFRS
AABDIMERESETRERS2ZTAT
Al EHRRER SRR A B ST
TSNS 2EEECRINAFE REE
WP AT RN PR LR ERESE
TRERF 2ITATA

REME

BMELLT BEBRERIM R T
A +BEZERARAME  AENEXERE
HREFERESRIBRETESTHRKIE
R~ BRVER ARG - FREEF IR ERS A
AIMENEZARBURRESGETREER
KEFBBERARERET N AEWEE TR
EEEZHUREREEREZENESE-

RAEFEE  ARWEERBECGEM ETHRAIE5.15
RETT T BE5/ )RR AERA R R -

EFEEFT

BEREREEAER EEAER T X5 Bk
RRBRE HEEEE 2 ZREREEEEE It
Iy BEREREEARATFAAEERFTEZ&RR
R BEMERERAE - REDIK EAR
R TIEMBENUREEEST EFGTF
BERETTRIPZ TRIFSCEED I MRFTEIZ 3%
.

7
Al



Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2023/2024
AREBSIZERARAT « ZT2= /“ENEER

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEERKRS

The Board had reviewed the compliance of Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules and disclosure in this Corporate Governance
Report including the board diversity policy and effectiveness of the
internal control systems. In order to enhance efficiency, the Board
has delegated the day-to-day responsibilities and operations to the
executive Directors and senior management who perform their duties

under the leadership of the chairman of the Company.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board comprises five Directors, including two executive Directors

and three independent non-executive Directors.

Details of their composition by category are as follows:

Executive Directors
Dr. Li Dahong (Chairman)

Ms. Ma Xiaona

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Guo Wei

Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung

With the various experience of the executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”) and having regard
to the nature of the Group’s business, the Company recognises
the benefits of having a Board with well-balanced experience and
qualifications to maintain a sustainable business development of the
Group in the long run. In recognition of the Company’s commitment
to a well-balanced Board, the nomination committee is entrusted
to review the Company’s human resources policy and recruitment

process to ensure the effectiveness of such policy.
Details of Directors and relationship between the board members are

set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and

Senior Management” on page 15 of this report.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY
Pursuant to the Code, the Board has adopted a board diversity

policy. The Company believes that board diversity is a key element
for the Company to maintain sound corporate governance, realize
sustainable development and achieve strategic objectives. The
Company believes that board diversity enhances decision-making
capability and a diverse board is more effective in dealing with
organizational changes. The Company considers that the concept
of diversity incorporates a number of different aspects, such as
professional experience, business perspectives, skills, knowledge,
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity and
length of service. For the purpose of implementation of the board

diversity policy, the following objectives were adopted:

Independence: The Board should include a balanced composition of
executive and independent non-executive Directors so that there is a
strong element of independence in the Board. The independent non-
executive Directors shall be of sufficient caliber and stature for their

views to carry weight.

Gender: The Company is committed to maintaining an environment of
respect for people regardless of their gender in all business dealings
and achieving a workplace environment free of harassment and
discrimination on the basis of gender, physical or mental state, race,
nationality, religion, age or family status. The same principle is applied
to the selection of potential candidates for appointment to the Board.

During the Year, the Board had one female executive Director.

Nationality and ethnicity: To cope with the diversified portfolio of the
Company’s businesses, the Company aspires to having a board
of directors of different nationality or ethnic backgrounds who can
contribute their knowledge and understanding of the environment in

which the Company operates its business.
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Skills and experience: The Board possesses a balance of skills
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Company.
The Directors have a mix of finance, academic and management
backgrounds that taken together provide the Company with

considerable experience in a range of activities.

Apart from the above objectives, the board diversity policy has the
following measurable objectives to comply with the GEM Listing

Rules:

1. at least one third of the members of the Board shall be

independent non-executive Directors;

2. at least three of the members of the Board shall be independent

non-executive Directors; and

3. at least one of the members of the Board shall have obtained
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related

financial management expertise.

The implementation and effectiveness of the policy on board diversity
is reviewed annually by the Board. The Company has achieved the
measurable objectives under board diversity policy as at 31 March
2024,
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MECHANISMS TO ENSURE INDEPENDENT VIEWS

The Company makes certain that the Board has access to

independent views and input through the mechanisms listed below:

1.  The Nomination Committee should review the Board
composition and the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors annually, in particular the portion of the
independent non-executive Directors and the independence of
the independent non-executive Director who has served for more

than nine years.

2. A written confirmation was received by the Company under
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the independent
non-executive Directors in relation to his/her independence to
the Company. The Company considers all its independent non-

executive Directors to be independent.

3. In view of good corporate governance practices and to avoid
conflict of interests, the Directors who are also Directors and/or
senior management of the Company’s controlling shareholders
and/or certain subsidiaries of the controlling shareholders,
would abstain from voting in the relevant Board resolutions on
the transactions with the controlling shareholders and/or its

associates.

4.  The chairman of the Board shall meet with independent non-

executive Directors at least once annually.

5. All members of the Board can seek independent professional
advice when necessary to perform their responsibilities in

accordance with the Company’s policy.

The mechanisms to ensure independent views are reviewed by the
Nomination Committee for ensuring independent views and input
are available to the Board on an annual basis, whether in terms of
proportion, recruitment and independence of independent non-
executive Directors, and their contribution and access to external

independent professional advice.
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS EFHFETS

During the Year, 10 Board meetings and one general meeting were AEECRTIONESTEEEZN—IREAG 2
held. Set out below are the attendance records of all the Directors BEENAFERTZALNDEETER EF
at the Company’s board meetings, board committee meetings and HZEEERMREARE 2 HECERETIIT

general meetings held during the Year:

Audit Remuneration Nomination

Board Committee Committee = Committee  General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
BRREY HNEEE RRESE
Exges g3 L g2 RRKE

Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings
entitled to attend

HESERY ERHEEERY

Executive Directors: HITES .
Dr. Li Dahong FAREEL 10/10 = - - 11
Ms. Ma Xiaona =3 odu 10/10 = 3/3 2/2 1/1

Independent Non-executive B JFHITES :

Directors:
Mr. Guo Wei IR 10/10 4/4 3/3 2/2 1/1
Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum MEREE 10/10 4/4 3/3 2/2 1/1
Mr. Cheung Wai Hung REERE 10/10 4/4 - - 1/1
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION EEEREE
According to Code Provision D.3 of the Code, the Board is RIEFRINFREXEDIME EEEEBERITTA
responsible for performing the corporate governance duties of the NERNTrEEARE -EETRAAUTERE

Company. The Board has the following duties and responsibilities for TERABTEEARENRENST

performing the corporate governance duties of the Company:

1. to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on 1. HIEABRAEEEBEEEEANBERNS

corporate governance; ST
2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional 2. BRMKERAEEESRSHKEERZE

development of the Directors and senior management of the BAFEEHRRE ;

Group;
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3. to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and the

Directors; and

5. to review the Group’s compliance with the Code and disclosure
in the corporate governance report and in annual report of the

Company.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to the Code Provision A.6.5 under Appendix C1 to the
GEM Listing Rules, all Directors should participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. Each Director received induction on the first
occasion of his appointment, so as to ensure that he has appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Group and
that he is sufficiently aware of his responsibilities and obligations
under the GEM Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory

requirements.

During the Year, all Directors participated in continuous professional
development regarding their duties and responsibilities under the
relevant legal and regulatory requirement which included reading
materials in relation to legal or regulatory update and attending online

training courses.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-

executive Directors to be independent.
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CONFLICT OF INTEREST

If a Director has a conflict of interest in relation to a transaction or
proposal to be considered by the Board, such Director is required
to declare his interest and to abstain from voting. The matter is
considered at a Board meeting attended by Directors who have no

material interest in the transaction.

BOARD COMMITTEES

During the Year, the Company had three committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the remuneration committee of the Company (the
‘Remuneration Committee”), and the nomination committee of
the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) to assist the Board
in discharging its duties and responsibilities. The committees are
provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and are
able to obtain outside independent professional advice in connection

with their duties at the Company’s expenses.

Audit Committee

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review the financial
information of the Company, oversee the financial reporting process
and risk management and internal control systems of the Group,
maintain an appropriate relationship with the Company’s auditors and

provide advice and comments to the Board.

The Audit Committee has written terms of reference that sets out its
authorities and duties, which has been published on the websites of

the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Audit Committee comprises all independent non-executive
Directors. Members of the Audit Committee during the Year and up to
the date of this report is as follows:

Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum (Chairman)

Mr. Guo Wei

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung

4 meetings had been held by the Audit Committee during the Year.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed with the
management the audited consolidated financial statements for the
Year, the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
for the three months ended 30 June 2023, for the six months
ended 30 September 2023, the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group and auditing, risk management and internal
control systems and financial reporting matters. The audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 have

been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

Nomination Committee

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are reviewing
and supervising the structure, size and composition of the Board,
identifying qualified individuals to become members of the Board,
assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors and making recommendations to the Board on the

appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy setting out the
approach to diversity of members of the Board. The Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity of Board
members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business. All Board appointments
will continue to be made on a merit basis with due regard for the
benefits of diversity of the Board members. Selection of candidates
will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
experience (professional or otherwise), skills and knowledge. The
ultimate decision will be made upon the merits and contribution that

the selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted the following policies for the nomination of

directors.

Selection Criteria

In determining the suitability of a candidate, the Nomination
Committee and the Board shall consider the potential contributions
that a candidate can bring to the Board and/or the Group. The
Nomination Committee would consider a candidate in terms of
qualifications, skills, experience, independence and other factors. The

following shows a non-exhaustive list of selection criteria:

e the candidate’s race, reputation, character and integrity;

e the candidate’s qualifications, skills, knowledge, business
judgment and experience which are relevant to the operations of

the Group;

° the relevant factors set out in the Board Diversity Policy (as

amended from time to time).

Nomination Procedures
The evaluation, recommendation, nomination, selection and
appointment or re-appointment of each proposed Director shall be
assessed and considered by the Nomination Committee and the

Board against the Selection Criteria and the Board Diversity Policy.

In the context of appointment of any proposed candidate to the
Board:

e the Nomination Committee may take such measures that it
considers appropriate in connection with its identification and
evaluation of candidates, including referrals from the Directors,

shareholders, management, advisors of the Company;
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° the Nomination Committee shall identify and ascertain the
character, qualification, knowledge and experience of the
candidate and perform adequate due diligence in respect of

such candidate; and

e the Nomination Committee shall make recommendations by
submitting the candidate’s personal profile to the Board for its

consideration.

The Nomination Committee has written terms of reference that sets
out its authorities and duties, which has been published on the

websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Members of the Nomination Committee during the Year and up to the

date of this report are as follows:

Mr. Guo Wei (Chairman)
Ms. Ma Xiaona
Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum

For the Year, the Nomination Committee held 2 meetings.

Summary of the work of the Nomination Committee during the Year

was as follows:

e To review and monitor the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and
make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed

changes;

e 7o identify and nominate qualified individuals for appointment as
additional Directors or to fill Board vacancies as and when they
arise. The criteria to be adopted by the Board in considering
each individual shall be their ability to contribute to the effective

carrying out by the Board of its responsibilities; and
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e To make recommendations to the Board on matters relating to
the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors in particular the chairman and the chief
executive officer.

Remuneration Committee

The primary duty of the Remuneration Committee is to formulate
transparent procedures for developing remuneration policies and
compensation packages for the Directors and senior management
of the Group, and review and/or approve matters relating to share
scheme under chapter 23 of the Listing Rules. The Remuneration
Committee has adopted the operation model where it performs an
advisory role to the Board, with the Board retaining the final authority
to approve the remuneration packages of individual executive

Directors and senior management.

The Remuneration Committee has written terms of reference that
sets out its authorities and duties, which has been published on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Members of the Remuneration Committee during the Year and up to
the date of this report is as follows:

Mr. Guo Wei (Chairman)
Ms. Ma Xiaona
Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum

3 meeting had been held by the Remuneration Committee during the
Year.

Senior management’s remuneration
Senior management’s remuneration payment of the Group for the

Year falls within the following band:
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the Year, the fees paid/payable to the auditor in respect of the

audit and non-audit services were as follows:

3G
RAEEP B R RUEEMER RIS
BIRSZ BAMT

Amount

Types of services ARFEEE R +%8
(HKS)

(B7T)

Annual audit services FEEZIRY 1,430,000
Non-audit services IFBEIZRTS -

Notes: The annual audit service is payable to McMillan Woods (Hong Kong)
(CPA Limited) (HK$1.08 million).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy of the Company is to distribute to its shareholder
the funds surplus to the operating needs, current and future business
development of the Group as determined by the Board. The
Company may declare and pay dividends to the Shareholders subject

to the criteria as set out below.

In accordance with the article of association of the Company and
subject to the relevant laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company
in general meeting may from time to time declare dividends in any
currency to be paid to the Shareholders but no dividend shall be

declared in excess of the amount recommended by the Board.

Dividends may be declared and paid out of the profits of the
Company, realized or unrealized, or from any reserve set aside from
profits which the Board determine is no longer needed. With the
sanction of an ordinary resolution dividends may also be declared
and paid out of share premium account or any other fund or account
which can be authorized for this purpose in accordance with the

relevant laws under the Cayman Islands.
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Subject to compliance with applicable laws, rule, regulations and
the articles of association of the Company, in deciding whether
to propose an dividend payout, the Board will take into account,
among other things, the financial results, the earnings, losses and
distributable reserves, the operations and liquidity requirements,
the debt ratio and possible effect on the credit lines, the capital
requirements, the current and future development plans of the
Company, the interests of the Shareholders, dividends received from
the Company’s subsidiaries and associate companies, and other

factors that the Board considers relevant.

The Board will review the dividend policy from time to time and
reserve its sole and absolute right to update, amend, modify and/or
cancel the dividend policy. There can be no assurance that dividends

will be paid in any particular amount for any given period.

ACCOUNTABILITY

The Directors are responsible for preparation of financial statements
which give true and fair view of the state of affairs, the results
of operations and cash flows of the Group in compliance with
accounting standards, the GEM Listing Rules, legal and statutory
requirements in relation to financial reporting. In preparation of the
financial statements for the three months ended 30 June 2023, for
the six months ended 30 September 2023 and for the Year, the
Directors have adopted suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently. The financial statements for the Year have been prepared
on going concern basis. The statement of auditor about its reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out in

the Independent Auditor’s Report.
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The Group requires sufficient funding for its working capital, debt
repayment, further development and planned acquisitions. The Group
currently faces limited financial resources and for the time being, it is
in net current liabilities, although there are no immediate concerns for
solvency due to the nature of its current liabilities. Failure to obtain
additional funding in a timely fashion however, may adversely affect
the Group’s operation and its development plan. The Group is now
actively engaged in fund raising, talking to several interested investors/
financiers, trying to raise fund raising to significantly alleviate the
current liability risks as well as improve its production performance
and profitability. Furthermore the Group is to continue exploring
investment opportunities for acquisitions for quality mining assets. The
successful implementation of these measures would fundamentally
improve the Group’s financial position and address the current

liabilities concerns.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS

The Board is overall responsible for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is wiling to take in achieving
the Group’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Group
has established and maintained appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems. The risk management and
internal control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement

or loss.

The Group has conducted an annual review on whether an internal
audit department is required. Given the relatively simple corporate
and operation structure, the Group currently does not have an internal
audit function. Even though the Group does not maintain an internal
audit function, the Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take
in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, and establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal

control systems.
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The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and internal
controls that are significant to the Group on an on-going basis.
The Audit Committee would consider the adequacy of resource,
qualifications and experience and training of staff and external advisor
of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
function.

The management of the Group is responsible for designing,
maintaining, implementing and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control system to ensure adequate control in place to

safeguard the Group’s assets and stakeholder’s interest.

The Board performs annual reviews on any significant change of the
business environment and establishes procedures to respond the
risks result from significant change of business environment. The risk
management and internal control systems are designed to mitigate
the potential losses of the business.

The Group has engaged an independent professional party (the “IC
Expert”) to carry out internal audit functions by conducting an annual
review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems during the reporting period. IC Expert has reported
findings and areas for improvement to the Company. The Group
is committed to implementing the suggested improvement in the
coming year and determined to establish and maintain adequate risk
management and internal control processes.

The Board approved and adopted an inside information policy and
procedures for the handling and dissemination of inside information.
The insider information policy provide the guidelines to the directors,
management and relevant staff (likely possessing the unpublished
inside information) of the Group to ensure that the inside information
of the Group is to be disseminated to the public in equal and timely
manner in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations. The
procedures include, among others, regularly remind the directors,
management and relevant staff about the compliance with the
securities dealing restrictions as set out in the Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules and the notification of the regular “Blackout

Period”.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

Communications with Shareholders

The Company encourages two-way communications with its
shareholders. Extensive information about the Company’s activities is
provided in our quarterly, interim and annual reports to be sent to the
shareholders. Enquiries from individuals on matters relating to their
shareholdings or the business of the Company are welcomed and
will be dealt with in an informative and timely manner. Shareholders
and investors may communicate with the Company by mail,
telephone, fax and email, details of which are made available on the
Company’s website. In order to promote effective communication,
the Company maintains a website on which financial and other
information relating to the Group and its business are disclosed. The
Board had reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholder’s communication policy during the Year, given the various
means to enhance the communication between the Company and its

shareholders, the Company considered that such policy was effective.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

As one of the measures to safeguard shareholders’ interests and
rights, separate resolutions are proposed at shareholders’ meetings
on each substantial issue, including the election of individual Directors,
for shareholders’ consideration and voting. All resolutions put forward
at shareholders’ meetings will be voted by poll pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules and the poll results will be published on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company at “www.hkexnews.hk”
and “http://www.grandtg.com”, respectively, after the relevant

shareholders’ meetings.
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Right to convene extraordinary general meeting

Any one or more shareholder of the Company holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held
within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be

reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All enquiries
shall be in writing and sent by post, together with his/her contact
details, such as postal address, email or fax, to the principal office
of the Company in Hong Kong for the attention of the Company

Secretary.

Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

Shareholders may put forward proposals at general meetings of the
Company by sending the same to the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong, specifying his/her information, contact details and
the proposal(s) he/she intends to put forward at the general meeting
regarding any specified transaction/business and the supporting

documents.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BIZHENHRE S

M McMillanWoods

Professionalism at the forefront
To the shareholders of Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Grand
T G Gold Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 108 to 231,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2024, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material

accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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OTHER MATTER
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2023 were audited by another auditor who expressed an

unmodified opinion on those statements on 28 June 2023.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. The matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on the matter. We have determined allowance for
expected credit losses (“ECLs”) of trade and other receivables to be

the key audit matter to be communicated in our report.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
MRBEZEE

Allowance for ECLs of trade and other receivables

Refer to material accounting policy information in note
4(u), critical accounting judgments and key estimates in
note 5(b) and relevant disclosures made in notes 22, 23
and 38( ) to the consolidated financial statements.
E2RRAMEBRRWHA N ARG STBERER I
5E5(b)BY BRI & 514 B K {51 LUK Mg 5E22 ~ 23/ 38(c)F
AV RA R 2R o

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of the Group’s
trade and other receivables, net of allowance, were
approximately HK$29,107,000 and HK$6,703,000,
respectively.

RZZ2E_HNF=ZA=+—H> EBE£BENEZREWK
AR HAMFE W AR TR (IR EH) NEREAED AL
29,107,00078 7T 56,703,000/ 7T ©

The measurement of forward-looking ECLs approach
requires the application of significant judgement and
increased complexity which include the identification of
exposures with a significant deterioration in credit quality,
and assumptions used in the ECLs models (for exposures
assessed individually or collectively), such as forward-
looking macroeconomic factors.
AIEMTRIEEER A EZNAERERAEAHIE K
e BEH A EREERER AR OMX
REHREEBEREREANRRE G EHER R
R ERH) > LEMATBE M R A TE R o

We identified the above matter as a key audit matter due
to the critical judgement and key estimates made by the
management involved in determining the allowance for
ECLs for trade and other receivables.

EER LAEEHA AEREZER RAREEEN
HETEZRIRR R EMEURRIBENTERESHEE
B R (FHE 2 b R A gk 5t

RAREIZEIE @

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEZEBERNMEERBEEZSEE

5 5 PR K H At FE W AR IR TR HA S B RS 1R 1B 1

Our audit procedures in relation to the allowance for ECLs of trade
and other receivables included:
EEHEZRIRIRHMEWARIBNEAEEHEBREENEZ
BEFEE:

Obtaining an understanding of evaluating and validating the
Group’s credit policies and control over the Group’s ECL
assessment processes;

TR STE R EREE EEENEEBER LT
HRESHETIEER

BEERE

With the assistance of auditor’s expert, assessing the
reasonableness of the Group’s ECLs models by examining the
model input used by management to form such judgements,
including testing the accuracy of the historical default data,
evaluating whether the historical loss rates are appropriately
adjusted based on current economic conditions and forward
looking information including the economic variables and
assumptions used and their probability weightings and
assessing whether there was an indication of management bias
when recognising loss allowances;

ERBENERNHY T BEeEERERNRERERA
ERVIRE W AR Tt SEERBEEERERENSGE
Mo BERAFHBERENBIRNERMY ﬁﬁFEEEK%E

RBZEAEERRRAREEETEENRAE  BFEHR
EANKEZERRS &Hﬁfﬁé’ﬂﬁﬁm SRR B
BREESEEERRANTR ;

Inspecting settlements after the financial year end relating to the
trade and other receivables as at 31 March 2024; and
BEVHREEGREEN _ S _MNE=A=+—HBNEKE
ZRF R EMBUERIBERRNGEEER s &

Reviewing the appropriateness of the disclosure in the
consolidated financial statements.

BRGEMBRRDOKBOGE R
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial

statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that

fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND

AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

103

Hith&wl
BADEEEREEN 8 SR SIEER
REMBERERRBEREB 2 YIRS S
F5N) PR AR

=

EEHRAMBRERZERINEEEMER
AR EEMERNSEREMT A BB SR

MGEMBRERzERME  ESZEEERE
HMER WEIBRETEREMENE SRR
B BBRERNESTEERBRETEZBERAT
1BTT > B EXRIERERIL - BN ERITZ I
HESTHERDAEMERNBEAERERL
AR EZEE - BSWEILFREMRS

EERBERZEEMRESMTFRER
AEEZEE

BEER BB LBRGNKERERREEN
NFZIFEEMHRE REBEBBREREGH

BRI E 2 NEEEIE > U B ESMBRERT
ARG FERME B (E A E A SRR



Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2023/2024
AEBZIZERARAT « ZT°2= "“ZNFEER

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BIZHENHRE S

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND

AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continuea)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no

realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their

responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or

accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these

consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion

on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the

Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for

our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control

that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where

applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lo Ka Ki

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number — PO6633
24/F., Siu On Centre

188 Lockhart Road, Wan Chai

Hong Kong

27 June 2024
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FelEERkEMEEKEER

2024 2023
—E_NE —E=
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
HiaE FAT FAET
Revenue & 7 722,725 153,195
Cost of sales THE R AN (638,896) (89,886)
Gross profit EH 83,829 63,309
Other income Hhg A 8 993 117
Other gains and losses, net Hihm K18 F 58 9 39,679 =
Selling and distribution expenses HE RDHAS (1,899) (1,687)
Administrative expenses THAX (24,511) (28,331)
Reversal/(provision) of excepted B HEAth FE UK BRIE A RA RV FEHA
credit losses (“ECLs”) on other EEBE (FAREEBED
receivables B0, () 1,737 (1,802)
Operating results REES 99,828 31,606
Finance costs G057 10 (13,376) (10,794)
Profit before tax BRAR AR A 11 86,452 20,812
Income tax (expense)/credit Frigin (X)) 18R 12 (10,411) 22,924
Profit for the year FE T 76,041 43,736
Profit for the year attributable to: FEMEBR -
Owners of the Company KABHEB A 55,296 26,109
Non-controlling interests E| 2y T 20,745 17,627
76,041 43,736
HK cents HK cents
Al Al
Earnings per share attributable to AT EA AELEREF
owners of the Company
Basic =N 15 0.92 0.48
Diluted 8 15 0.75 0.48

108



Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2023/2024
AREBSIZERARAT « ZT2= /“ENEER

CONSOLDATED STATEMENT OF PROFT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

rellmkEMEEETDR

17 |

2024 2023
—E-MmE —E=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT TFAET
Profit for the year FEEF 76,041 43,736
Other comprehensive expense for FEHMEZEBAX
the year, net of tax: (NrRiRE) :
Item that may be reclassified HEOEEN 7 E TR m
subsequently to profit or loss: ZIEEH
Exchange differences arising from MEBING B A BB
translation of financial statements of WRFTEEZERERE
overseas subsidiaries (26,873) (29,594)
Total comprehensive income for FE2EKRHIEEE
the year 49,168 14,142
Total comprehensive income/ FE2AEANE  (FX%) 4858
(expense) for the year BER .
attributable to:
Owners of the Company KNBIEB A 29,757 (2,158)
Non-controlling interests JEER 19,411 16,300
49,168 14,142
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mE MBI RR

2024 2023
—E-_NE ==
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Hiz# FET TFET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME -BERRE 16 942,525 681,079
Construction in progress FREIR 16 59,131 51,229
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17 9,978 10,202
Mining rights related assets IR B E 18 41,624 44,124
Investment in an associate H—REZEABNKRE 19 - -
1,053,258 786,634
Current assets REEE
Inventories =78 21 149,435 16,701
Trade receivables B S EWERTE 22 29,107 41,072
Deposits, prepayments and other g~ FERIE R EAM
receivables FEURBRIE 23 128,983 17,962
Pledged bank deposits BERIRTER 24 20,000 20,000
Cash and bank balances BE KIRTTAEER 24 47,489 24,641
375,014 120,376
Current liabilities wRE&E
Lease liabilities HEaE 25 453 =
Trade and other payables BB ZRBEREM
e BRI 26 132,748 47,005
Borrowings =t 27 - 7,333
Bonds BE% 28 14,234 14,342
Tax payables FE{TIR1E 53,028 56,739
200,463 125,419
Net current assets/(liabilities) mEBBE(BfE) 358 174,551 (5,043)
Total assets less current liabilities 42EEFGASER 1,227,809 781,591
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2024 2023
—E-_NE =22 =
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
K&t F#ET FET
Non-current liabilities EREIERE
Lease liabilities HEAaR 25 58 S
Other payables HihpE(J R 26 345,112 37,994
Borrowings et o7 238,400 302,966
Convertible bonds AR ES 29 113,080 =
Loan notes ERERE 30 24,508 =
721,158 340,960
Net assets FEE 506,651 440,631
Capital and reserves BARK#HE
Share capital [i5N 33 5,987 5,987
Reserves Eaic 34(a) 421,089 374,480
Equity attributable to owners of the RNBVHEE NELER
Company 427,076 380,467
Non-controlling interests JEITERR 79,575 60,164
Total equity g 506,651 440,631

The consolidated financial statements on pages 108 to 231 were

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27

June 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

Li Dahong
2
Director

EFE
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B
Director
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Attributable to owners of the Company

FRFARAE NS
Foreign
Issued currency Share  Convertible Non-
share Share  translation option bonds  Accumulated controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve losses  Sub-total interests Total
Pt BlgE ik
BEfks  ROERE 1] ffE BHfE  EnBR it RS )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn TEr T TEn TERr TERr TER TEn
Asat 1 April 2023 RIBZ=ENA-H 5981 2,079,524 (23,401) 1,972 - (1683615 380467 60,164 440,631
Proft for the year EERR - - - - - 55,26 55,296 20,745 76,041
Other comprehensive income B2 ENE
Exchange differences arising from translation
of financial statements of overseas RAEENIBARNERR
subsidlaries fELZBRER - - (25,539) - - - (25,539) (1,334) (26,873)
Changes for the year EEEY - - (25,539) - - 55,26 29,757 19,411 49,168
Recogniton of share-based payment BANRAAERNIRES
expenses (1ofe 36) (236) - - - 1,306 - - 1,306 - 1,306
Cancelation of share option iR - - - (1,500) - 1,500 - - -
Issue of convertile bonds EmaRES - - - - 15,546 - 15,546 - 15,546
- - - (194) 15,546 1,500 16,852 - 16,852
At 31 March 2024 KZE-ME=A=1+-H 5987 2,079,524 (48,940) 1,178 15546 (1,626,819 421,076 79,575 506,651
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Attributable to owners of the Company

FREEEAEL
Foreign
Issted currency Share  Convertiole Non-
share Share  translation option bonds  Accumulated controling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve osses Sub-total interests Total
ehg ERE TRRES
BEfTRE  RiYEE Bk i FE  ZapE gt FEERER i)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEn Thn Thn TEL TEn Thn Thn TEn
Asat 1 April 2022 RZE__EMB-H 89807 1,842,983 4,866 = 12543 (1,722,267) 2271932 43864 271,796
Proft for the year il - - - - - 26,100 26,100 17627 43736
Other comprehensive income B2 ENE
Exchange differences arising from translation
of financial statements of overseas RiEE B ATHEERR
subsidiaries fELZBRER - - (28,267) S = 5 (28,267) (1,327) (29,59%)
Changes for the year FEEH - - (28.267) - - 26,109 (2,158) 16,300 14,142
Recognition of share-based payment BRUROAERNATRES
expenses (ot 34) (H35) - - - 1972 - - 1972 = 1972
Capital reorganisation (rote 3 EREA (33) (88,310) 83310 5 S = 5 5 = =
Transfer of convertble bonds reverse upon TR EHED 2B
redemption of convertiole bonds roe 29 AT RESREEZEE (1329 - - - - (12,543) 12,543 5 = =
Issuance of shares upon rights BREE RN
issue fnofe 33) (H#33) 4490 152,672 = = = = 157,162 = 157,162
Share issue expenses RAEMRR - (4.441) - - - - (4.441) = (4.441)
(83,820) 236,541 - 1,972 (12,549) 12,543 154,693 - 164,693
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=E-R=+-H 5987 2,079,524 (23401) 1,972 - (1683615 380467 60,164 440,631
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

—ECUFEFR

meREMRE

2024 2023
—EImME =
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B&E FAT TFHET
Cash flows from operating activities RBEEEEBWIRE RS
Profit before tax BRI A A 86,452 20,812
Adjustments for: U T RIEFHAE
Depreciation on property, plant and M- BB KREENITE
equipment 16 44,243 33,651
Loss on disposal of fixed assets HERBETEENEIE 9 16 =
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FREEEITE 17 546 128
Amortisation of mining right related RIE#BERAEENEE
assets 18 1,442 4,334
Finance costs RRE R A 10 13,376 10,794
Gain on waiver of other payables e HE R IEn s 9 (30,927) -
Gain on waiver of bond BReESFHNRE 9 (616) =
Equity-settled share-based payments MRS A4S & LI 1H A& B
ESERESN 11 1,306 1,972
(Reversal)/provision of ECLs on HhEWERIBTEIREE
other receivables BEERY (BE) (1,737) 1,802
Loss on early redemption for loan notes £ REEEI S ZIEREIE 9 959 =
Interest income FEUA 8 (535) (39)
Changes in fair value of convertible AR ESN AT EES)
bond 9 (9,111) -
Operating result before working REEETEHTH
capital changes RS 105,414 73,454
Changes in inventories GFEEE) (132,734) (11,554)
Changes in trade receivables B 5 EW AR EEY 11,965 (26,505)
Changes in deposits, prepayments and %%~ (I I K& Hith
other receivables FEURRRIBEEE) (109,284) (4,483)
Changes in trade and other payables  FE{TE 5 BRI H h
FE{TRRIBES) 425,879 (29,866)
Cash generated from operation REXEBELEZIRE 301,240 1,046
Income tax paid BENFTER (34,215) =
Interest paid BFE (593) =
Interest element of lease rentals paid ez EZ D (22) -
Net cash generated from operating B&EEFHELEZIREEEE
activities 266,410 1,046
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mEREMER

2024 2023
—EDOE B4
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
g3 FHET FHET
Cash flow from investing activities REEFBEEZRESRE
Purchases of property, plant and BEYE BEMRE
equipment (175,057) (13,118)
Additions of construction in progress REEERITRE 16 (10,905) =
Expenditure incurred on mining rights X IZHEEBEEEE >
related assets Bz 18 (1,426) (3,304)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME -BERFKEZ
plant and equipment FRigsIa 11 =
Proceeds from disposal/written-off of 2R B R IBEHRI S E HE
mining rights related assets /WEH 2 TS RRIE - 13,298
Expenditure incurred on right-of-use TREEEEE ZMAX
assets = (4,057)
Interest received BUF 2 8 535 39
Placement of pledged deposits EHERRGER - (20,000)
Net cash used in investing activities REFZHFIAZIRE 358 (186,842) (27,142)
Cash flow from financing activities ®IEEEFZIRERE
Proceeds from borrowings raised REMEBEEN
Frig=1a 161,698 108,188
Repayment of borrowings BIEEE (212,443) (184,025)
Repayment of convertible bonds BEARRES = (30,273)
Repayment of loan notes EREREE (14,600) =
Principal element of lease payment HEMRNEEEH D (385) -
Share issuing expenses RMmH BT = (4,447)
Proceeds from issue of shares BTN 2 PT1SRIA 21,000 S
Proceeds from rights issue REMRPTERIE - 157,162
Net cash (used in)/from financing  F4E5E8) (FRA) /Fr82
activities REHRHE (44,730) 46,611
Net increase in cash and cash HERREESEEBEM
equivalents FEE 34,838 20,515
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April RUB—HZRERIREE
=H\EE 24,641 4,444
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXEH - EFEE
changes, net (11,990) (318)
Cash and cash equivalents at R=A=+—HzHExK
31 March REFEER 24 47,489 24,641
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e SRR M EE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3
of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands.
Its principal place of business in Hong Kong is Room A-B, 8th
Floor, Centre Mark Il, 305-313 Queen’s Road Central, Sheung
Wan, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on GEM
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock

Exchange”).

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries (together with the Company collectively referred
to as the “Group” hereinafter) are principally engaged in gold
exploration, mining, mineral processing and gold refinery. Details
of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 20

to the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the functional currency of the
Company, with values rounded to the nearest thousand.
The functional currency of the Group’s operating subsidiary,
Tongguan Taizhou Mining Company Limited (“Taizhou Mining”) is
Renminbi (“RMB”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e MR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which in collective term includes all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”), Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (‘HKAS”) and Interpretations issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) and accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong. These consolidated financial statements also comply with
the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) and with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). Material accounting

policies adopted by the Group are discussed in note 4 below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 3 below provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the extent that they
are relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting

periods reflected in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e SRR M EE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs

() Application of new and revised HKFRSs
The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period
beginning on or after 1 April 2023 for the preparation of the

consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (include the October Insurance Contracts
2020 and February 2022
amendments to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform —
Pillar Two Model Rules
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

The application of the new amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in

this consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(Continueq)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied new and revised HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective for the
financial year beginning 1 April 2023. These new and
revised HKFRSs include the following which may be

relevant to the Group.

Effective for
accounting periods

beginning on or after

Amendments to HKAS 1 - Classification of 1 January 2024
Liabilities as Current or Non-current

Amendments to HKAS 1 - Non-current Liabilities 1 January 2024
with Covenants

Amendments to HKFRS 16 - Lease Liability 1 January 2024

in a Sale and Leaseback
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised) 1 January 2024
Presentation of Financial Statements -
Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand
Clause (‘HK Int 5 (Revised)’)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier 1 January 2024
Finance Arrangements
Amendments to HKAS 21 - Lack of 1 January 2025

Exchangeability
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 - Sale To be determined
or Contribution of Assets between an Investor by the HKICPA

and its Associate or Joint Venture
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

(Continued)

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of the above amendments to HKFRSs will not have material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.

New HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications
of the abolition of the mandatory provident fund
(“MPF”) — long service payment (“LSP”) offsetting
mechanism

In June 2022, the Hong Kong SAR Government (the
“Government”) gazetted the Hong Kong Employment and
Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment
Ordinance”), which will come into effect from 1 May, 2025
(the “Transition Date”). Once the Amendment Ordinance
takes effect, an employer can no longer use any of the
accrued benefits derived from its mandatory contributions
to MPF scheme to reduce the LSP in respect of an
employee’s service from the Transition Date (the abolition of
the “offsetting mechanism”). In addition, the LSP in respect
of the service before the Transition Date will be calculated
based on the employee’s monthly salary immediately before
the Transition Date and the years of service up to that date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong” that provides accounting
guidance relating to the offsetting mechanism and the
abolition of the mechanism. In particular, the guidance
indicates that entities may account for the accrued
benefits derived from mandatory MPF contributions that
are expected to be used to reduce the LSP payable to
an employee as deemed contributions by that employee
towards the LSP.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs

(Continued)

(c) New HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications
of the abolition of the MPFLSP offsetting mechanism
(Continued)

Applying this approach, upon the enactment of the
Amendment Ordinance in June 2022, it is no longer
permissible to apply the practical expedient in paragraph
93(b) of HKAS 19 that previously allowed such deemed
contributions to be recognised as reduction of service
cost (negative service cost) in the period the contributions
were made. Instead, these deemed contributions should
be attributed to periods of service in the same manner as
the gross LSP benefit. The Amendment Ordinance has no

material impact on the Group’s LSP liability and staff cost.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(Continued)

(d)

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting
Policies”

The Group has adopted Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting
Policies” for the first time in the current year. HKAS 1
“Presentation of Financial Statements” is amended to
replace all instances of the term “significant accounting
policies” with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included in an
entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected
to influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the
amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy
information relating to material transactions, other events or
conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose
immaterial accounting policy information, such information

must not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making Materiality
Judgements” (the “Practice Statement”) is also amended
to illustrate how an entity applies the “four-step materiality
process” to accounting policy disclosures and to judge
whether information about an accounting policy is material
to its financial statements. Guidance and examples are

added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance
but has affected the disclosure of the Group’s accounting
policies set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, unless mentioned otherwise

in the accounting policies below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in note 5.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

(@ Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made
up to 31 March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when
it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. The Group
has power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities (i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s

returns).
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(@

Consolidation (Continued)

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties. A potential voting right is considered only if the

holder has the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated

from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i)
the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair
value of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (i)
the Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary
plus any remaining goodwill and any accumulated foreign

currency translation reserve relating to that subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the

policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated statement
of changes in equity within equity. Non-controlling interests
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or loss and
total comprehensive income for the year between the non-

controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(a)

Consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the

non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions with
owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying amounts
of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value
of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly

in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
loss, unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held for
sale). Cost includes direct attributable costs of investments.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the

Company on the basis of dividend received or receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net

assets including goodwill.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Business combination or asset acquisition

Operational concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration
test, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits
a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The concentration
test is met if substantially all of the fair value of the gross
assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset
or group of similar identifiable assets. The gross assets
under assessment exclude cash and cash equivalents,
deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the effects
of deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration test is met,
the set of activities and assets is determined not to be a

business and no further assessment is needed.

Asset acquisition

When the Group acquires a group of assets that do not
constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises
the individual identifiable assets acquired by allocating the
purchase price first to property, plant and equipment which
are subsequently measured under cost model and financial
assets/financial liabilities at the respective fair values, the
remaining balance of the purchase price is then allocated
to the other identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis
of their relative fair values at the date of purchase. Such
a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain

purchase gain.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(c)

Revenue and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected to
be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other

sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Revenue from the sale of gold and other metals are
recognised when control of the gold and other metals
have transferred, being when the gold concentrate had
been dispatched to the buyer’s specific location (delivery).
Following delivery, the buyer has full discretion over the
manner of distribution and price to sell the gold and other
metals have the primary responsibility when on selling the
gold and other metals and bears the risks of obsolescence
and loss in relation to the gold and other metals. A
receivable is recognised by the Group when the gold are
delivered to the buyer as this represents the point in time at
which the right to consideration becomes unconditional, as

only the passage of time is required before payment is due.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost that are not credit impaired, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the
asset. For credit impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross

carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any.

Cost of self-constructed properties are classified as
property, plant and equipment includes the cost of
materials, direct labour, the initial estimate, where relevant,
of the costs of dismantling and removing the items and
restoring the site on which they are located, and an

appropriate proportion of production overhead.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit or

loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight line method over their

estimated useful lives as follows:

—  Freehold land is not depreciated.

—  Buildings situated on freehold land are depreciated
over their estimated useful life, being no more than 50
years after the date of completion.

—  Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated
over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and
their estimated useful lives, being no more than 50
years after the date of completion.

—  Plant and machinery 10-30 years

—  Others 3-10 years
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iR e MR M

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
(d) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(e)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and

its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction and plant and equipment pending installation,
and is stated at cost less impairment losses. Depreciation
begins when the relevant assets are available for use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use. The gain or loss on disposal or
retirement of an asset is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset, and is recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

Mining rights related assets

Mining rights related assets with definite useful lives are
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment loss. Amortisation is provided
using the unit of production method based on the actual
production volume over the estimated total proved and

probable reserves of the ore.

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and
to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that

use.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(f)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short- term
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less. The
lease payments associated with those leases which are not
capitalised are recognised as an expense on a systematic

basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the lease liability. After initial recognition, the lease liability
is measured at amortised cost and interest expense is
calculated using the effective interest method. Variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate are
not included in the measurement of the lease liability and
hence are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period

in which they are incurred.
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iR e MR M

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(f)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

e where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions

since third party financing was received,

e uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by
the group entities, which do not have recent third-

party financing, and

e makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,

country, currency and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to the
individual lessee (through recent financing or market data)
which has a similar payment profile to the lease, then the
group entities use that rate as a starting point to determine

the incremental borrowing rate.

The right-of-use assets recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises the
initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date, and any initial
direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the
right-of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore
the underlying asset or the site on which it is located,
discounted to their present value, less any lease incentives
received. The right-of-use assets is subsequently stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
except for the right-of-use assets that meet the definition of

investment property are carried at fair value.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(f)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life

and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use

assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change
in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate
of the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced

to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet
the definition of investment properties and lease liabilities
separately in the consolidated statement of financial

position.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(9)

Impairment of tangible

The carrying amounts of other non-financial assets
are reviewed at each reporting date for indications of
impairment and where an asset is impaired, it is written
down as an expense through the consolidated statement
of profit or loss to its estimated recoverable amount unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease. The recoverable amount is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of
value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal of the

individual asset or the cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future
cash flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present
values are computed using pre-tax discount rates that
reflect the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset/cash-generating unit whose impairment is being

measured.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(h)

Inventories
The Group’s inventories include raw materials, work in

progress and finished goods.

Inventories are initially measured at cost. Cost of inventories
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of processing and
other expenditures. The actual cost of inventories upon

delivery is calculated using the weighted average method.

At the end of the reporting period, inventories are measured
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. If the net
realisable value is below the cost of inventories, a provision
for decline in value of inventories is made and recorded in
profit or loss for the current period. After the provision for
decline in value of inventories is made, if the circumstances
that previously caused inventories to be written down below
cost no longer exist so that the net realisable value of
inventories is higher than their cost, the original provision for
decline in value is reversed and the reversal is included in

profit or loss for the current period.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion, the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale include incremental costs directly attributable to the
sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must incur
to make the sale and relevant taxes. For raw materials,
provision for decline in value is made based on the
categories of inventories. For finished goods, provision for

decline in value is made on an item-by-item basis.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

U]

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when the
Group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions

of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability
for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled
or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred
or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

@i

Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
(Continueq)

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace. All recognised financial assets are measured
subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or
fair value, depending on the classification of the financial

assets.

Debt investments

Debt investments held by the Group are classified into one
of the following measurement categories:

- amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which represent
solely payments of principal and interest. Interest
income from the investment is calculated using the

effective interest method.

- FVTOCI - recycling, if the contractual cash flows of the
investment comprise solely payments of principal and
interest and the investment is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both the
collection of contractual cash flows and sale. Changes
in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition in profit or loss of
expected credit losses, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method) and foreign
exchange gains and losses. When the investment
is derecognised, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income is recycled from equity to profit

or loss.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

4. EXGFEEREN @

0)

Financial instruments

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified

according to the substance of the contractual

arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial

liability and an equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity

instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest

in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.

The accounting policies adopted for specific financial

liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

0

(i)

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and
the redemption value is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss over the period of the

borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after

the reporting date.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially
at their fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in

which case they are stated at cost.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continuea)
() Financial instruments (Continuea)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

(i) Convertible bonds that contain an equity component

Convertible bonds that can be converted to equity
share capital at the option of the holder, where the
number of shares that would be issued on conversion
and the value of the consideration that would be
received at that time do not vary, are accounted for as
compound financial instruments which contain both a

liability component and an equity component.

At initial recognition the liability component of the
convertible notes is measured at fair value based on
the present value of the future interest and principal
payments, discounted at the market rate of interest
applicable at the time of initial recognition to similar
liabilities that do not have a conversion option.
The equity component is initially recognised at the
difference between the fair value of the convertible
bonds as a whole and the fair value of the liability
component. Transaction costs that relate to the issue
of a compound financial instrument are allocated to
the liability and equity components in proportion to the
allocation of proceeds.

The liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The interest expense recognised in
profit or loss on the liability component is calculated
using the effective interest method. The equity
component is recognised in the capital reserve until
either the bonds is converted or redeemed.

If the bonds is converted, the capital reserve, together
with the carrying amount of the liability component at
the time of conversion, is transferred to share capital
and share premium as consideration for the shares
issued. If the bonds is redeemed, the capital reserve is
released directly to retained profits.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

0)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

(iv)  Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount is reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities

simultaneously.

(k) Trade and other receivables

U]

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration is
due. If revenue has been recognised before the group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount

is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective

interest method less allowance for credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the group’s cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow
statement. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for

expected credit losses (‘ECLS”).
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(m) Foreign currency translation

()

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional

and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity 's
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this

translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange

rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in other comprehensive income,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in
profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or

loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
(m) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iij) Translation on consolidation

4. EXGEEREN @

(m) SMEHBE (&
(i) AREIREFHRE

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company’s presentation currency are translated
into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of

financial position;

— Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates for the period (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the exchange rates on

the transaction dates); and

— All resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated

in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of monetary items that form part of the
net investment in foreign entities are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign
operation is sold, such exchange differences are
reclassified to consolidated profit or loss as part of the

gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the

closing rate.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(n)

()

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for

capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on
that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average
of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the
Group that are outstanding during the period, other than
borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining
a qualifying asses. Any specific borrowing that remain
outstanding after the related asset is ready for its intended
use or sale is included in the general borrowing pool for

calculation of capitalisation rate on general borrowings.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in

the period in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the

end of the reporting period.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continuea)
(o) Employee benefits (Continued)
(i) Employee leave entitlements (Continued)

4. ERGHHEEEN @

(o) E&

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity

leave are not recognised until the time of leav

(ii)

Pension obligation
The Group contributes to defined con

e.

tribution

retirement schemes which are available to all

employees. Contributions to the schemes by the

Group and employees are calculated as a percentage

of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit

scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents

contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the

employer MPF contributions expected to be

offsetted

as a deemed employee contribution towards the LSP

obligation in term of HKAS 19 paragraph 93(a) and

it is measured on a net basis. The estimated amount

of future benefit is determined after deducting the

negative service cost arising from the accrued benefits

derived from the Group’s MPF contributions that have

been vested with employees, which are deemed to be

contributions from the relevant employees.

(p) Share-based payments

(p)

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to

certain employees. Equity-settled share-based payments

are measured at the fair value (excluding the effect of non-

market based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments

at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the

grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is

expensed on a straight-line basis over the vestin

g period,

based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually

vest and adjusted for the effect of non-market based

vesting conditions.

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to

certain directors, employees and consultants.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continuea)
(p) Share-based payments (Continued)

4. ERGHHEEEN @

(p) MUERIFHEBRBTR ()

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and
employees are measured at the fair value (excluding the
effect of non-market based vesting conditions) of the
equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair value
determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-
based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares
that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non-
market based vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants are
measured at the fair value of the services rendered or, if
the fair value of the services rendered cannot be reliably
measured, at the fair value of the equity instruments
granted. The fair value is measured at the date the Group
receives the services and is recognised as an expense.

The Group issue of convertible bonds as share-based
payment transactions.

For equity-settled share-based payment transactions, the
entity shall measure the goods or services received, and the
corresponding increase in equity, directly, at the fair value of
the goods or services received, unless that fair value cannot
be estimated reliably.

The liability component (i.e. the bondholder’s right to
demand payment in cash) of the convertible bonds
will be accounted for as a cash-settled share-based
payment transaction while the equity component (i.e. the
bondholder’s right to demand settlement in the Company’s
shares) of the convertible bonds will be accounted for as
an equity-settled share-based payment transaction. The
entity first measures the fair value of the liability component,
and then measure the fair value of the equity component
by taking into account that the bondholder must forfeit
the right to receive cash in order to receive the equity
instrument. Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability
component of the convertible bonds is stated at fair value,
with changes recorded in the income statement. The
equity component is not re-measured subsequent to initial
recognition.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
(g) Taxation ((e)]

4. ERGHHEEEN @

KIE

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit
or loss because of items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits can
be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at
the time of transaction does not give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary different.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(q) Taxation (Continued)

4. ERGHEEEN @

MIE (&)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint arrangements, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary

difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will

be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case
the deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive

income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of

its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends

to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

U]

(s)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to

settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events are also disclosed as contingent

liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified from
the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance
of, the Group’s various lines of business and geographical

locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments
have similar economic characteristics and are similar in
respect of the nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class of customers,
the methods used to distribute the products or provide
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may

be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(s)

(t)

Segment reporting (Continueqd)

Segment assets include all assets but corporate assets
which are not directly attributable to the business activities
of any operating segment are not allocated to a segment,

which primarily applies to the Group’s headquarter.

Segment liabilities exclude corporate liabilities which are
not directly attributable to the business activities of any

operating segment and are not allocated to a segment.

No asymmetrical allocations have been applied to

reportable segment.

Government grants
A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions

attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period to match them

with the costs they are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they become receivable.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(u)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECLs on
investments in debt instruments that are measured at
amortised cost. The amount of ECLs is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial

recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECLs for trade
receivables, if any. The ECLs on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date,

including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises
lifetime ECLs when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk
on the financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss
allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs.

Lifetime ECLs represents the expected credit losses that
will result from all possible default events over the expected
life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECLs
represents the portion of lifetime ECLs that is expected to
result from default events on a financial instrument that are

possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(u)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
Forward-looking information considered includes the future
prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors
operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and
other similar organisations, as well as consideration of
various external sources of actual and forecast economic

information that relate to the Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased

significantly since initial recognition:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal

credit rating;

-  significant deterioration in external market indicators of

credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

— existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to

meet its debt obligations;
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

4. EXGFEEREN @

(u)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor;

—  significant increases in credit risk on other financial

instruments of the same debtor;

— an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic, or technological environment
of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in

the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable

information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A

financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i)  the financial instrument has a low risk of default;

(i) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its

contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash

flow obligations.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(u)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continueq)

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit
risk when the asset has external credit rating of “investment
grade” in accordance with the globally understood definition
or if an external rating is not available, the asset has an
internal rating of “performing”. Performing means that the
counterparty has a strong financial position and there is no

past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past

due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet

either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable.

— when there is a breach of financial covenants by the

counterparty; or

— information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without

taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging

default criterion is more appropriate.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)
(u)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more

events that have a detrimental impact on

the estimated

future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes

observable data about the following events:

— significant financial difficulty of the

counterparty;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or past due

event;

—  the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or

contractual reasons relating to the

issuer or the

counterparty’s

4. EXGFEEREN @

(u)

EHMEERE @)

HEEEREZEZHEE
EREANSEREEMEE (G
RRBEREZEMHF ZBTHEE
AlLIREERE sHEELREER
BZEEEEN NS PJRRHE

financial difficulty, having granted to the counterparty

a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise

consider;

— itis becoming probable that the counterparty will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

—  the disappearance of an active market for that financial

asset because of financial difficulties; or
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(u)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
including when the debtor has been placed under
liguidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or
in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over
two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries

made are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECLs

The measurement of ECLs is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward
looking information as described above. As for the
exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented
by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date;
for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the
amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together with
any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the
future by default date determined based on historical trend,
the Group’s understanding of the specific future financing
needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking

information.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(u)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECLs (Continued)

For financial assets, the ECLs is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the

original effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs in the
previous reporting period, but determines at the current
reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECLs are no
longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs at the current reporting
date, except for assets for which simplified approach was

used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account, and does not reduce the carrying
amount of the financial asset in the statement of financial

position.

155

4. EXGFEEREN @

(u)

EHMEERE @)
STERERFRISERR (&
MERMEEMS > BREEBEEDER
BaNEMAEBNESNRTRE
SEAEERAWEPFTEREAEZE
BUERRMLE WIRRA BRAIFITR

HEERERTARSHEMERTA
RSN EHRREEREZ S8
BEERE ERNEmRSHEEEE
NEERBRREEBRRZ IR BlxE
B ERiR S HEHRAEE 128 B R
EEFEZ TRt BHIEERE LA
5 7 EZ EEMRIN o

FEBEMPAAER TR B FHETR
Bl @ISR TREEEERYER
HEFHARRER BFASNREME
REERMBRRERZIREE



Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2023/2024
— T UEER

—F— =

REELERABIRAT

S

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e SRR M EE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

(v)

Exploration and evaluation assets

These are stated at cost less impairment loss. Exploration
and evaluation assets included topographical and
geological survey drilling, exploratory drilling, sampling
and trenching and expenditure incurred for the technical
feasibility studies and incurred to secure further
mineralisation in the mine ore. Expenditure incurred prior to
obtaining the exploration and evaluation rights to explore
an area are written off as expense as incurred. Once the
technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting
the mineral resource had been determined and that the
project reaches development phase, exploration and
evaluation costs capitalised are amortised. If exploration
property is abandoned during the evaluation stage, the total

expenditure thereon will be written off.

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for
impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the
carrying amounts of exploration and evaluation assets may

exceed its recoverable amount.

Event after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events
are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial

statements when material.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY ESTIMATES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policy information,
which are described in note 4, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may

differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future

periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors
have made the following judgments that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements (apart from those involving estimations,

which are dealt with below).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND

KEY ESTIMATES (continuead)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

(Continued)

(a) Renewal of the Group s exploration permits
As detailed in note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements, certain of the Group’s mining right permits will
be expired within recent few year. The renewal of such are
subject to the discretion of relevant government authorities.
Based on past experience, the directors are of the opinion
that these permits would be renewed successfully. Should
the renewal of these permits were unsuccessful, impairment
on relevant property, plant and equipment and mining rights

related assets arise.

(b) Significant increase in credit risk
ECLs under general approach are measured as an
allowance equal to 12-month ECLs for stage 1 assets, or
lifetime ECLs for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves
to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition. HKFRS 9 does not define what
constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. In assessing
whether the credit risk of an asset has significantly
increased the Group takes into account qualitative and
quantitative reasonable and supportable forward looking

information.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within

the next financial year, are discussed below.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY ESTIMATES (continueaq)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

@

(b)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. Significant estimates are required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax provisions in
the period in which such determination is made. During the
year ended 31 March 2024, approximately HK$10,411,000
(2023: HK$22,924,000) of income tax was charged (2023:

credited) to profit or loss.

Allowance for ECLs of trade and other receivables

Management regularly reviews the impairment of trade
and other receivables to ensure appropriate allowance for
ECLs of trade and other receivables are recognised in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Where differences between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
all cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
Where the future cash flows are less than expected, or
being revised downward due to change in facts and

circumstances, a material impairment loss may arise.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY ESTIMATES (continuead)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b) Allowance for ECLs of trade and other receivables

(@

(Continueq)

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had balances of trade
receivables of approximately HK$29,107,000 (2023:
HK$41,072,000), and other receivables of approximately
HK$6,703,000 (net of allowance for ECLs of approximately
HK$2,503,000) (2023: HK$2,882,000 (net of allowance for
ECLs of HK$4,240,000)).

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

In applying the accounting policy on property, plant and
equipment with respect to depreciation, management
estimates the useful lives of various categories of property,
plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of property,
plant and machinery of similar nature and functions. The
estimated useful lives reflect the management’s estimate of
the period that the Group intends to derive future economic
benefits from the use of the Group’s property, plant and

equipment.
As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of the Group’s

property, plant and equipment was approximately
HK$942,525,000 (2023: HK$681,079,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR e MR M

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND 5. FAfRg:tHETRETEMt @
KEY ESTIMATES (continueaq)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

HEt REAERNERRIE (&
(d) ZRFAREFSEZESLEMLHE

(d) Impairment assessment of the cash generating unit of

gold mining operation

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment,
mining related assets, construction in progress and right-
of-use assets is reviewed for impairment when events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying values
may not be recoverable in accordance with the accounting
policy information as disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements. The recoverable amounts of these
assets, or where appropriate, the cash-generating unit to
which they belong, is the higher of its fair value less costs to
sell and value in use. The Group has to exercise judgment
and make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether
an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect
the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset
can be supported by the recoverable amount, in the case
of value in use, the net present value of future cash flows
which are estimated based upon the continued use of
the asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be
applied in estimating the recoverable amounts including
cash flow projections and an appropriate discount rate.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the assets
belongs. Changing the assumptions and estimates,
including the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the net present

value used in the impairment test.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A H
ARE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY ESTIMATES (continuead)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d) Impairment assessment of the cash generating unit of

(e)

gold mining operation (Continueqd)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, no impairment
losses (2023: Nil) was made on the Group’s property, plant
and equipment, mining rights related assets, construction
in progress and right-of-use assets. As at 31 March 2024,
the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment,
mining rights related assets, construction in progress and
right-of-use assets were approximately HK$942,525,000,
HK$41,624,000, HK$59,131,000 and HK$9,978,000,
respectively (2023: HK$681,079,000, HK$44,124,000,
HK$51,229,000 and HK$10,202,000, respectively).

Mine resources and reserves

Mining rights related assets are amortised over the
estimated useful lives of the mines in accordance with the
production plans of the entities concerned and the mineral
resources and reserves of the mines using the units of

production method.

The process of estimating the quantities of the Group’s gold
reserve and resources is inherently imprecise and represent
only approximate amounts because of the subjective
judgments involved in developing such information based
on available geological, geophysical, engineering and
economic data. These estimates may change substantially
as additional data from ongoing development activities
and production performance becomes available and as
economic conditions impacting mineral prices and costs

change.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR e MR M

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY ESTIMATES (continueaq)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(e) Mine resources and reserves (Continued)

U

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of the
Group’s mining rights related assets was approximately
HK$41,624,000 (net of accumulated amortisation of
approximately HK$25,930,000) (2023: HK$44,124,000
(net of accumulated amortisation of approximately
HK$25,966,000)).

Provision for claims on litigation

When accounting for provision for claims on litigation
against the Group, the Group has taken internal and
external advice in considering known claims and actions
made by or against the Group. It carefully assesses the
likelihood of success of a claim or action. Assessments
and estimations on provisions are made for claims or
actions against the Group on the basis of likely outcome,
but no provisions are made for those which in the view of

management are unlikely to succeed.

No provision (2023: Nil) was made in the consolidated

financial statements in relation to claims on litigation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e SRR M EE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information is reported internally to the board of directors of
the Company (the “Board”), being the chief operating decision
maker, for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment
of segment performance focuses on the types of goods

delivered or services provided.

This is also the basis upon which the Group is organised
and specifically focuses on the Group’s operating divisions.
No operating segments identified by the Board have been

aggregated in arriving at the reporting segments of the Group.

The directors primarily use a measure of profit after tax to assess
the performance of the operating segments. However, the
directors also receive information about the segments’ revenue

and assets on a monthly basis.

The Group has identified the following reportable segments:

(i)  Exploration of gold mine which principally engages in the
operation of exploration, mining, processing and sale of

gold and other metals; and

(i) Corporation which principally engages in investment

holding.
Each of these operating segments is managed separately as
each of the product and service line requires different resources

as well as marketing approaches.

Segment assets and liabilities are allocated based on the

operations of the segments.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea) 6. OEEF @
Segment information by operating segments is presented as SR BI D2 DEERZFUT
follows:
Year ended 31 March 2024 BE_E_NE=H=1+—HLEE
Gold mining Corporate  Elimination Total
=L f1of S Ea k| st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&T FAT FAET FET
Segment revenue: DEBUTA
Revenue for external REINEE P Z W=
customers 722,725 - - 722,725
Gross profit EF 83,829 - - 83,829
Other income HA A 458 535 - 993
Other gains and losses Hhlizm K 518 16,689 22,990 = 39,679
Revesal of ECLs on other 1235 [o] B E fih FE UK BR 1B
receivables BRANTERAE E K518 1,372 365 - 1,737
Operating expenses KEER (11,813) (14,597) - (26,410)
Segment results DEEE 90,535 9,293 - 99,828
Finance costs EE=nN (6,631) (6,745) - (13,376)
Profit before tax BRAR A A 83,904 2,548 - 86,452
Income tax expense Fri8mB (10,411) - - (10,411)
Net profit for the year FERN RN FER 73,493 2,548 - 76,041
Segment assets DEE E 1,403,581 375,479 (350,788) 1,428,272
Segment liabilities HEEE (1,113,639) (458,179) 650,197 (921,621)
Capital expenditure BARS (359,687) (896) - (360,583)
Depreciation and ITEE M igiH
amortisation (45,839) (392) - (46,231)
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AR e SRR M EE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DIEF @
Segment information by operating segments is presented as SR BI D 2 DEERZTUT
follows:
Year ended 31 March 2023 BE_ZE_-F=-A=1+—HIHFE
Gold mining Corporate Elimination Total
=M% pa i Wt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET TFAET TFAET
Segment revenue: DEBUA
Revenue for external REIINEE PR Z W=
customers 153,195 - - 153,195
Gross profit EF 63,309 = = 63,309
Other income HAUA 111 6 - 117
Impairment losses under BEMEWERIEA DY
ECLs on other receivables FBHAEEEIE TN
RIER1E (1,437) (365) - (1,802)
Operating expenses KEER (13,706) (16,312) = (30,018)
Segment results DEEE 48,277 (16,671) = 31,606
Finance costs RS A (8,579) (2,215) - (10,794)
Profit/(loss) before tax BRAGATEF (B518) 39,698 (18,886) - 20,812
Income tax credit FRSIRIK % 22,703 221 = 22,924
Net profit/(loss) for the year ~ FER&EA], (§518) /528 62,401 (18,665) = 43,736
Segment assets DEE EE 869,086 223,112 (185,188) 907,010
Segment liabilities nEEE (639,289) (325,214) 498,124 (466,379)
Capital expenditure BAME (20,479) — - (20,479)
Depreciation and HrEe i
amortisation (838,113) - - (38,113)
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6.
Geographical segments

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong and other

parts of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) whereas the
principal markets for the Group’s products are mainly located in

other parts of the PRC.

Segment information by geographical segments is presented as

DEER @

15 53 25
AEEZEBUANEBRTEAR L
(ehE) HA & > ALBERZ TES
St PE R E -

IS D ERE D 2 DERERIZ2FINT ¢

follows:
2024 2023
—E_NE —EFE =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Segment revenue by location of BERMEMEID 278Uk
customers
PRC, excluding Hong Kong, Macau and HE (FEEEEVEFKRAE
Taiwan 722,725 153,195
Non-current assets ERENEE
PRC, excluding Hong Kong, Macau and FE (FEEEEVEFKRAE
Taiwan 1,052,754 786,634
Hong Kong 58 504 =
1,053,258 786,634

Revenue of approximately HK$723 million (2023: HK$153
million) which arose from sales to the Group’s largest customer.
There are three (2023: one) customers contributed 10% or more

to the Group’s revenues for the year ended of 31 March 2024.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) DEER @
Revenue Wz
Revenue from major customers: KEFERLBWE
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHET
Gold mining segment EBARDE
Customer A ZHRA 437,146 —*
Customer B =FB 123,265 133,683
Customer C EZRC 88,835 s

* The corresponding revenue does not contribute over 10% of the
total revenue of the Group in the respective year.

Except for disclosed above, no other customers contributed

10% or more to the Group’s revenue for both years.
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iR e MR M

REVENUE 7.
Revenue represents the net value of goods sold, net of trade
discounts and returns and various types of government

surcharges where applicable:

Wt

WatEEREERPE (BINRE ST
RERAFEEEZBANINE WER)) :

2024 2023
—E-OE —E=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET FHET
Revenue recognised at a point in time within & R 753k & % 81 551555 85 [&
the scope of HKFRS 15 PO 22 5 ) BE T 52 B9 UK
Sale of gold HEHHERE 621,004 153,195
Sale of other metals HithsEBHIHERR 101,721 =
722,725 153,195
OTHER INCOME 8. HftlgA
2024 2023
—E_@mE TET=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET TFHET
Interest income FEWA 535 39
Government grant (note) BN ERG (2t 369 55
Others HAth 89 23
993 117
Note: ok

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group recognised the
government grants of approximately HK$369,000 (2023: HK$55,000)
in relation to unemployment allowance provided by the Government of
the mainland China. The Group fulfilled all conditions attached to the
subsidies and recognised as other income.
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OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET

0. Hfthlm K E518 - 388

2024 2023
—E-OE —E=

HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET

Loss on disposals of property, HEWZE - BERFZENEER
plant and equipment (16) S

Gain on waiver and written back of other AR A B H R R IER

payables (note) W (MaL) 30,927 =
Loss on early redemption of loan notes RATEBEERRENEE (959) =
Gain on waiver of bond WEEHFHU R 616 -
Change in fair value of convertible bond AR ESNAFEES) 9,111 =
39,679 -

Note: The amount consists of (i) waiver of other payables; and (i) long
outstanding payables written back following the expiration of 6
years from the respective dates on which no claim was made
against the Group for repayment whereby the Group’s obligations
to these payables were relieved pursuant to sections 4(1) and (2)
of Limitation Ordinance (Cap. 347) for simple contract.

FINANCE COSTS

Mia  BRARESENREEMENTRIA ; K
B ENAERREHERERNEBH
FE T REE 2 Bl 09 R HA R AR FE AU RRIE -
BIEMBEROME  AERAEEZSE
FE AT RRIRRY B B AR IR (G 50 B UF B )
(5347%) B4 RGN TR LR -

10. FAE RS

2024 2023

—EME —ET=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHET
Interest on bonds BHHE 508 504
Interest on convertibles bonds AR ESFE 4,067 1,519
Interest on loan notes ERERAE 1,819 =
Interest on borrowings BEEHNE 6,367 8,771
Interest on lease liabilities HEaENE 22 S
Interest on bank overdrafts IRITESZFE 593 -
13,376 10,794
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging the

11. BRI AIER

A5 B 2 RIS ANE N ThE R TR IRES

following: iR !
2024 2023
—EIME 2=
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FHET
Cost of sales & A 638,896 89,886
Auditors’ remuneration Z B EMBN =
Audit services (note j) BIZIRTS (W) 1,430 1,550
Non-audit services JEBIZARTS - =
Amortisation of mining rights related assets ~— ¥*HEREARRE & E# Y (W520))
(note (i) 1,442 4,334
Depreciation on property, plant and ME--BEREREITE
equipment (note (iii)) (B &) 44,243 33,651
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FRARBEEITE 546 128
Short-term lease payments SRR BT 219 862
Equity-settled share-based LU REHURG AERN
payments (note 36) =k (3£36)
Directors ) 664 1,350
Employees (== 452 465
Consultants FAf 190 157
1,306 1,972
Staff costs in administrative expense THEZHPNE T AL (B1FE
including directors’ emoluments: EEH) -
Salaries, wages, allowances and benefits in =~ e~ TE 2 REYH G
kind 10,420 10,390
Retirement benefits scheme contributions IRIRFRA ST EHRR 745 700
Equity-settled share-based payments MR EGEERMDABER ™M 1,116 1,815
Staff costs BT RA 12,281 12,905
Staff costs in cost of sales HERAPWE T A
Salaries, wages, allowances and HE-IE -EHEREYH G
benefits in kind 5,247 657
Retirement benefits scheme contributions BIREFETEHRR 834 111
6,081 768
18,362 18,673
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued) 11. BFIRENEF @
Notes: Biat -
()  Approximately HK$350,000 (2023: HK$350,000) was incurred for ()  #9350,00077T (ZZ = =£F : 350,000787T)
the audit of the Company’s subsidiaries. HAABZHB AR Z BtEE
(i) Approximately HK$1,442,000 (2023: HK$4,334,000) are included ) #91,442,000855 (T2 =4 © 4,334,000
in cost of sales. 70) FTASHE A 0
(i)  Approximately HK$44,082,000 (2023: HK$33,403,000) are (i) #944,082,000/ 750 (ZZ =4 : 33,403,000
included in cost of sales. BTT) ST AHES A
Approximately HK$161,000 (2023: HK$248,000) are included in #9161,000 7T (ZZ Z=1F : 248,000 7T)
Administrative expense. FFAITE RS ©
INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) 12. FR{SIRRZ (%)
2024 2023
—EUE —E=
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET TFET
Current tax - PRC Enterprise Income Tax BJHATRIE— B 2 FR151R
(“PRC EIT”) (THRE = ¥FREM)
Provision for the year REERE 10,411 6,903
Over-provision of previous years BEFERERE - (29,606)
10,411 (22,703)
Deferred tax IRIERRIE
Credited to profit or loss (note 31) F A @ BE31) - (221)
Income tax expense/(credit) Frisinpsx ~ (&%) 10,411 (22,924)
Under the two-tiered Profits Tax regime, the first HK$2 million of RIEFERMART RNEBRIULZ EBERE
profits of the qualifying group entity established in Hong Kong BERE2AEEBITENIZ825% (TTE =
will be taxed at 8.25% (2023: 8.25%), and profits above that F 1 8.25%) BiR > MiBBZ BN AN FA
amount will be subject to the tax rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%). #16.5% (CEZ=1F : 16.5%) BIFR KI5

The profits of the group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered
Profit Tax rate regime will continue to be taxed at a rate of 16.5%

TREFEHR MRS NEBR SIS B
BE1716.5% (CE =4 : 16.5%) MR X

(2023: 16.5%). ﬁo
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iR e MR M

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (Continued)

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for the
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 as the Group did not
generate any assessable profit of its Hong Kong subsidiaries in

Hong Kong.

PRC EIT has been provided at a rate of 25% based on the
assessable profit in accordance with the tax rules and regulations
in the PRC (2023: 25%)).

Pursuant to the (a) Notice of the Continuation of the
Enterprise Income Tax Policy Related with the Western Region
Development”, (b) Measures on Handling of Enterprise Income
Tax Incentives (Revision 2018) and its attached Management
Catalogue of Preferential ltems in Enterprise Income Tax (2017
Edition) (Notice of STA 2018 No. 23), (c) the (i) encouraged
industries in the Guiding Catalogue for Industrial Restructuring
(2019 Edition) (Order of NDRC 2019 No. 29) and the (ii)
industries in the Catalogue of Industries for Encouraging Foreign
Investment (2020 Edition) (Order of NDRC and MOC 2020
No.38) set out in the Catalogue of Industries Encouraged to
Develop in the Western Region (2020 Edition) (Order of NDRC
No. 40), enterprise income tax may be levied at a reduced tax
rate of 156% for enterprises established in the western region and

engaged in encouraged industries.

Taizhou Mining, the Company’s operating subsidiary, has been
granted a reduced EIT rate of 15% from year 2015 to 2024.
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (Continued)
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the applicable EIT
rate of Taizhou Mining has been restored at 15% following the
abovesaid policies from the tax bureau under which Taizhou
Mining could enjoy a reduced EIT rate of 15% from the statutory
EIT rate of 25% for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Measures for the
Management of Accounting Archives issued by the Ministry of
Finance and the National Archives Administration, tax return
of an enterprise shall be stored for a period of 10 years.
According to Article 53 of the Tax Administration and Collection
Law, “tax authorities may within three years collect taxation
and late payment fee if the non-payment or underpayment of
taxes is due to computational errors made by the taxpayer or
withholding agent. The statute of limitations of tax collection
may be extended to five years under special circumstances”.
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group, having
consulted with the legal experts and PRC CPA in the mainland
China, recognised an over-provision of income tax expense in
profit or loss of approximately HK$26,750,000 incurred for the
years from 2008 to 2010 by Taizhou Mining which income tax
filings had exceeded the promulgated retention period of ten
years pursuant to the law enacted in the Mainland China, on the
ground that Taizhou Mining did not receive income tax demand
from the tax bureau and which collection period was also expired
and lapsed. The management considers that it is not probable
that Taizhou Mining would be requested to pay the income tax

expense for the years from 2008 to 2010.
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MIMECMIESH15%  IEIL NEEREZE
TECNERIEI=F=F=+—HIF
B ZREATE B EMSNIRE5%E R
TS IRINZE15%

IRIEM EE R ERER BB ER (F5HESR
BEME) 2 B3R BERMIRBBR AR
FHIZ 105 - IR (RN B IR %) F531% »
MAMMATNHEZ A EIEREFRR
KA M‘%ﬁﬁ% REY > MBI = A
DEBRIR MR M ; BRHRERE B
HHTLXLﬁi‘IEEEJO@i_?__E A
=+—HIFE AERKEHRETEAt
ERERRTEEMRE quEfﬁFé =iy iF
HERAMNEER ST N\EFE_T—TFE
EE’\JFﬁh—ﬁﬁFfﬂiﬂéﬁﬁéﬁm’ﬂ26,750,000%ﬁ ’
ZFFSIM PR EBBREDEAMAMREYE
RRERTFERBHI B AMNIEZEL FUL
FRBRBUFTSIRAIER  BEULHERRTR
BEmRN - BEER A AMIEE KA
WERGHN_ZENEE"T-ZFENFRE
MiFEz °



12.

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2023/2024
AREBSIZERARAT « ZT2= /“ENEER

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR e MR M

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (Continued)

The reconciliation between the income tax (credit)/expense and

12. FRfSIRRSY (8%) @

FRISIR (GE%) FXBZERREAE |

accounting profit at applicable tax rates: A WS 2 AR T
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHET
Profit before tax BRAR AT R 86,452 20,812
Tax at the applicable tax rate in Hong Kong 12 & 8@ B %16.5%
of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) (ZZZ=£F:165%) st&
ZHE| 14,264 3,433
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses RO HIMEALZZRBE T E 902 3,952
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERBBAZRFFFE (3,400) (36)
Over-provision of previous years BEEERERE - (29,606)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries HFEME ARG EER
operating in other jurisdictions B AR FRME L & (1,355) (667)
Income tax expense/(credit) Frisiifasz / (K 5%) 10,411 (22,924)
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13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

(@) Directors

Details of the remuneration of directors of the Company are

as follows:

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1)

of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance are as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2024

13. EFFHHNRILBESHES

(a)

Salaries,
allowance

and benefits

BE
FATERZFHMFBOT

RIFEBATFRAIEI8()FIREZE

EHENOS

BE_Z_NE=A=+—HLFE

Retirement Equity
benefit settled

scheme share-based

Fees in kind contributions payments Total
MEESEE
A i RAEH ROAER
e KRENHE HEEER ARE st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FET FTET FET FET
Executive directors: HMITES !
Li Dahong =Y NN 2,820 - 3 294 3,117
Ma Xiaona B 700 - 18 259 977
3,520 - 21 553 4,094
Independent non-executive BAUFHITES !
directors:
Cheung Wei Hung REE 320 - - 37 357
Guo Wei I 320 - - 37 357
Lam Albert Man Sum MER 320 - - 37 357
960 - - 111 1,071
4,480 - 21 664 5,165
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13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE

HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(@) Directors (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2023

13. EEHRELESHES @

(a)

Salaries,
allowance
and benefits

B\

BE_E_—F=-RA=+—HULFE

Retirement Equity
benefit settled
scheme share-based

Fees in kind contributions  payments Total
DABG tE 4
e 2y BREN ROAER
wE RBYWAME  EMER PANE 4t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FET FET FET FET
Executive directors: BITESE

Li Dahong By N/ 2,820 - 18 600 3,438
Ma Xiaona FE 4T 700 = 18 525 1,243
3,520 - 36 1,125 4,681

Independent non-executive BIIIFFHITESE :

directors:

Cheung Wei Hung R1EIE 320 - - 75 395
Guo Wei hIE 320 - - 75 395
Lam Albert Man Sum R R 320 = = 75 395
960 - - 225 1,185
4,480 - 36 1,350 5,866

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were

for their services in connection with the management of the

affairs of the Company and the Group. The independent

non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were

for their services are directors of the Company and its

subsidiaries.
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AR e SRR M EE

13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE 13. EEFINRELERE I EES @

HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(b) Five highest paid employees
The five highest paid individuals for the year ended 31
March 2024 included two (2023: two) directors whose
remuneration are included above. During the year ended
31 March 2024, there are three (2023: three) highest paid
individuals of the Group had been included in the following
table. The remunerations of the remaining three (2023:

three) individuals were as follows:

b) HEREHES
RBEE_Z_MFE=A=+—HILF
B iAREeHATEERE (C2T=

:ﬂﬁ%)%%w}i ZMEEE8R E
XoHEZZTNNFE=A=+—HIF
= T%’%u%ﬁ%l HCEI=F:
=R) EBEMALBRT=% (CZ2=
F =) ALZBSIT

2024 2023
—E-OE —EC=

HK$’000 HK$’'000

F#ET FHET

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥ 2R R B F] &= 2,095 2,087

Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEIHNR 36 30
Equity-settled share-based payments WS HEAS & LIRS A EEER

R 226 75

2,357 2,192

Their remunerations of the remaining individuals were within

the following band:

BT ALTZMERE U T EE

Number of individuals

A#
2024 2023
—EDME 2=
HK$ Nil to HK$1,000,000 ZAEITTE1,000,00078 7T 3 3
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13. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(b)

(©

Five highest paid employees (Continueqd)

During the year, no remunerations were paid by the
Group to the directors or the highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office (2023: Nil). No directors of
the Company waived or agreed to waive any remunerations

during the year.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other significant transaction, arrangement
and contract in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company was a part and in which a director of the
Company and the director’s connected party had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end

of the year or at any time during the year.

14. DIVIDEND

No dividend has been paid or proposed by the Company for the
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.
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(b)

(©)
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EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is

15.

based on the following:

FhgEF
SREAREEER A HENNTEE

2024 2023
—EmE —B_=H
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET
Earnings BF
Earnings for the purpose of calculating basic FAI st E &R EARZEF IR F)
earnings per share 55,296 26,109
Finance costs saving on conversion of RIMA R IR ESKES
convertible bonds outstanding Z BB Al AR 4,067 =
Change in fair value of convertible bonds AR ESNA T EES) (9,111) =
Earnings for the purpose of calculating BRetEESREERTINEF)
diluted earnings per share 50,252 26,109

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose

of calculating diluted earnings per share is adjusted as follows:

RZ#E

Number of shares

StEESRES RN NS RRINEFHHEE
BIH:

2024 2023
—E_ME —ET=

—= s —

Weighted average number of ordinary shares FR st B SR ERZF
for the purpose of calculating basic earnings  BY& 38 R N F 5
per share

NABEITHEREEEN
BEBEZERNEE

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares
arising from share options issued by the
Company

REBROMRESEEDN
BHBESERNTE

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares
arising from convertible bonds outstanding

5,987,128,640 5,418,415,731

16,290,398 10,892,950

710,382,514 =

Weighted average number of ordinary shares st EESREERF
for the purpose of calculating diluted B & 48 A N0 39 2K

earnings per share

6,713,801,552 5,429,308,681
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. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. Y15 ~ BB K
Furniture,
fixtures
Mine  Plantand and office Motor Construction
properties  machinery  equipment vehicles Sub-total i progress Total
i RER
BENE BERESE  BARE HE Nt EEIR fact

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TETL TEn TER TETL TERL TET

Cost A&
At 1 April 2022 RZE_"#NA—-H 1,098,013 15,806 215 4,184 1,118,218 55,279 1,173,497
Additions RE 13,118 - - - 13,118 - 13,118
Exchange realignment ERER (80,446) (593) ®) (953) (82,000) (4,050) (86,050)
RZE_Z&£=A=1+-Hk
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 “E°-FNA-H 1,030,685 15,213 207 3,231 1,049,336 51,229 1,100,565
Additions RE 172,701 103,314 66,706 4,635 347,356 10,905 358,261
Disposal e - - - (63) (63) = (63)
Exchange realignment EREY (59,906) (1,551) (1,225) @29  (62911) (3003)  (65914)
At 31 March 2024 RZE_ME=B=1+-H 1,143,480 116,976 65,688 1,574 1,333,718 59,131 1,392,849
Accumulated depreciation REHAE
At 1 April 2022 R-E-_FENA-A 345,437 13,063 215 2,439 361,154 - 361,154
Charge for the year ~EETH 33,170 - - 481 33,651 S 33,651
Exchange realignment ERHAE (25,322) (392) ®) (826) (26,548) - (26,548)
RIEZ=#=FA=+-HK
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 “E"=FNA-A 353,285 12,671 207 2,094 368,257 - 368,257
Charge for the year KEETH 36,041 3,308 3,082 912 44,243 - 44,243
Disposal HE - - - (36) (36) o (36)
Exchange realignment ERER (20,282) (321) (495) (173) (21,211) - (21,271)
At 31 March 2024 RZZ_MWE=B=+-H 369,044 15,658 3,694 2,797 391,193 - 391,193
Carrying amount IREE
At 31 March 2024 RZE-ME=A=+—H 774,436 101,318 61,994 4777 942,525 59,131 1,001,656
At 31 March 2023 RZB-=#=A=1+—H 677,400 2,542 - 1,137 681,079 51,229 732,308
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RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. EREEE
The movements in right-of-use assets are as follows: FREEEZEHNT :
Leased Factory
properties lands Total
HEWE B B FA i st
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$’000
FHET TFHET FHET
Right-of-use assets EREEE
At 1 April 2022 RIE__FME—H - 6,768 6,768
Addition RE S 4,057 4,057
Depreciation charge for the year ~ FEFEER S (128) (128)
Exchange realignment bE 2 F - (495) (495)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 W - ZE " =&F=HA=+—HX
—ET=—4mA—H = 10,202 10,202
Addition RE 896 - 896
Depreciation charge for the year ~ FEEITEER (392) (154) (546)
Exchange realignment bE 2 R - (574) (574)
At 31 March 2024 RZEBE_MFE=B=+—H 504 9,474 9,978
The Group leases offices for its operations, which represented as REBEAEEFBHENAE  RTAHEY
leased properties. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term F o MEAAIZE EMIRHET I o MIFEURN
of 2 years. For the lease contracts within 1 year and less than 1 MARENFNEEEGNMS  AEEEE ST
year, the Group recognised as short-term lease payment under BB MR E R
administrative expenses.
The Group’s leasehold interest in factory lands are situated in the AEBPEERMNAERR U P I
PRC and held under 50-year term leases. Lump sum payments DSOS R E RAFRAYIF A o — IR Th 23 EY

were made upfront to acquire these leasehold interests.

SeEFHERamBA Y-

The right-of-use assets of factory lands are amortised based on 5= PR (e R e S EE PRl E AR 8 o

the lease period.
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RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 17. FRAEEE @

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the

lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing

PREBAFANEEEEDREFRERIN
HEWZ A ENEAEMZ2E - HEEETR
SRR EEER

purposes.
2024 2023
—E-mE 2=

HK$’000 HK$'000
TF#T FHET

Interest expense on lease liabilities HEaENHEME
(included in finance costs) GTARE ) 22 =
Expenses related to short term lease SIS RATA EMERANIRE 219 862
Depreciation e 546 128

Lease liabilities of HK$511,000 (2023: HK$NIl) are recognised
with related right-of-use assets of HK$504,000 (2023: HK$NIl) as
at 31 March 2024.
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MINING RIGHTS RELATED ASSETS

AR e SRR M EE

18. FIRIEMERAEE

HK$'000
FHET
Cost D%
At 1 April 2022 RZE-_ W5 —H 86,409
Additions RE 3,304
Disposal or written-off & s (13,298)
Exchange realignment ERRE (6,325)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 MRIE_=Z=%=H=+—HX
—_E-_=f#mWA—H 70,090
Additions RE 1,426
Exchange realignment EERRE (3,962)
At 31 March 2024 RZEZME=A=+—H 67,554
Accumulated amortisation R
At 1 April 2022 RS- —ma—Q 23,344
Provision for the year KEFERE 4,334
Exchange realignment FE R AR (1,712)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 MRIE_=Z=%=H=+—HX
“E-=F#MHB—H 25,966
Provision for the year REEEE 1,442
Exchange realignment ERRE (1,478)
At 31 March 2024 RZZEZWNFE=HA=+—H 25,930
Carrying amounts IREE
At 31 March 2024 RZE_ME=A=+—H 41,624
At 31 March 2023 W_ZE_=F=A=+—H 44,124
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MINING RIGHTS RELATED ASSETS (Continued) 18. HIEREIEREE @

Mining rights related assets represent the cost of exploration
permits and mining rights permits.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group received a
compensation of its withdrawal of an exploration permit with no.
T6100002008054010006667 upon its expiration.

On 14 June 2022, the Group obtained a new mining right permit
with no. C6100002014084120135479, for a period from 14
June 2022 to 14 June 2025. The management enquired the
legal experts in the mainland China and considered that there is
no legal obstruction on the renewal of mining right permit when
expired.
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. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE 19. HEEATNKRE
2024 2023
—E-E ==
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Unlisted investment K IEMEE - _
Details of the Group’s associate at 31 March 2024 are as RIZETWF =B =+—HAEBEHE AT
follows: ZEIBWT

Percentage of

Place of Issued and ownership interest/

incorporation/ registered voting power/ Principal
Name registration capital profit sharing activity

AL BETR FREtERkD R RE
%8 R 3T it B FEfAg s /RS RE AL FEEH
Lvbang Jiexing (Beijing) PRC RMB10,000,000 2024: N/A (2023: 40%) Not yet

Technology Co., Ltd. commence of
business
GHREE LR BRBRARY HE AE®10,000,0000 ZZZTWF  AEA HABABER
(ZZZ=45 1 40%)

*  The company was incorporated on 20 July 2022. The Group did - ZABN _E__Ft B+ HEMAIL
not pay up the registered capital up to its disposal date on 25 BHETE_-_f+A-T+HHMNEERR
October 2023. REEWRFEZMED
The associate was disposed by the Group without any gain or loss HEZZ-MFE=A=+—HILFE  Z
during the year ended 31 March 2024. EATEHAERRE EREMIER °

. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 20. MBAEIER

2024 2023

—E_ME —=E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
TF#T TFHET
Unlisted shares, at cost (note a) JE LMD A AE (W ata) 10 10
Amounts due from subsidiaries (note b) N NI SR )= 30)), 297,699 121,937
297,709 121,047
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20. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 20. ffBAEHER @

None of restricted assets held by the subsidiaries.
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Notes: ByaE
(@)  Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2024 @ MRIZE_NFE=BA=+—HAXRAEANBR
BZ5F1E
Place and date
of incorporation/ Issued and Percentage of
establishment/ fully paid up capital/ equity interest attributable Principal activities
Company name 'I%/pe ﬁ;f C;r;ﬁpa% : re%stereqﬁ capit;sl/ to the Company and place of operations
B AT AR BERTRARR
AT R/ ARER EfEs FOARGREESL  rmgmpasn
2024 2023
—Z-mE B CF
Directly
B
SSC Mandarin Mining Investment  British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited 2 October 2007 USS$1 in Hong Kong
Limited liability Company
SEMNRERE EBRYES RIETZ EBR 100% 100% HEBRELR
BRRAE —_ZTTtE+AZH
BREEAH
T G Capital Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
30 August 2018 in Hong Kong
Limited liabiity Company
ELERBRAT Bh 10,0007 100% 100% EEEREZR
“Z-)\ENB=+H
BREMAT
Indirectly
it
T G Mining Asia Limited Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
9 November 2005 in Hong Kong
Limited liability Company
EERRETHERAR & 2,000,000%7T 100% 100% EEBREER
“ZERE+-AAH
BREEAH
SSC Sino Gold Mining Investment PRC Registered and paid-up 90% 90%  Investment holding
Co., Limited 5 February 2004 capital of US$7,000,000 in the PRC
Sino foreign equity joint venture
NERE (IR BERE HE 7,000,000 s & AR 90% 0% TFEREER
BREBRAH “ZZMEZARA BRRE
THEERE
Taizhou Mining PRC Registered and paid-up 72% 72%  Exploration, mining and mineral
29 June 2004 capital RMB10,000,000 processing in the PRC
Domestic Company
yWIlicES HE A #10,000,0007cE 8 2% 2% THRERE FRREMNT
“ZEMERAZ+AA BARARRE
BRATE
Beijing Huijinfu Technology PRC HK$20,000,000 100% 100% Scientific research and technical
Development Co., Limited 2 September 2022 sevices in the PRC
Domestic Company
IRESERRERARAT HE 20,000,000787T 100% 100% AEIBAREHEN
“Z2-FAACH B
BRAT

MEARBESAEAXRHNEE-
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20.

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continuea) 20. Mt ARHERE @
Notes: Biat -
() The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free b)) EURHBATRIEAEIEF  REKRBRE
and repayable on demand. KIER o
The following table shows information on a subsidiary, Taizhou TRIIRIFAE IR ED (TJEEERER ) m
Mining, that has non-controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the HAERBEAZHNB AT IMNBENS
Group. The summarised financial information represents financial Ro BB RS EE N A T RIESY AT X
information of Taizhou Mining before inter-company eliminations. INFEZE BB E R o
Taizhou Mining
AiMNiEZE
2024 2023
“EINE —E=
Principal place of business/country of FEEEME I ER PRC PRC
establishment == ]| M
% of ownership interests/voting rights  JE¥RREZFRITE 2B E
hold by NCI Hm  BREEESLE
At 31 March R=BA=+—H 28% 28%
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FAT FHET
Non-current assets FERBEE 1,052,753 786,634
Current assets TMENEE 350,392 82,203
Current liabilities pinI =K (379,951) (83,270)
Non-current liabilities ERBAE (770,744) (595,930)
Net assets FEE 252,450 189,637
Accumulated NCI RerIFER R 70,686 53,098
Year ended 31 March: BE=HA=1+—HLEE:
Revenue &= 722,725 153,195
Profit il 74,295 63,254
Allocated to NCI DEEEIEERER 20,803 17,711
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INVENTORIES 2. 78

2024 2023
—E-@mE —EB=

HK$°000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Raw materials R A7l 50,226 95
Work in progress TR 1,193 11,409
Finished goods AL 98,016 5,197
149,435 16,701

The carrying amount of inventories at the end of reporting
period that were carried at cost amounted to approximately
HK$149,435,000 (2023: HK$16,701,000).

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included

in “cost of sales” during the year amounted to approximately
HK$630,032,000 (2023: HK$78,522,000).
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AR e SRR M EE

TRADE RECEIVABLES

22. FENE ZARIE

2024 2023
113 —B”=
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FHET
Trade receivables FEUW B 5 BRI 29,107 41,072

The aging analysis of trade receivables, based on the invoice

date, and net of allowance, is as follows:

Rl B ZREEHGEER RIFEREAH
2 ZERE DI ¢

2024 2023

—_E_mE ==
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
0 to 90 days 0ZF90H 28,568 22,359
91 to 365 days 91ZE365H - 18,134
Over 365 days #BiB365H 539 579
29,107 41,072

Note: The amounts over 365 days was secured by the credit balance
of approximately HK$971,000 (2023: HK$1,029,000) due to the
same individual at the end of reporting period and no impairment
was considered necessary in this respect.
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TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring ECLs which uses a lifetime expected credit loss
allowance for all trade receivables. Individual credit evaluations
are performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain
amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history
of making payments when due and current ability to pay and
take into account information specific to the customer operates.
The credit terms generally range from 30 to 180 days. Each
customer has a maximum credit limit. Overdue balances are

reviewed regularly by the directors.
No impairment loss on trade receivables was recognised for the

year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).

As at 31 March 2024, the trade receivables of approximately
HK$29,107,000 (2023: HK$41,072,000) were pledged to secure

the Group’s borrowings (note 27).
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DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 23. ¥ FANFRIER HithEURERTE
RECEIVABLES
An analysis of deposits, prepayments and other receivables are ¥ FBNFIE R EMERERIBAUT
as follows:
2024 2023
T NE ==
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#HT FHET
Deposits b 981 935
Prepayments (note) AT FRIE (H5E) 121,299 14,145
Other receivables HAth FEUGRIE 9,206 7,122
131,486 22,202
Less: impairment losses under ECLs of B HtEWERIBTERREE
other receivables 18 T RYBERS 18 (2,503) (4,240)
128,983 17,962
Note: As at 31 March 2024, the prepayments represent the ik i;%;@i;é;g—gjﬁﬁfxﬁﬁ
) : EEBEEESBIRNRMTEN HH
advance pa.yment to the Grc?ups vehdor for purchasing FE R0 75 R4 5825 49110,355, 0003551
raw materials of gold refinery with an amount of (CEo—4E  EHT) o
approximately HK$110,355,000 (2023: HK$ Nil).
The fair values of deposits, prepayments and other receivables e -aNMAFIELEEMERIRIE, A E(EH
approximate their carrying amounts. HIREEEE
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DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 23. & A EIE R A EURERIE
RECEIVABLES (Continued) =)

The movement in the impairment losses under ECLs of other
receivables is as follows:

i IR BT AR S AR TRV EAE
SEINT

2024 2023

T NE “E=fF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHT TFAET

At the beginning of the year REY] 4,240 2,438
(Reversal)/provision of ECLs HithEWIRIETEIAE BR8N

on other receivables (o) e (1,737) 1,802

At the end of the year AR 2,503 4,240

During the year ended 31 March 2024, reversal of ECLs on
other receivables of approximately HK$1,737,000 was provided
(2023: provision of ECLs HK$1,802,000). As at 31 March 2024,
the carrying amount of other receivables, net of allowance was
HK$6,703,000 (2023: HK$2,882,000).

193

BE_Z_NME-RBA=+—HIEE #
CIEMEWEKRENEREEFEERY
1,737,000/87T (CEZ=F : FBREEGEE
#1,802,000/870) - B _NE=ZB=+—
B> EMEWREREEEE (0%EE) 5
6,703,000/ 70 (ZE2 =4 : 2,882,000/ 7T) ©



24,

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2023/2024

AEESERARAR « _T-= /"

MU 4R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e SRR M EE

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND
BANK BALANCES

The Group’s pledged bank deposits represented deposits
pledged to the bank to secure banking facilities granted to
the Group as set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements. These deposits are subject to regulatory restrictions

and are therefore not available for general use by the Group.

As at 31 March 2024, approximately HK$46,125,000 (2023:
HK$12,523,000) of the Group’s cash and bank balances were
denominated in RMB which is subject to exchange control
restrictions imposed by the Government of the PRC. Included
that, HK$Nil (2023: HK$Nil) were short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in

value.

However, under the PRC’s foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulation, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign

business.
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LEASE LIABILITIES 25. HEAR
Present value of
Minimum lease payments minimum lease payments
RIEREMTR RIEHENHNRE
2024 2023 2024 2023
—ZmE “ECCE k115 -t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT FTAET FTET FAT
Within one year R—ER 465 - 453 =
More than one year, BE—F BFBERNE
but not exceeding two years 58 - 58 S
523 - 511 -
Less: Future finance charges B R BER N/A N/A
(12) - TER TEA
Present value of lease obligations ~ FEEZEHHIEE 511 - 511 -
Less: Amount due for settlement B ER12ER AEER
within 12 months R (453) =
Amount due for settlement after 12 FER 121 B B E RIS
months 58 =
All lease liabilities are denominated in HKS$. FrEfREa @ LUBTsHE.
The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities is 4% BERHAESENESEINESI% CF
(2023: Nil). —=F =
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TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

A 75 ¥R R M 5E

26. FE11E 5 RIER H it (IARIE

2024 2023
—E-OE —E=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET
Current portion ENEAER
Advance from customers ERBXR - 98
Trade payables ET B SRR 96,994 12,259
Accruals FEETER 3,059 7,026
Payment for shares subscription received in ~ FEUWEREE IS 1A BRI =X
advance 21,000 -
Other payables HanpEIARIB 9,126 18,068
Salary and benefits payables AN AN =l 2,569 9,554
132,748 47,005
Non-current portion JEBNHRER &
Other payables HhpE IR 345,112 37,994
477,860 84,999

As of the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of trade

payables based on the demand note date, is as follows:

BERSHR BUBZRNEERENS

HEAZSAIERE DA

2024 2023
“EE —E=

HK$’000 HK$’000

F#ET FHET

0 to 90 days 0Z90H 96,188 8,043
91 to 365 days 91%365H - 3,363
Over 365 days 3650 E 806 853
96,994 12,259
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BORROWINGS 27. 68
2024 2023
—E-OE —E”=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET
The Group’s borrowings were repayable Z&EEEEENESMT !
as follows:
Amount due within one year included in FIAREBBEE FR—FRN
current liabilities E|Hi > #IE - 7,333
Amount due after one year included in non-  FIAIEREIBEBIEFR—F%
current liabilities EIfRZ 18 238,400 302,966
238,400 310,299

As at 31 March 2024, included in the Group’s borrowings were
interest-bearing borrowings of approximately HK$123,231,000
(2023: HK$187,363,000) which arranged at interest rates
ranging 4.35%-5% (2023: 4.35%-5%) per annum. The remaining
borrowings are interest-free and repayable after one year which

based on debtors declaration.

Included in the Group’s interest-bearing borrowings of
approximately HK$116,708,000 (2023: HK$87,068,000) were
secured by the Group’s rights of collection from its customers
(note 22). During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023,
the Group entered into a security arrangement and transferred
the rights of collection of the Group’s trade receivables to
a financer under which the significant risks relating to these
receivables would be passed to the financer and would deduct
corresponding uncollected trade receivables from the pledged
borrowings when the corresponding trade receivables could not

be recovered.

The above borrowings are carried at amortised cost and the

carrying amounts of borrowings approximate to their fair value.
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BONDS 28. {855

On 30 April 2008, the Company issued convertible bonds
with an aggregate value of HK$806,400,000 (the “2008 CB”)
with maturity date of 30 April 2013 for partial settlement of
the consideration for the acquisition of SSC Mandarin Mining
Investment Limited and its subsidiaries. Upon the maturity of the
2008 CB on 30 April 2013, the 2008 CB became bonds and
payable on demand. The outstanding bonds is charged at 5%

per annum.

RIZEN\FENB =18 AATEITHEE
806,400,000 7T 2 FI#ARR B (F_gg/\i
AlRES) R _2—=EmA=+0%
H) o LUS USRI E B R AF]
REMBAGSZHANRE —2T/\FrR
RESN -_Z—=FNA=+HEHE =
BT )\ FrRRES L AES T BRER
o B ARMEIE Y BS G B FES%IE o

Movements of the bonds are set out below: EEZEBEFHMEFHUWT

2024 2023
—TmE —=ZZ=

HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET FET
At 1 April RUA—H 14,342 13,838
Interest charged FMEZH 508 504
Waliver of interest and principal RNER B REAS (616) =
At 31 March R=B=+—H 14,234 14,342

The fair value of the bonds at 31 March 2024 amounted to
approximately HK$14,234,000 (2023: HK$14,342,000).
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CONVERTIBLE BONDS
On 15 August, 20283, the Company issued convertible bonds
(“2023 CB”") with a principal amount of HK$130,000,000 to an
independent third party and interest bearing at 5% per annum of
the outstanding principal amount.

The bondholder has the right to convert the principal amount
of 2023 CB into shares at the conversion price during the
conversion period (subject to adjustment in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the convertible bonds). Any conversion
will be in whole or in part in the principal amount of 2023 CB in
multiples of HK$5,000,000.

The 2023 CB are convertible from the seventh day after the
issue date of the 2023 CB to the seventh day before the maturity
date 15 August 2025 at the option of the bondholder. The initial
conversion price was HK$0.115 per share. Based on the initial
conversion price, the 2023 CB are converted into 1,130,434,783
new shares to be issued upon conversion of the convertible
bonds (subject to adjustments).

The 2023 CB contains two components, the liability and equity
components.

The initial fair value of the liability component was estimated to
be approximately HK$118,124,000 as at 15 August 2023 (date
of issue) using the residual method, taking into account the
terms and conditions of the 2023 CB, based on the valuation
undertaken by an independent professionally qualified valuer. The
fair value of the Issuer Redemption Option A on the date of initial
recognition are considered insignificant. The liability component

is stated at fair value.

The 2023 CB were accounted for as share-based payment
transactions for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment.
The residual amount representing the value of equity component
recorded in equity under “convertible bonds reserve”.
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. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued) 29. ARG @

The movement of the convertible bonds for the year is set out REERIRRES 2 EBEHIWT -
below:

HK$’000

FHET
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RIE_=ZF=ZA=+—HX
“ET=HMA—H

Issued during the year RERNET 118,124
Interst expense FEHEZ 4,067
Change in fair value N EES) (9,111)
At 31 March 2024 R_Z_NME=F=+—H 113,080

200



29.

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2023/2024
AREBSIZERARAT « ZT2= /“ENEER

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR e MR M

CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

The interest charged for the year is calculated by applying an

interest rate of 5% on the principal amount of the 2023 CB.
As at 31 March 2024, the fair value of 2023 CB liability

component was approximately HK$113,080,000.

The key assumptions used in determining the fair value of 2023

CB as at its issuance date and year ended date are as follows:

20, AIHARG(ESS @
AW R S — B = = E iR
R fE% > A S 3B FS%IFIR -

RIE-_WNE=A=+—8> "8 _=F7
B ESFEEID B AT EA49113,080,000
BT

EE_T_=FrRRESFIHEETRR
FREBOATEFFRBZBRERRNT

15 August 31 March
2023 2024
ZEZ= ZEIME
NB+HH =RA=+—H
As at issue date REE4TBEA

Stock price of ordinary share of the Company Z<A S & @RI E 0.118 0.173

Exercise price per ordinary share of BRARBEEBRNITEE
the Company 0.115 0.115
Expected volatility TARRREN K 90.59% 89.62%
Expected life TEHR AR AR 2 1.38
Risk free rate R A = 4.69% 4.45%
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LOAN NOTES 30. EMER
2024 2023
—E_NE —E=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT TFAET
At 1 April rHEA—H = =
Fair value of loan notes on initial recognition ~ ¥JAREREFERNZHERATFE 36,330 -
Repayment B8 (14,600)
Redemption during the year REREE[D 959 -
Effective interest expenses FRAEME 1,819 =
At 31 March R=B=+—H 24,508 =
Analysed for reporting purpose as: MBEREDTA
Current liabilities MENEE = =
Non-current liabilities eI = N 24,508 -
24,508 -

On 15 August 2023, the Company has issued a trench of loan
note with principal amount of HK$40,000,000 to an independent

third party.

The loan notes with terms of 2 years from the date of issuance
and bears interest rate at 5% per annum which are payable
on maturity date and the Company repaid the principal of
approximately HK$14,600,000 before 31 March 2024.

The loan notes are initially measured at fair value and
subsequently measure at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method, The effective interest rate of the loan notes is

10.02% per annum.
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DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 31. IEIERIER(R
The balance comprise temporary difference attributable to: B BRI B IEREL 2 R AR
2024 2023
—E-MmE —E=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT TFAET
Movement: EhE .
At 1 April KEA—H - 221
Credited to profit or loss (note 12) FFAIE @ (BaE12) - (221)
At 31 March W= =+—H - =
At the end of the reporting period the Group has no unused tax REREIAR  AEE MR BrERHER R
losses (2023: Nil) available for offset against future profits. Mz RKBARIERE CET=F . ) o
BANKING FACILITIES 32. IRITIEEER
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group obtained bank HEZWE=—RB=+—HILFE K&
overdraft facilities from a bank to the extent of HK$20,000,000, B #R171520,000,00078 TR T3H 2 28
secured by the fixed deposits of HK$20,000,000 and bearing £ > 420,000,000 7t E BiEREA TR
interest at prime+0.5% per annum. FHEABREENZENM05%
As at 31 March 2023 and 2024, none of the abovesaid banking HE _ S _=FK_E_NE=H=+—
facilities were utilised by the Group. B> ANEE I KREB LR TEEEH]
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SHARE CAPITAL 33. g7
2024 2023
ko113 _To=E
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
e B 8B &8
HK$’000 HK$'000
AT TET
Authorised (HK$0.001 each): AT (BREE.001 87T |
At 1 April RMuBE—H 160,000,000,000 160,000 2,666,666,666 160,000
Capital reorganisation BAEA - - 157,333,333,334 -
At 31 March R=B=+—H 160,000,000,000 160,000 160,000,000,000 160,000
Issued and fully paid BETRAE BREE
(HK$0.001 each): 0.00187T)
At 1 April REA—H 5,987,128,640 5,987 1,496,782,160 89,807
Capital reorganisation (note (a)) BAER (M5EQ) - - - (88,310)
Issuance of shares upon rights issue AR ES B 217 RR 1% (b))
(note (b)) - - 4,490,346,480 4,490
At 31 March R=B=+—H 5,987,128,640 5,987 5,987,128,640 5,987
Notes: BysE
(@ On 28 January 2022, a special resolution has been passed by the @ WRIEBE__F—H_-+/N\B> XA TKRE

shareholders of the Company for a capital reorganisation which
involves capital reduction. The par value of each of the issued
shares of the Company of HK$0.06 each (the “Existing Share(s)”)
is reduced from HK$0.06 to HK$0.001 of paid-up capital on each
issued Existing Share, then Existing Share by cancelling the paid
up share capital to the extent of HK$0.059 per issued Existing
Share by way of a reduction of capital, so as to form issued shares
with par value of HK$0.001 each. The capital reorganisation is
completed on 8 April 2022. Details of the capital reorganisation are
set out in the Company’s announcement dated on 10 April 2022
and the circular of the Company dated on 26 January 2022.

On 17 May 2022, the Company issued a total of 4,490,346,480
new Shares on the basis of three rights shares for every
one existing shares on the Company at a subscription price
of HK$0.035 each. The proceeds from the Placement was
approximately HK$152,672,000, deducting directly attribute costs
of approximately HK$4,441,000, the net proceeds approximately
HK$148,231,000 was credited to Company’s share premium.
Details of the Placement were disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 17 May 2022 and the circular of the
Company dated 26 January 2022.
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34. RESERVES
(@ Group

(b)

iR e MR M

34. f#fHE
(a) &=

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements

therein for the current and prior years are presented in the

REBFEBHTREURN A EE KBTS
|=d= R AR PESR R = oo

consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 112 EmEBRANET] o
and 113.
The Company (b) Z&AF
Convertible Share
Share bonds option  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
ik
fin 61 BHGE  ERERE ZHER Eh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TEr TEn TR TR
As at 1 Apri 2022 RoEZZEMA—A 1,842,983 12,543 _ (1951652 196,126)
Loss for the year FEBE - - - (28,701) (28,701)
Share option granted ERHNERE - - 1,072 - 1,072
Capital reorganisation BREAR 88,310 = = = 88,310
Issuance of shares upon PEEEETRN
rights issue 152,672 - - - 152,672
Share issue expense e (4,441) = = = (4,441)
Transfer of convertible bonds RERI AR ERR
reverse upon redemption of B ESED
convertible bonds - (12,543) - 12,543 -
As at 31 March 2023 and RZB_=F
1 April 2023 =B=+-Bk
Z2Z-£MB—H 2,079,524 - 1,972 (1,967,810) 113,686
Profit for the year EERR - - - 8,846 8,846
Cancellation of share option SR E - - (1,500) 1,500 -
Issue of convertible bonds ETuRES - 15,546 - - 15,546
Share option granted BREAERE - - 1,306 - 1,306
As at 31 March 2024 RIE-RE
=B=1+-H 2,079,524 15,546 1,778 (1,957,464) 139,384
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34. RESERVES (continued)
(b) The Company (Continued)

()

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Share premium

Under section 34 of the Companies Law (Revised) of
the Cayman lIslands, the share premium is available for
distribution to shareholders subject to the provisions
of the articles of association of the Company and no
distribution may be paid to shareholders out of the
share premium unless, immediately following the date
on which distribution or dividend is proposed to be
paid, the Company shall be able to pay its debts as

they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises
all foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance
with the accounting policies set out in note 4(m) to the

consolidated financial statements.

Convertible bonds reserve

The convertible bonds reserve represents the value
of the unexercised equity component of convertible
bonds issued by the Company recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted
for convertible bonds in note 4(j)(ii) and 4(p) to the

consolidated financial statements.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve represents the fair value of
the actual or estimated number of unexercised share
options granted to employees and other participants
other than employees of the Group recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
equity-settled share-based payments in note 4(p) to

the consolidated financial statements.
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EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Defined contribution retirement plan

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to join
the MPF Scheme, a defined contribution scheme managed
by an independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, each
of the Group and its Hong Kong employees makes monthly
contributions to the scheme at 5% (2023: 5%) of the employees’
earnings as defined under the Ordinance. Both the Group’s and
the employees’ contributions are subject to a cap of HK$1,500
(2023: HK$1,500) per month and thereafter contributions are
voluntary. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently-administered fund.
The Group’s contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Pursuant to the regulations in the PRC, the employees in the
PRC are required to join the pension fund which is a defined
contribution scheme operated by the local government for
the benefit of retired employees. The Group is required to
make monthly contributions to the scheme at a specified rate
of the employee payroll to fund the retirement benefits of the

employees.
Save as disclosed above, the Group has no other obligations

to make payments in respect of retirement benefits of the

employees.
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants include the full-time and part-
time employees, executives, officers, directors, business
consultants, advisers, agent, contractors, customers, suppliers
and shareholders of the Company and the Company’s
subsidiaries. The Scheme became effective on 27 September
2021 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in

force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 30% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. The maximum number of shares
issuable under share options to each eligible participant in the
Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of
shares options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’

approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates
or to consultants, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive directors. In addition, any share
options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the
price of the Company’s shares at the date of the grant) in excess
of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to

shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
28 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the board
of directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and
ends on a date which is not later than three years from the
date of the offer of the share options or the expiry date of the

Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of
the offer of the share options; (i) the average Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the offer; and (iii) the nominal
value of the Company’s shares on the date of the offer, when

applicable.

Share options do not confer rights on the holder to dividends or
to vote at shareholders’ meetings. Each option gives the holder
the right to subscribe for one ordinary share in the Company and

is settled gross in shares.
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36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

The movements in share options granted under the Scheme
during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 are shown

Utk

36. UBRIR RBERERI IR @

REE_Z_

e

e

HIEFERBRES 8 TR E 2 B

below: EhEHINT
Number of share options
REREHE
Exercise price
At Granted  Exercised Expired Reclassified Lapsed  Cancelled At31 of share
Name of category 1 April during during during during during during March options
of participants 2023 the year the year the year the year the year the year 2024 Date of granted Validity period HKS per share
-8_= RER RER RER RER REN ZFZRE BRETER
SEEERLE mA-A i ffe I EEOE  REARL ## =A=t-H #&¥RE BHE B/ |
Director
B2
Li Dahong 23948516 23,948,516 = = = - (28948516) 23948516  31-8-23 31-8-23-30-8-33 0.117
EY VA
Ma Xiaona 20,954,950 20,954,950 = = = - (20954,950) 20954950  31-8-23 31-8-23-30-8-33 0.117
B
Guo Wei 2993564 2,993,564 - - - - (2993564 2993564  31-8-23 31-8-23-30-8-33 0117
Eif
Lam Albert Man Sum 2993564 2,993,564 - - - - (2993564 2993564  31-8-23 31-8-23-30-8-33 0117
HER
Cheung Wai Hung 2993564 2,993,564 - - - - (2993564 2993564  31-8-23 31-8-23-30-8-33 0117
e
Sub-total 53,884,158 53,884,158 = = = - (63,884,158) 53,884,158
gt
Employees in aggregate 19,584,000 - - - - - - 19684000  24-5-22 24-5-20-23-5-32 0.088
BIZH
5987128  5987,128 - - (2,993,564 - (5%87,128) 2993564  31-8-23 31-8-23-30-8-33 0117
Sub-total 26571128 5987128 - - (2,993,564) - (5,987,128 22,577,564
Dt
Consultants
B
Bilion Winning Holdings
Ltd. 9,792,000 - - - - - - 9792000 24-5-22 24-5-22-23-5-32 0.088
EBERAE
Zhang Jiying TRER - = - - 2993564 - - 2993564  31-8-23 31-8-23-30-8-33 0117
Sub-total 9,792,000 - - - 2993564 - - 12,785,564
gt
Total 89,247,286 59,871,286 - - - - (69,871,280) 89,247,286
@&t
Exercisable at the end
of the year 89,247,286
ERATE
Weighted average
exercise price (HK9) 0.198 0.117 - - - - 0.252 0.144
MEFSTEE (E7)
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36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

36. UBRIR RBERERI SR @

Number of share options
EREXE
At Granted Exercised  Reclassified Lapsed At 31 Exercise price
Name of category 1 April during during during during March of share options
of participants 2022 the year the year the year the year 2023  Dateof granted  Validity period HKS per share
HE HE
ZBICE RER RER RER RER  ZBIZF BRETRR
SHEERLE mE—H b f1f ENNE &t =ZA=t+-A #KTAH B A/
Director
2
Li Dahong - 23948516 - - - 23948516 29-9-22 29-9-22-28-9-32 0252
EYVA
Ma Xiaona - 20,954,950 - - - 2094950 29922 29-9-22-28-9-32 0252
EEH
Guo Wei - 2,993,564 - - - 2993564 29-9-22 29-9-22-28-9-32 0252
Elj
Lam Albert Man Sum - 2,993,564 - - - 2993564 29-9-22 29-9-22-28-9-32 0252
HER
Cheung Wai Hung - 2,993,564 - - - 2993564 29-9-22 29-9-22-28-9-32 0252
i
Sub-total - 53884158 - - - 53884158
s
Employees in aggregate - 19,584,000 - - - 19584000  24-5-22 24-5-22-23-5-32 0.088
BIZ:
- 5,987,128 - - - 597,128 29-9-22 29-9-22-28-9-32 0252
= 25,571,128 = = = 25,571,128
Consultant
B
Bilion Winning Holdings Ltd. - 9,792,000 - - - 9792000  24-5-22 24-5-22-23-5-32 0.088
BREBERAR
- 89247286 - - - 89,247,286
Exercisable at the end
of the year 89,247,286
ERATE
Weighted average exercise price (HK9) - 0.198 - - - 0.198

IETIGRE (B
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 36. U BB @

Details of the share options outstanding as at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

BERREIR > HARTTEOBREFEL
T

Number of
options Date of granted Vesting date Exercise period Exercise price
BREHE ®FAB £¥EH TH#BE 1TREER
HKS
BT
May 2022 29,376,000 24 May 2022 24 May 2025 24 May 2025 to 0.088
23 May 2032
TR "FRA 29,376,000 —ZEZH “EThHE “ECHFRRTWAE 0.088
HAZ+HH HAZ+HH 2= FHAZ+=H
August 2023 59,871,286 31 August 2023 31 August 2026 31 August 2026 to 0.117
30 August 2033
“BT=F)\A 50,871,286 —EI=f =y “BECRENB=+—RHE 0.117
NA=+—H NA=+—H E==fFN\A=+H

The fair value of share options were calculated using Binomial
Model. The inputs into the model were as follow:

BRREATEDEAASEL R EE
o B AL B A T TS

24 May 31 August

2022 2023

HFA=+MmH NB=+—8H

Risk-free rate (%) 15 B B M) 2R (%) 2.765 3.796

Expected life of options (years) BIRETEEIA AR (F) 10 10

Expected dividend vield (%) TEHAAR B 2 (%) 0 0

Expected volatility (%) TEHRR N (%) 78.595 74.288
Price of the Company’s share at the date KABIRDPIEH B RE

of grant (HK$ per share) Bt/ 1) 0.088 0.117

Estimate fair value at measurement date PRSI AGATE
(HK$) (BT 1,700,000 5,005,039

The expected life of the options is not necessarily indicative
of the exercise patterns that may occur, which is based on
the terms and conditions of the share options. The expected
volatility is based on the historic volatility of the share prices of
the Company as extracted from publicly available information.
Expected dividends are based on historical dividends. Changes
in the subjective input assumptions could materially affect the fair
value estimate.

a2

BRENTRAAIAT —ER T REEEN
TR ZFREAERBRERIRRAME
- FRERRB R BN ARE S PRHAE
ANBRBRIEEIRNENTR - TR B A E LR
BRRE - THBARKRNECRIEH AT
BERFTEEERTE-
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continuea)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, 59,871,286 (2023: Nil)
share options with exercise price of HK$0.252 were cancelled.
While share options of 59,871,286 (2023: 89,247,286) with
exercise price of HK$0.117 (2023: HK$0.088) per share were
granted on 31 August 2023.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into
the measurement of fair value. At the end of the reporting period,
the Company had 89,247,286 (2023: 89,247,286) share options
outstanding under the Scheme.

At the date of approval of these financial statements,
the Company had 89,247,286 (2023: 89,247,286) share
options outstanding under the Scheme, which represented
approximately 1.5% (2023: 1.5%) of the Company’s shares in
issue as at that date.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, there were 89,247,286
(2023: 89,247,286) share options granted and approximately
HK$1,306,000 (2023: HK$1,972,000) were recognised to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

LEASE COMMITMENTS

The short-term lease for the offices which are regularly entered
into by the Group during the year ended 31 March 2024. As
at 31 March 2024, the outstanding lease commitments is as

follows:

HA 75 ¥ 2R B 5E

36.

37.

B AR A ERBIR @
BE_ZT-_NF=B=+—HILFE>
59,871,286 (ZE_=4 : Z) (THEA
0.252 B TR W T - N 22 2=
NB=+—H>59,871,286(3 (ZE_=4:
89,247,2861%) 1TEERE R 1H0.11757T
(CEZ=4 1 0088870 HIIEIRERIRH

EEERENEMSERAARFENE
S HERSHR AAREREAETERT
TERIEBRRTE 480,247,286 (B =4 :
89,247,286(#) ©

RAFBRFMEZ B> &N B B2
TRFITENEREARB9,247,28615 (ZF
T =1F 1 89,247,286(%) » -9 A AR BN B
BTN 5% (CE_=4F 1 15%) ©

BEZWFE=FB=+—HIFE &2
)98 H BB PG 189,247 28610 (T =
89,247,2861%) » ir & tBm <MY 4Y1,306,000
BT (CET=4 11,972,00087T) °

HExRE
BHEZZWF=A=+—HIFE &&
EEAMBAET U EHREG - RS MY
F=RB=1—H > RXMEEREEENT :

2024 2023

“EmEF —B=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHT FHET

Within one year —FRN - 373
In the second to fifth year, inclusive BFEELE (BEEEMS) - 56
- 429
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s major financial assets and liabilities include cash and
bank balances, bonds, borrowings, trade and other receivables,
as well as trade and other payables. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments and the policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate

measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(@) Foreign exchange risk
The Group’s monetary assets and transactions are
principally denominated in HK$ and RMB which are two
functional currencies of the Group’s entities. Foreign
exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions
and recognised assets and liabilities denominated in a
currency that is not the functional currency of the relevant
group entity. The Group adopted a conservative treasury
policy with most of the bank deposits being kept in HKS$ or
RMB, or in the local currencies of the operating subsidiaries

to minimise exposure to foreign exchange risk.

The Group has certain investments and operations in the
PRC, whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency
translation risk. Currency exposure arising from the net
assets of the Group’s operations in the PRC is managed

primarily through operating liabilities denominated in RMB.

To date, the Group has not entered into any hedging
transactions in an effort to reduce the Group’s foreign
currency exchange risks. However, the management
continues to monitor the foreign exchange exposure
regularly and will consider hedging significant foreign

currency exposure should the need arise.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(@)

(b)

Foreign exchange risk (Continueq)

A reasonably possible increase of 5% in exchange
rates between RMB and HK$ respectively, with all other
variables held constant, will lead to an decrease/increase
of approximately HK$14,686,000 of the Group’s profit/loss
before tax (2023: HK$1,341,000) mainly arising from that

the Group has certain exposure to foreign currency risk.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily
from its borrowings and bank deposits. Borrowings at fixed

rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

The Group currently does not have any interest rate
hedging policy. The management monitor the Group’s
exposure on ongoing basis and will consider hedging

interest rate risk should the need arise.

Except as stated above, the Group does not have other
significant interest-bearing assets and liabilities at the end
of reporting period, its income and operating cash flows are

substantially independent of changes in market interest risk.

Sensitivity analysis on cash flow interest-rate risk has not
been presented as the reasonably possible changes in
market interest rate will not have significant impact on the

Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea) 38. MHERARERE @
(c) Credit risk (c) EERKR
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet FEERRISASFSEEETEMITA

its obligations under a financial instrument or customer
contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed
to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade and
other receivables) and from its financing activities, including
deposits with banks and financial institutions, foreign
exchange transactions and other financial instruments. The
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents is limited because the counterparties are banks
and financial institutions with high credit-rating assigned
by international credit-rating agencies, for which the Group

considers to have low credit risk.

The Group does not provide any financial guarantees which

would expose the Group to credit risk.

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables and
bank balances included in the consolidated statement
of financial position represents the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to the Group’s financial

assets.

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has policy in
place to develop and maintain the Group’s credit risk
grading to categories exposures according to their degree
of risk of default. The Group uses publicly available financial
information and own historical repayment records to rate
its major debtors. The Group’s exposure and the credit
rating of its counterparties are continuously monitored and
the aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread

amongst approved counterparties.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(c) Credit risk (Continued)
For trade and other receivables, the directors make periodic
collectively assessments as well as individual assessment

on the recoverability of trade and other receivables.

The following table provides the information about the
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
receivables as at 31 March 2024 and 2023:

38. MHERAREIRE @

(©

FERRE #@)

B 7 EUIRIE R HMEWIRIEM =
EETHHEZRURERE MR
TRRYP] U (o] M 1T SRS 5T 14 K B Al 5T
flge

TRIEMARLTERN S _NEKR_
T —F=HA=+—HEZREKREE
EREATEIREERENER

2024 2023

—E_ME ==
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
1-30 days past due #IEA1Z308 28,568 22,359
31-60 days past due #HEA31ZE60H - -
61-90 days past due AEA61ZE90H - S
More than 90 days past due A HAB 4590 H 539 18,713
29,107 41,072

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the management of the
Group entered into a security arrangement and transferred
the rights of collection of the Group’s trade receivables to
a financer under which the significant risks relating to these
receivables had been passed to the financer, therefore, no
allowance for trade receivable was recognised during the
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 (note 22).
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Other receivables

The following table provides information about the Group’s

exposure to credit risk and ECLs for other receivables

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continuead)
(c) Credit risk (Continued)

38. MAT5 A

IR @)

) EERRE #@)
At EWARE
TRERAEERES
RERMHE MR BN TR EEE

SR B RIEERRE

which has significant increase in the credit risk: Ei=IN
2024 ZEZmE
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
Internal credit rating AEBIS E T4 FTEEARSIE X ERE4E{E E51E 1A
% HK$’000 HK$’000
% FHT T#T
Stage 1 F—PEER - 4,238 -
Stage 2 5T MEES 2.57 2,530 65
Stage 3 % = PEER 100 2,438 2,438
9,206 2,503
2023 B =
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
Internal credit rating M &S ESTAR SEEE)SE S ES REARE it g
% HK$ 000 HK$’000
% FAET FHET
Stage 1 F—PEER 38.47 4,684 1,802
Stage 2 5 PEER - - -
Stage 3 HEPEER 100.00 2,438 2,438
7,122 4,240
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c) Credit risk (Continued)

Other receivables (Continued)

Movement in the allowance for other receivables measured

at amortised cost:

38. MHERAREIRE @

(©

FERRE &
Rt fEWARE ()

R A R EL AR R

) !

Other receivables

HithFEULARIE
Lifetime
12-month ECLs Credit
ECLs impaired Total
2HATEHA
1218 B 78 5 EEE1R
8511 E8ERE fst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR FRET
At 1 April 2022, 31 March ~ RZZZ"&HMBE—H-
2023 and 1 April 2023 —E_=Z#ZRA=1+—H
RZEBEZ=FMNA—H 1,802 2,438 4,240
Reversal for ECLs FEHEEEERERE (1,737) - (1,737)
At 31 March 2024 RZE_MNE=B=+—H 65 2,438 2,503

The reversal for ECLs on trade and other receivables of
approximately HK$Nil and HK$1,737,000 (2023: HK$NIl
and provision of ECLs HK$4,240,000) was recognised as at

31 March 2024.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuead)
(d) Liquidity risk

For the management of the Group’s liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a sufficient level of cash and cash
equivalents to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuation in cash flows. Management
reviews and monitors the Group’s working capital
requirements regularly.

The following table sets out the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities
at the reporting date, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
the prevailing rates at the reporting date) and the earliest
date the Group can be required to pay.

Specifically, for convertible bonds which contain a
repayment on demand clause which can be exercised at
the holder’s sole discretion, the analysis shows the cash
outflow based on the earliest period in which the entity
can be required to pay, that is if the holder was to invoke
their unconditional rights to call the outstanding balance of
convertible bonds with immediate effect.

The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities

ZIOEFRR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. MHERARERE @

(d)

MEBEE AR
RHEEXRERZETNERR  ~NER
BERMMERFRRKTZRERIREEE
IBE BB 2 B E R RE
RENERBZFE BEEETEHR
RERTERZEEESEKR-

TR AEBRIMTEERMEBENRS
HERZ HERSAHAIR  THIRIBE SAURIT
BREME EERAEONXY WE
FEIFR) RBRS ABIT ARG
B2 HMBERIB) » LU PIBEE R A EE S
Mz RF A

AREEMs  HNHEREREERR (7]
BREASRRIE TR 2 AIfRRES
ERDMBTRREZBER I WERNY
M2 RFHR BIFA ARSI HERT
HERRNB 65T Pl RIR B 55 2 RIBIBAGER
) SR ZIRERE

FERSHEERRGNRITREEM

based on contractual undiscounted cash flows is as SEHEZEEESTAT :
follows:
2024 2023
“ETNE B CE
Total Total
contractual Within contractual Within
Carrying undiscounted one year or After Carrying undiscounted ~ one year or After
amount  cashflow on demand one year amount cash flow  on demand one year
BHRITR  —ERH BHARR —ERY
REE RERELE REX —Ef REE RERELE BEX —Ft
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TER TiEn TiEn TiER
Trade and other payables ~ FETEZERIR
HHEER 477,860 477,860 132,748 345,112 84,999 84,999 47,005 37,994
Borrowings fBE 238,400 244,546 - 244,546 310,299 317,875 7458 310,417
Bonds &% 14,234 14,234 14,234 - 14,342 14,342 14,342 -
Convertible bonds iaRES 113,080 143,000 - 143,000 - - - -
Lease liabilities REaE 511 523 465 58 - - - -
Loan notes ENER 24,508 27,500 - 27,500 = = = =
868,593 907,663 147,447 760,216 409,640 417,216 68,805 348,411
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(e) Capital risk management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management
is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to support its business and maximise
shareholders’ value. To maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the payment of dividends,
issue new shares, sell assets as well as issue new debts or

redeem existing debts.

The Group manages its capital structure and make
adjustments to it, in light of cost and risk associated with

the capital and changes in economic conditions.

The only externally imposed capital requirement for the
Group is that in order to maintain its listing on the Stock
Exchange, it has to have a public float of at least 25% of
the Shares, The Group has maintained a sufficient public
float to comply with GEM Listing Rules from the date of the
Listing. As at 31 March 2024, approximately 29.7% of the

Shares were in public hands.

Fair value
The Carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement

of financial position approximately their respective fair value.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the directors listed in note 13 to the consolidated

financial statements, the Group also identifies below related

parties:

Name Relationship
Ma Qianzhou
Director of Taizhou Mining
Zhao Yuebing  Director of Taizhou Mining
Spouse of Ma Qianzhou

Zhou Yong

Substantial shareholder of Taizhou Mining

Shareholder of Grand T G Gold

A 75 ¥R R M 5E

— A
=a

General manager of Taizhou Mining

In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated

financial statements, the following transactions were carried out

with related parties:

(@)

Key management compensation

BBk A L35
PATSIRRMIFE1IF5) 2 BHSN AEE
B FHIREAL :

EaY %

BEM KMEER T ERRER
PLEE S =

e 70/ PALEE S £
BEMNBIECE

I=E REEEHIIRER
PO LEESIESES

PR E MBI EMER D P IEEE S 2R

BATETUTRS !

(@ FEEEASME

Key management includes directors (executive and non-

FTEEEABURNTESRIFNITE

executive), members of the Executive Committee, the F HTERETHERABME -FLE
Company Secretary. The compensation paid or payable to SRBMENTENETEEIEAS M

key management for employee services is shown below: FEHIWT
2024 2023

—Em4g ==
HK$’000 HK$ 000
F#ET FHET
Salaries and other short-term employee #7& K HthiE R EGF!

benefits 5,637 5,617
Other long-term benefits HihRHAEH 57 74
Equity -settled share-based payments ~ LURR#EAE E RV E A IR0 B S S 853 1,507
Total AR5t 6,547 7,198
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39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continueq)

30. RN T3R5 @

(b) Loans from related parties (b) FAERANLTER
2024 2023
—EME —EI=
HK$’000 HK$’000
TF#T FHET
At 1 April REA—H 283,437 363,745
Currency realignment B (15,958) (22,744)
Additions during the year R 161,322 21,693
Repayment during the year FERER (209,207) (79,257)
At 31 March R=B=+—H 219,594 283,437
The above loans as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 from Ms. B E TR ONER S =F=
Zhao Yuebing, Mr. Ma Qianzhou and Mr. Zhou Yong were B=1+—HIFERBHEIRAZEF
included in the balance of borrowings. GZNEERBBEEZERGABER
ERo
The loans from related parties have the following terms and RAE A\ T EFEIRRURAR MU0 T
conditions:
At end At beginning Interest
of year of year rate
FR F4 IS
HK$’'000 HK$'000
T T
2024 —EomE
Zhao Yuebing =k 106,813 110,886 0%-4.35%
Ma Qianzhou Bl 28,075 85,483 0%-4.35%
Zhou Yong BB 84,706 87,068 0%-4.35%
2023 TEI=fF
Zhao Yuebing R K 110,886 169,110 0%—4.35%
Ma Qianzhou Bl 85,483 108,456 0%-4.35%
Zhou Yong BB 87,068 85,079 0%-4.35%
Li Dahong ERIR - 1,100 5%

223



Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2023/2024
AEBZIZERARAT « ZT°2= "“ZNFEER

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e SRR M EE

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 39. BB ALR S @

() Amounts due to related parties

(c) FEMIRAZEALTRIA

2024 2023
—EDME =
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Ma Qianzhou EEM - 864
Zhao Yuebing R K 324 =
324 864
The above amounts are interest free, unsecured and IR IEA R B SRR EKEE
repayable on demand. They are included in the balance of 2 o HN B B Z AR HAMFE(T BRI
trade and other payables. BUAEER ABR ©
40. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 40. ARSI EMEEREME
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY EHE
2024 2023
—E-_NE =22 =
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Financial assets measured B A AENEREE
at amortised cost
Trade receivables 5 EWERIE 29,107 41,072
Deposits and other receivables Y& R EHMEKRIE 7,684 3,817
Pledged bank deposits BERIBITEM 20,000 20,000
Cash and bank balances BE& KMIRTT4E R 47,489 24,641
104,280 89,530
Financial liabilities at amortised cost HBgHERSAENEMERE
Trade and other payables BB Z R R EME T IRIE 454,291 75,445
Bonds &% 14,234 14,342
Convertible bonds AR ES 113,080 =
Borrowings BB 238,400 310,299
Loan notes BRER 24,508 =
844,513 400,086
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M. BEREMFHIRRR

2024 2023
—TWE —=z”=
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
k=3 FHET FHET
Non-current assets ERHEE
Interests in subsidiaries KB A Bl m 20 297,709 121,947
Right-of-use assets FTREEE 504 =
298,213 121,947
Current assets MENEE
Deposits, prepayments and other 2% ~ AT IE R H fth
receivables FEURRRIE 2,341 5,786
Pledged bank deposits BEFIRITER 20,000 20,000
Cash and cash equivalents BEAIBEEEEEB 1,213 2,067
23,554 27,853
Current liabilities mENaE
Accruals and other payables FESHE A R E e (T BRIE 24,063 15,785
Bonds B5 28 14,234 14,342
Lease liabilities HEas 453 =
38,750 30,127
Net current liabilities REAaERE (15,196) (2,274)
Total assets less current BEERRHER
liabilities 283,017 119,673
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY (Continued)

4. ABMFERRR @

2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$' 000
k=3 F#ET FET
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Convertible bond IR ES 29 113,080 =
Loan notes ERERE 30 24,508 =
Lease liabilities HEas 58 =
137,646 -
Net assets BEE 145,371 119,673
Capital and reserves BARK#E
Share capital &N 33 5,987 5,987
Reserves Eais 34(b) 139,384 113,686
Total equity AR 145,371 119,673
On behalf of the Board of Directors on 27 June 2024: RIE_OEAAZ+EtHREXRET T !
Li Dahong Ma Xiaona
EFEARR FE BERR
Director Director
s )
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42. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

(a)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities

The table set forth below is the detail changes in the

Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including

both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from

financing activities are those for which cash flows were,

or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s

consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from

financing activities.

RERERERMEE

(a)

MEZPFMELER RN

TR FEERETHFIEERRZ
g5l GRESRIFRTEF -/
BRYFEEZ 8RN AERFSRE
MERRREREBIRKRERENTE
HRERFPMSREREZ AR

1 April  Additional Other Cash Interest  Exchange 31 March
2023 of assets changes flows charges realignment 2024
k- St “ZZmE
mA—H REEE  HitEH ReR RS ERSAR =ZA=+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR TR
Bank over drafts RIBER
ot 32) (Hrsts2) - - - (593) 503 - -
Borrowings fote 27) &8 (H7:227) 310,299 - - (50,745) 6,367 (27,521) 238,400
Bonds (ote 28) &% (Hi228) 14,342 - (616) - 508 - 14,234
Convertble bonds Bk (&S
(note 29) (Hizt29) - 118,124 9,111) - 4,067 - 113,080
Loan notes (ote 39) ~ ExZE#% (112230 - 36,330 959 (14,600) 1,819 - 24,508
Lease liabilties (note 25) TR EBE (Hf5225) - 896 - (407) 22 - 511
324,641 155,350 (8,768) (66,345) 13,376 (27,521) 390,733
1 April Cash Interest Exchange 31 March
2022 flows charges  realignment 2023
TETTE St
mA—H REm HMEZH ERBEE =B=1+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET THET TET TET
Borrowings (note 27) &8 (Wzz7) 401,892 (75,837) 8,771 (24,527) 310,299
Bonds (note 28) &% (728 13,838 = 504 = 14,342
Convertible bonds (note 29) mREES (173229) 28,754 (30,273) 1,519 = =
444,484 (106,110) 10,794 (24,527) 324,641
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42. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 42. &2 mEaRME @

CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Total cash outflow for leases (b) THEIREMHIAEEE
Amounts included in the cash flow statements for leases SFARESRERZAESEGEUTS
comprises the following: b=
2024 2023
—E_@mE —E=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET TFET
Within investing cash flow KREREMENR = 4,057
Within operating cash flows KEHERENRN 220 862
Within financing cash flows MERESREAN 385 -
605 4,919
These amounts relate to the following: ZEREETYIBEEAR
2024 2023
—E_ME TEC=fF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET TFET
Lease rental paid BNHEERS 605 4,919
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43. LITIGATION
As at 31 March 2024, the Company is involved in the following

litigation proceedings:

i)

HCA 1885 of 2018 (the “HCA 1885 Action”)

The HCA 1885 Action was commenced by Leung Heung
Ying (“Leung”) against the Company to seek payment under
a series of convertible bonds dated 17 July 2017 which is
due for payment on 16 July 2022 totaling HK$30,095,357
and the interest accrued thereon. The Company has
opposed Leung’s claim on the basis that the payment was
not yet due. Leung has applied for summary judgment
against the Company. The application has been adjourned

and no hearing has yet been fixed.

On 25 May 2022, the Company had redeemed the
convertible bonds in full and that the Company and Leung
had made a joint application on 26 May 2022 to the High
Court for a consent order to discontinue HCA 1885 Action
and the High Court had sealed a consent order to effect the

discontinuation of HCA 1885 Action no order as to costs.
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43. LITIGATION (continuea)

(i)

HCMP 1869 of 2020 (the “HCMP 1869 Action”)

The HCMP 1869 Action was commenced by the Company
against the Company’s previous legal representatives,

D.S Cheung & Co. by way of Originating Summons on
27 October 2020. The Company sought an order that the
nine invoices delivered to the Company in the HCA 397
Action, HCMP 1398/2018 and HCA 1885/2018 actions
(“the Invoices”), be taxed pursuant to Section 67 of the
Legal Practitioners Ordinance. Pursuant to the Order of
Master Lai of 1 June 2021, the Invoices have been referred
to taxation and the Company has been ordered to pay
HK$570,000 as security for the taxation by 22 June 2021,
The Company discussed with the legal team on their views
that the taxation hearing will be fixed to be heard sometime
in late 2021. The Company has paid the abovesaid amount
of HK$570,000 into court on 21 June 2021. The taxation
for the invoices was heard by Master Phoebe Man on 18
October 2022. The parties agreed on settlement terms
at the said hearing, and pursuant to the Order of Master
Phoebe Man on 18 October 2022, it was ordered that the
Company to pay a sum of HK$1,889,520.74 and credit
be given to the amount of HK$539,520.74 (being costs on
account) and HK$570,000 (being payment into Court by
the Company on 21 June 2021). Accordingly, the Company
duly paid the balance of HK$780,000 to the Company’s

previous solicitors on 25 October 2022.

Having consulted the Company’s legal advisers, the directors

are of the view that further provision is not required for the above

legal proceedings.
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44, CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 44. BISHEIE
As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any significant NZEZNE=ZA=+—08  KEEWET
capital commitments (2023: Nil). REAREREE CE=F  H)o
45. APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 45. HtEE SRR
STATEMENT
The consolidated financial statements were approved by the GEMBRRON S -_WE B _-++tH

board of directors and authorised for issue on 27 June 2024. EESFGHUERIRETIEE
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For the year ended 31 March
BE=RA=+—HLEE

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
“ECEE R -F E-"F B C"E_NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FE FE FE FExT
RESULTS e
Revenue Wi 69,643 99,807 128,434 153,195 722,725
Profit/(loss) before tax BRG], (518) (39,229) (17,116) 14,755 20,812 86,452
Income tax (expense)/credit S (=) /5% 453 549 (6,911) 22,924 (10,411)
Profit/(loss) for the year FE&H,/ (518 (38,776) (16,567) 7,844 43,736 76,041
Attributable to: MTRERERS:
Owners of the Company KABEEA (35,239) (17,974) (137) 26,109 55,296
Non-controlling interests R R (3,537) 1,407 7,981 17,627 20,745
(38,776) (16,567) 7,844 43,736 76,041
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERERE
At 31 March
R=BR=+—H
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
“EC-EF B —F C—E-_"F C—BE-=f C—E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET FExT
Total assets BEE 780,103 867,063 924,222 907,010 1,428,272
Total liabilities Bmas (542,483) (617,918) (652,426) (466,379) (921,621)
Total equity B 237,620 249,145 271,796 440,631 506,651
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